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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2019, although the Group’s overall operating performance has been
improved compared with that of 2018, the Group continued to suffer
from certain setbacks as a consequence of the various unfavourable
incidents happened in 2018. The project portfolio of the Group was the
same as those compared with 2018 without any new projects added
since the Group believed that 2019 should be a prudent year after the
2018 crisis. The Group should carefully and respectfully handle the
relationships with all its stakeholders so as to pave the way for future
recovery.

In 2018, the PRC government commenced a series of nationwide
actions in tightening the environmental enforcement efforts and
accountability by carrying out a centralised inspection of environmental
protection (1 RIR{REZ) which severely affected a number of
subsidiaries during 2018. The Group has since then paid most of the
required penalties and has performed relevant rectification works
for some of the treatment facilities. However, the negative impacts
continued to affect 2019 operation results including the termination of
sludge treatment services for some of our subsidiaries, reduction in
demand for our wastewater treatment services, lost of revenue during
the period of rectification works and some of the alleged environmental
pollution related acts has been subsequently translated into litigations
in committing offences. Notwithstanding the unfavourable situation as
mentioned above, the hazardous waste treatment segment did show
a remarkable recovery and become the earliest segment to bounce
back. This was consistent with the Group’s expectation due to the
increasing focus on hazardous waste by local governments.

In 2019, the cashflow position of the Group continued to face serious
challenges. In order to cope with this, the Group continued to dispose
certain subsidiaries including the remaining 50% of our Group’s equity
stake in the project holding company with business in the Guangxi
Autonomous Region at an effective consideration of RMB620,000,000
and also effectively reduce its equity stake of a subsidiary with
business in the Zhongshan City, Guangdong Province, from 100% to
51% at a consideration of RMB98,000,000 in the form of equity and
shareholder’s loan. Most of the proceeds from the above disposals
were used to repay bank loans. At the same time, the Group continued
to adopt cost savings measures while continued its plan to dispose of
other non-core subsidiaries and assets from terminated facilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEE D T

Another challenge on cash position in 2019 were the commencement
of the legal actions against the group companies for debt recovery.
Some of the judgments of the above legal actions has been issued
so that our Group is now facing risk of judgment enforcement by
the relevant creditors. The Group is continuing its effort in arriving
settlement plans with its creditors.

The Company’s trading of shares has been suspended since 1 April
2019 due to the failure to publish the annual results for the year ended
31 December 2018. The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) has subsequently issued certain resumption
guidance to the Company, including the publication of the outstanding
financial results of the Group. The Group will continue its utmost effort
in satisfying the resumption guidance and target to resume trading as
soon as practicable. The trading suspension itself did not affect the
business operations of the Group.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

The Group’s early presence in the general solid waste sector and
the hazardous treatment waste sector provided the Group with
advantages in these market segments. As reflected from the 2019
results, the revenue from hazardous waste treatment segment was the
first segment to recover. In recent years, the Chinese government has
expressed its concern over the potential harmful effect of hazardous
waste and also the concern over the rate of reuse and recycle of
general solid waste so as to promote efficiency in resources utilization.
In general, there are entry barriers to the solid waste treatment sector
and the hazardous treatment sector in terms of obtaining operating
permits or licenses and in terms of capital expenditure. Hence, the
Group believed that the operating permits or licenses which the Group
possesses can enhance the future revenue base of the Group.

In view of the Group’s cashflow position, the Group is in the process
of disposing non-core assets or projects so as to further relieve the
Group from cashflow pressure. The Group has signed an agreement
with a local government in land resumption for a cash compensation
of approximately RMB1.24 billion on 28 September 2020. The Group
expected there will be similar transactions so that more cash inflow
from disposal is expected. In view of this, the Group is confident to
successfully pass through such a difficult moment.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The revenue of the Group decreased by approximately 26.2% to
approximately HKD850.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2019 from approximately HKD1,153.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2018. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the
following:

1)  the disposal of the Group’s business in the Guangxi Autonomous
Region so that there was no revenue contribution to the Group’s
revenue in 2019 while the corresponding revenue in 2018 was
approximately HKD234.2 million;

2) the termination of sludge treatment operations of Guangzhou
Haitao and the reduction in the demand for sludge treatment
services and solid waste treatment services of other subsidiaries
of the Group, causing a reduction in revenue by approximately
HKD151.2 million;

3) the offset of the above decrease in revenue by an increase in the
revenue from the hazardous waste treatment segment which in
turn due to the general increase in demand for such treatment
services. The increase in the revenue of the hazardous treatment
segment amounted to approximately HKD116.1 million.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales of the Group decreased by approximately 41.2% to
approximately HKD567.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2019
from approximately HKD964.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2018. The decrease was consistent with the overall the decrease
in revenue especially the impact from the disposal of the Group’s
business in the Guangxi Autonomous Region.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit of the Group increased by approximately 50.0% to
approximately HKD283.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2019
from approximately HKD188.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2018 primarily as a result of the factors described above. The gross
profit margin of the Group increased to approximately 33.3% for the
year ended 31 December 2019 from approximately 16.4% for the year
ended 31 December 2018, such increase was due to the increase
in proportion of revenue contributed by the hazardous treatment
segment, which possessed a relatively higher gross profit margin.
Also, the general increase in the utilization rate of operating facilities
compared with 2018 also helped to reduce the effect of fixed overhead
costs on the Group.

Other income

Other income of the Group decreased by approximately 73.9% to
approximately HKD12.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2019 from approximately HKD46.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2018. The decrease was mainly due to the reduction in
the amount of value-added tax refund which was a consequence of
various administrative penalty notices issued under the environmental
protection inspection which in turn affected the eligibility of claiming
such tax refund. The decrease was also attributable to the decrease
in interest income which was consistent with the low level of average
bank balance.

Other net (losses)/gains

The other net gains for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
HKDO0.48 million, compared with other net losses of HKD139.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018. The large amount in the
other net losses in 2018 mainly included penalties of approximately
HKD106.3 million which in turn was mainly attributable to the
various administrative penalty notices issued under the nationwide
environmental protection inspection in 2018, the amount has been
reduced to approximately HKD2.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2019.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by approximately
44.5% to approximately HKD211.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2019 from approximately HKD380.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018. The decrease was mainly attributable
to general cost saving policy adopted for the year 2019 such that
expenses related to staff costs, advertising expenses, consultancy
fees, legal and professional fees, donations and lease related
expenses has been substantially reduced.

Impairment losses

During the year ended 31 December 2019, impairment losses on
various items amounted to approximately HKD185.4 million (2018:
approximately HKD3,414.8 million). The impairment losses in 2019
were mainly due to impairment loss on certain loan receivables and
certain amounts due from companies controlled by a former director
of approximately HKD69.2 million and approximately HKD59.9 million
respectively while the substantial amounts of impairment losses in
2018 were due to the following:

1) the closure of certain industrial parks operated by the
Group, together with the completion of rectification work and
upgrade work in response to the request after the large-scale
environmental protection inspection (the original assets of which
were obsolete thereon), has caused the related property, plant
and equipment to be impaired which amounted to approximately
HKD1,886.1 million;

2) the closure and termination of certain projects with goodwill and
intangible assets being recognized at the time of acquisition and
the general poor operating performance of the Group in 2018 has
induced the impairment losses on goodwill and intangible assets
amounted to approximately HKD689.9 million; and

3) impairment losses of approximately HKD273.6 million in relation
to certain amounts due from a former director and certain of his
controlled entities has been made.
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Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group decreased by approximately 5.7% to
approximately HKD228.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2019
from approximately HKD242.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2018. The decrease was mainly attributable to the substantial net
decrease of bank loans during the year of approximately HK$821.3
million, but the effect of which has been partially offset by the finance
costs generated by other loans due to the relatively higher interest
rate.

Income tax credit

The income tax credit of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 was approximately HK$10.2 million (2018: approximately
HK$59.2 million). The current year tax provision has been increased
to approximately HK$22.7 million but there was a reversal of certain
temporary difference for deferred taxation purpose amounted to
approximately HKD31.5 million mainly related to the de-recognition of
intangible assets pursuant to the early termination of a BOT contract
of the Group while in 2018, the amount of reversal of temporary
difference for deferred taxation purpose amounted to approximately
HK$78.4 million which arose from substantial impairment of intangible
assets.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

The loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HKD316.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
approximately 3,872.8 million) as a result of the factors described
above.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EVENTS AFTER 31 DECEMBER 2019

Below are important events which occurred after 31 December 2019:

M

On 24 February 2020, one of the banks (“Bank A”) has filed a
bill of indictment to a court in Guangzhou against the Company
as borrower and its fourteen subsidiaries and Mr. Tsui Cham
To (“Mr. Tsui”) as guarantor claiming the immediate repayment
of the loan with outstanding interest and legal and other costs
totalling HK$152,868,000. The Group intended to reach a
settlement agreement with Bank A. Up to the date of this report,
no settlement agreement has been signed yet.

After the litigation initiated by Bank A, the Group has closely
communicated with other relevant banks progress of settlement
between the Group and Bank A and the progress of the disposal
of certain assets as mentioned above. Up to the date of this
report, other than Bank A, no bank has taken legal actions
against the Group.

Certain subsidiaries, certain former directors and senior
management members were accused of certain criminal offences
in the PRC with the corresponding indictments issued during
the year ended 31 December 2019. Subsequently, judgments of
most of the cases has been released during the year ending 31
December 2020. Details of which are set out in note 5 and note
50 to the consolidated financial statements.

In 2018, the Company entered into certain loan agreements
with an independent third party pursuant to which the
Company borrowed an aggregate amount of HK$185,000,000.
Subsequently, the Company failed to repay the above loan and
the lender initiated legal actions against the Company with the
final judgment issued on 17 January 2020 in which the Company
were ordered to pay the lender.
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On 20 July 2020, the lender informed the Company that if the
judgment debt were not settled by 30 September 2020, the
lender shall enforce the judgment and take further actions
including but not limited to winding up the Company and issue
a bankruptcy petition against Mr. Tsui (as a guarantor to the
loan) without further notice. Up to the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements, the Company is not aware of
any winding-up petition made against the Group and Mr. Tsui.
Please refer to note 36(a) to the financial statements for details of
the above loan and the corresponding litigation.

On 28 September 2020, the Group entered into a land
resumption agreement with a local government pursuant
to which the Group agrees to surrender certain land and
items erected on the land in return for a cash compensation
amounted to RMB1,237,884,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,381,850,000). Details of the above agreement were
disclosed in the announcements dated 30 September 2020.

Since early 2020, the Group’s operation has been affected
by quarantine measures imposed by the local government to
contain the COVID-19 outbreak. The Group has been paying
close attention to the impact of the situation on its operation and
taking all possible and reasonable measures to mitigate and limit
the impact on the Group’s operation. As the extent to which the
COVID-19 outbreak will continue is uncertain, the overall financial
effect that the COVID-19 outbreak may have on the Group’s
businesses and financial results cannot be reliably estimated as
at the date when these consolidated financial statements are
authorized for issue.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the principal liquidity and
capital requirements of the Group primarily relate to the obligations
under various bank loan agreements, construction of treatment
facilities and operation expenses.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of the Group’s cash and
bank deposits was approximately HKD177.2 million (2018: HKD273.1
million), representing a decrease of approximately 35.1% as compared
to that as at 31 December 2018.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BANK LOANS AND GEARING

As at 31 December 2019, the total amount of bank loans of the Group
was approximately HKD1,973.9 million (2018: HKD2,795.1 million),
in which 87.5% (2018: 81.6%) were denominated in RMB. All of the
Group’s bank borrowings carry floating interest rates. There was no
unutilised bank facilities as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018.

As at 31 December 2019, the secured bank loans amounted to
HKD1,724.2 million (2018: 2,468.0 million), and unsecured bank loans
amounted to HKD249.7 million (2018: 327.1 million).

As at 31 December 2019, covenants relating to restrictions on
controlling shareholder, the consolidated EBITDA to long-term
borrowings matured within one year and consolidated finance cost
ratio, and adjusted cash flow to consolidated debt services ratio had
been breached. Since then the Group has negotiated with each of the
banks in relation to: 1) obtain waiver for the above non-compliance;
2) extend the repayment date of certain overdue balance; 3) convince
the relevant banks not to take legal actions; 4) explore the feasibility
of providing additional securities or guarantees by subsidiaries
acceptable to the relevant banks; and 5) the progress and timing of
receipt of sales proceeds of intended disposal of certain assets of the
Group.

Subsequently, one of the banks has taken legal action against the
Group, please refer to the section headed “Events after 31 December
2019” and note 2(d) to the consolidated financial statements for more
details.

As at 31 December 2019, the gearing ratio, as calculated by dividing
the total borrowings (net of bank and cash balances) by the total equity
of the Group, was -1,737.7% (2018: 1,821.2%).
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATIONS

In April 2018, Guangzhou Haitao was alleged to have commit a
number of criminal offences. Subsequently, in April 2019, The People’s
Procuratorate of Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province (B & E /M
mARBEPR) filed a bill of indictment against Guangzhou Haitao, the
details of which are set out in note 5(c) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Other than the above, as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018, the Group had no material contingent liabilities or guarantees.

The Group has certain material litigations existed during the year
ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of the approval of
this report, details of which were set out in note 50 to the financial
statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group pledged certain of its property,
plant and machinery and right-of-use assets with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HKD243.7 million (2018: property,
plant and equipment and lease prepayments of approximately
HKD252.4 million) and pledged certain bank deposits amounted to
approximately HKD1.7 million (2018: approximately HKD87.1 million)
to certain banks to secure certain credit facilities granted to the Group.
In addition, the Group’s equity interests in major operating subsidiaries
including Guangzhou Lvyou, Qingyuan Lvyou, Guangzhou Yinglong,
Guangzhou Liangang and Ganghui Huanbao were pledged to secure
bank loans granted to the Group. Certain rights to receive service
revenue were also pledged to secure bank loans granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2018, the lease prepayments of HK$41,968,000
and property, plant and equipment of HK$349,920,000 as included in
assets of disposal group classified as held for sale were pledged for
the bank loans granted to the Group. Also, the equity interest of Xintao
Investment Co., Ltd. (“Xintao Investment”) classified as held for sale
was pledged to secure the bank loans granted to the Group (note 35).

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2019, the equity interest of Zhongshan Haitao
classified as held for sale was pledged to secure the bank loans
granted to the Group (note 35).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

Due to the reasons and situations as disclosed in the section headed
“Business Review” and “Financial Review” sections, the Company has
incurred a comparatively low amount of capital expenditure during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the capital expenditures of the
Group (mainly including additions to property, plant and equipment
and additions to lease prepayments) amounted to approximately
HKD100.6 million (2018: HKD912.6 million). These capital expenditures
were funded by bank borrowings and funds generated from the
operating activities of the Group.

Due to the reasons and situations as disclosed in the section headed
“Business Review” and “Financial Review” sections, the Company
currently does not have any plans for material investments or material
purchase of capital assets except for the Guangzhou Lvyou relocation
project. The expected fund source for the Guangzhou Lvyou relocation
project will be project financing in the form of debt and/or equity. For
details of the Guangzhou Lvyou relocation project, please refer to note
51(c) and 51(d) of the financial statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group’s assets, borrowings and major transactions are mainly
denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
arising from receivables and bank loans that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the relevant entities.
The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily RMB and USD.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
As at 31 December 2019, approximately 99.9%, 0.0% and 0.1% of the
cash and cash equivalent held by the Group are denominated in RMB,
USD and HKD respectively (31 December 2018: 80.6%, 0.0% and
19.4%).
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed 1,239 employees
(2018: 1,901 employees). Employee costs amounted to approximately
HKD169.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
approximately HKD210.0 million). The Group will endeavour to ensure
that the employees’ salary levels are in line with industry practice and
prevailing market conditions, and that employees’ remuneration is
based on their performance.

The Company has also adopted a share option scheme and a share
award scheme (“Share Award Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations and which is payable to staff based
on his or her individual performance and that of the Group as a whole.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

In April 2019, the Group entered into an agreement with an
independent third party which effectively reduce its equity stake in
Zhongshan Haitao Environmental Protection Technology Company
Limited from 100% to 51% at a consideration of RMB98,000,000 in
the form of equity and shareholder’s loan. The above transaction was
completed on 20 August 2020.

On 18 December 2019, the Company entered into an equity
transfer agreement with Agile Eco Technology (Hong Kong) Limited
(“Agile Eco”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell the
remaining 50% equity interests in Xintao Investment Co. Ltd. (“Xintao
Investment”), which owned the Group’s assets in the environmental
protection related projects in the Guangxi Autonomous Region and
was owned as to 50% by the Company and as to 50% by Agile Eco
as of the date of the above agreement to Agile Eco at an effective
consideration of RMB620,000,000. The transaction under the above
agreement was completed on 19 December 2019. The details of the
above were set out in note 45(a).

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2019,
the Group did not have any other material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The auditors of the Company expressed a disclaimer of opinion
in the independent auditor’s report on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the ended 31 December 2019 (the
“Independent Auditor’'s Report”). As stated in the paragraph headed
“Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” in the Independent Auditor’s Report,
the auditor of the Company expressed a disclaimer of opinion after
considering the combined impact of the following: 1) opening balances
and corresponding figures; 2) multiple uncertainties relating to going
concern; 3) indictments and legal proceedings against the Group and
investigations; 4) carrying amount and impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets, contract assets, goodwill and
deferred tax liabilities; 5) consideration receivable; 6) impairment loss
on payments for the acquisition of a subsidiary and loan receivables;
7) revenue and trade receivables; and 8) impairment of the Company’s
investments in subsidiaries and amounts due from subsidiaries.

SUSPENSION OF TRADING AND RESUMPTION GUIDANCE

At the request of the Company, trading in the shares of the Company
on the Stock Exchange has been suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m.
on 1 April 2019 and will remain suspended until further notice.
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On 24 June 2019 and 8 November 2019, the Company received
letters from the Stock Exchange setting out certain resumption
guidance, including: (a) conduct an appropriate investigation into the
Allegations, announce the findings and take appropriate remedial
actions; (b) publish all outstanding financial results and address
any audit modifications; (c) announce all material information for
the Company’s shareholders and other investors to appraise the
Company’s position; (d) demonstrate that the Company has in place
adequate internal controls and procedures to comply with the Listing
Rules; (e) demonstrate that there is no reasonable regulatory concern
about management integrity and/or the integrity of any persons
with substantial influence over the Company’s management and
operations, which will pose a risk to investors and damage market
confidence; and (f) demonstrate that all Directors meet a standard of
competence commensurate with their position as directors of a listed
issuer to fulfil duties of skill, care and diligence as required under Rules
3.08 and 3.09.

The actions taken up to 30 September 2020 to fulfil the above
resumption guidance Company were disclosed in the announcement
dated 30 September 2020. The Company will continue to work with its
professional and legal advisors to advance the resumption progress.
Fulfilment of the above resumption guidance is subject to the Stock
Exchange’s confirmation. The Company will keep the shareholders of
the Company and the public informed on the progress of fulfillment of
the above resumption guidance as and when appropriate.
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Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Huang Qing, aged 35, is the Chairman, the Chief Executive
Officer of the Group. She is an Executive Director of the Company
appointed on 12 May 2020. Ms. Huang supervises five major
departments of the Company covering administrative and human
resources, finance, internal control and operation management,
technology and construction management and public relations.
She is mainly in charge of the administrative and human resources
department as well as the public relations department. Ms. Huang
is the spouse of Mr. Tsui, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Ms. Huang served in the Armed Services Department of General Staff
Department of Chinese People’s Liberation Army from 2002 to 2004
and served as a host of Guangdong Radio and Television Station
between 2009 to 2012 before she joined the Company in 2019. Ms.
Huang obtained a bachelor’s degree in broadcasting and hosting from
the Communication University of China in 2009, and has completed
the certificate program in Executive Master of Business Administration
from Sun Yat-sen University in 2019.
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Mr. Lam Wai Tong, aged 40, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 29 October 2020. Mr. Lam has extensive
experience in the corporate finance business management and
internal control. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Lam worked in Cinda
International Securities Limited (formerly known as Hantec Investment
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 111) as a management trainee from
August 2005 to October 2007. He then worked in Shenyin Wanguo
Enterprises (H.K.) Limited as a corporate finance executive from
October 2007 to May 2010. From June 2010 to June 2011, Mr. Lam
worked in Partners Capital International Limited as an assistant
manager. From July 2011 to August 2012, he returned to Shenyin
Wanguo Enterprises (H.K.) Limited to work as a corporate finance
manager. From February 2013 to May 2014, Mr. Lam was the chief
operating officer of Haohai Industry (Group) Limited (G558 E % (&
@) EPBRATF), a property developer in China, and was responsible
for overseeing its business operations in Hong Kong such as mergers
and acquisitions as well as human resources management and
internal control. From December 2014 to August 2016, Mr. Lam joined
True Eminent Development (Holdings) Limited (E S 2R (1K) A
FR/ATF]), a property developer in China, as the executive Director
and subsequently the chief executive officer, he was responsible for
providing oversight of the group’s investment decision, internal control,
corporate development, direct investment and finance. Since January
2017, Mr. Lam commenced his own business to provide business
consultancy services to both private and listed companies. Mr. Lam
graduated from the City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor
degree in business administration (human resources management)
in August 2004. He obtained a master degree in finance from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in August 2009. He was admitted a
member of the Institute of Public Accountants and Institute of Certified
Management Accountants (Australia) in March 2014 and July 2014
respectively. He is also a licensed representative for its Type 1 (dealing
in securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Li Yang, aged 49, is an Executive Director of the Company
appointed on 3 August 2020. He obtained a junior college degree
of Electronic Engineering from Shenzhen University in 1992 and his
EMBA from Shenzhen College of Economics and Management (J%
YL BEEEEPT) in 2000. Mr. Li also completed a master degree
programme of the Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences (P EIHt 2 RIZBE AR ERT) , majoring in World Economics
in 2001. Mr. Li has over 20 years of experience in investment activities
and business management. Mr. Li serves as the deputy chairman
and an executive director of Leyou Technologies Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1089), since November 2018. He is currently also assuming senior
executive positions in several capital investment or management
companies. Mr. Li previously acted as a deputy chairman and an
executive director of China Best Group Holding Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 370),
from September 2014 to June 2018. He has also served as an
independent non-executive director of Ming Lam Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1106), from February 2017 to December 2018.

Mr. Wu Changbiao, aged 57, is an Executive Director of the Company
appointed on 31 January 2020. He worked at Xintang Finance
Office of Zengcheng City in Guangdong Province in 1980. One
year later, he established an export-oriented garment factory which
gradually became a large earner of foreign currency from export and
a large taxpayer in Zengcheng district. In 2003, Mr. Wu established
Guangzhou Longrun Textile Co., Ltd., which has more than 1,000
employees with its annual output value at about several hundred
million Renminbi. Most of its products are exported and it has become
a well-known local textile enterprise. In 2012, Mr. Wu participated in
the 17th MBA President Class in Sun Yat-sen University. Mr. Wu has
been in the industry for over 30 years and has extensive experience
in corporate management, adapting to market changes and operation
of exporting products. In 2017, he started to get involved in the
environmental protection industry and was engaged in hazardous
waste disposal and other related work. He joined Guangzhou CT
Lvyou Environmental Protection Technology Co., Ltd. in 2019, a
subsidiary of our Group, as the chairman of that subsidiary.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. He Jingyong, aged 58, is an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company appointed on 10 April 2019. He has over 34 years
of experience in corporate banking. From 1984 to 1992, he was
engaged in the fields of foreign exchange credit business, credit,
domestic and international settlement, liquidation, credit card and
international finance in Bank of China, Jiangxi Branch. From 1993 to
2006, Mr. He held various positions in Industrial and Commercial Bank
of China (“ICBC”), Zengcheng sub-branch in Guangdong Province,
of which he was appointed as the president in 2008. He was the vice
president of ICBC Guangzhou branch during 2016 to 2018. Mr. He is
a senior economist and was granted the Executive Master of Business
Administration (International) from City University of Hong Kong in
2009.

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy, aged 56, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company appointed on 3 August 2020. She obtained
a master degree of business administration from the University of
Manchester in the United Kingdom in June 2010. She is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ms. Lai has over 20 years of auditing, accounting, and
financial management experience. Ms. Lai served as an executive
director from October 2008 to May 2011, and the chairman of the
board from January 2009 to May 2011 of Mandarin Entertainment
(Holdings) Limited (now known as KEYNE LTD) (stock code: 9), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. She was
the chief financial officer and company secretary from May 2012 to
May 2016 and remains as the company secretary until 30 June 2016
of CIG Yangtze Ports PLC (now known as China Infrastructure &
Logistics Group Ltd.) (stock code: 1719), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. She is the Company Secretary of OCI
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 329), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. She is also an independent
non-executive Director of KPa-BM Holdings Limited (stock code:
2663), KNK Holdings Limited (stock code: 8039) and Zhejiang United
Investment Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 8366) and a non-
executive director of Larry Jewellery International Company Limited
(stock code: 8351).
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Fong Wai Ho, aged 40, is an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company appointed on 3 August 2020. He has over 16 years
of experience in auditing and business advisory services. He is the
founder and practitioner of UBC & Co., Certified Public Accountants
from March 2013 to present. Mr. Fong was the practicing director
of Andes Glacier CPA Limited from March 2017 to March 2020. Mr.
Fong holds a bachelor’'s degree in business administration (honours)
in accountancy and management information systems awarded by
City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Fong is a practicing Certified Public
Accountant in Hong Kong, a member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants as well as a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He is a member of the Chartered
Professional Accountants of British Columbia and the Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada as well as CPA Australia,
respectively. Mr. Fong is currently an independent non-executive
director of Global Sweeteners Holdings Limited (stock code: 3889),
Perennial Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 2798) and Great Wall
Belt & Road Holdings Limited (stock code: 524) respectively, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Sit Hon Wing, aged 43, was appointed as Company Secretary
on 22 September 2017. Between 2008 and 2015, Mr. Sit was one of
the management team members in the finance function, company
secretarial function and investor relations function of the Company.
Mr. Sit had worked in the audit and assurance department of
PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong and had also served as
the financial controller and/or company secretary of various listed
companies in Hong Kong, including Hao Tian Development Group
Limited (Stock code: 474), Hao Tian International Construction
Investment Group Limited (Stock code: 1341) and Sau San Tong
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 8200). Mr. Sit received a bachelor’s
degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
is a fellow member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Sit currently serves as an executive director of Fujian Nuogi Co.,
Ltd. (Stock Code: 1353).
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in
the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2019.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintain good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Company has adopted the code
provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate
governance. The Board considers that the Company has complied
with all applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code for the year
ended 31 December 2019 save for the deviations with considered
reasons as stated in the following relevant paragraph.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board comprises four executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The Directors who held office during the year
and up to the date of publication of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Huang Qing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 12 May 2020)
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai
(appointed on 3 August 2020 and resigned on 10 November 2020)

Mr. Lam Wai Tong

(appointed on 29 October 2020)
Mr. Li Yang

(appointed on 3 August 2020)
Mr. Wu Changbiao

(appointed on 31 January 2020)
Mr. Liang Qilin

(resigned on 11 December 2019)
Mr. Liang Zhenjie

(resigned on 24 January 2020)
Mr. Lu Xiaoan

(resigned on 18 June 2020)
Mr. Tsui Cham To

(resigned on 8 April 2020)
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Mr. Tsui Wai Kin
(appointed on 11 December 2019 and
resigned on 3 August 2020)

Mr. Xu Juwen
(resigned on 2 June 2020)

Ms. Xu Liuqi
(appointed on 6 December 2019 and
resigned on 3 August 2020)

Mr. Yuan Guanghua
(appointed on 20 June 2019 and
resigned on 11 February 2020)

Mr. Zhao Keyin
(appointed on 14 January 2019,
and resigned on 20 June 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. He Jingyong
(appointed on 24 January 2019 and
resigned on 28 January 2019, re-appointed on 10 April 2019)

Mr. Fong Wai Ho
(appointed on 3 August 2020)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy
(appointed on 3 August 2020)
Mr. Ng Wai Kuen
(appointed on 28 January 2019 and
resigned on 3 August 2020)
Mr. Suen To Wai
(resigned on 10 April 2019)
Mr. Yu Chung Leung
(appointed on 18 April 2019 and
resigned on 17 February 2020)
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu
(resigned on 3 August 2020)

The list of Directors has been published on the website of the
Company and the website of the Stock Exchange, and is disclosed in
all corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules from time to time.
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The Board has a balance of skill, experience and diversity of
perspectives that are essential to and would promote the business
of the Group. The Board, with the assistance from the senior
management, forms the core management team of the Company.
The Board takes the overall responsibility for management of the
Company, formulating the business strategies and development plan
of the Company, decision making on important issues, including but
not limited to substantial mergers and acquisitions and disposals,
directors’ appointments and significant operational and financial
matters. The senior management are responsible for supervising and
executing the Board policies and strategies, including the provision
of updates of the Group’s performance to the Board to enable the
Board to deliver and discharge their duties. Daily management,
administration and operation of the Company are delegated to the
senior management of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, Mr. Tsui Cham To is the
Chairman of the Board and Mr. Lu Xiaoan is the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. Responsibilities between the Chairman of the Board
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company are clearly divided and
segregated to ensure a balance of power and authority and to reinforce
their independence and accountability.

Each of Mr. He Jingyong, Mr, Ng Wai Kuen and Mr. Yu Chung Leung
as independent non-executive director, is newly appointed in 2019 for
a term of three years under their respective letters of appointment.
All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for re-
election at the annual general meeting at least once every three years
in accordance with the articles of association of the Company.
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BOARD MEETINGS

Co

It is intended that the Board should meet regularly so that all Directors
are kept up to date with the business development of the Group.
Special meetings of the Board will be convened if the situation requires
so. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board had convened
26 board meetings. The individual attendance record of the Directors
for the year ended 31 December 2019 is tabulated as follows:

rporate Governance Report
TEERRE

EXEEH

RETE EESREH M RUERR
RESERETHBRASENEB R RN
B © fid %551—;%% ExEARsRE
ZoEZE —hE+=-A=+—Hit
FE. ﬁ%g/#?:’%ﬁ%/AE%%%E% &

—NE+ZB=+—-HLEFE>

EEXEHESRNRHBNT
Attendance/ Attendance/

Total number of
general meetings

Total number of
board meetings

HERE, HERE,
EEgel BRRER
HIRE BIRE
Executive Directors HBTES
Mr. Tsui Cham To (Chairman) BEFRE (FF) 25/26 0/0
Mr. Lu Xiaoan B EE 25/26 0/0
(Chief Executive Officer) (BEHITE)
Mr. Liang Qilin RS EE 22/24 0/0
(resigned on 11 December 2019) (R=ZE—-NF+=ZB+—HB&MT)
Mr. Liang Zhenjie RiRfEEE 25/26 0/0
Mr. Xu Juwen BRIEX & 22/26 0/0
Mr. Zhao Keyin Lﬁfﬂf’ﬁi 0/14 0/0
(appointed on 14 January 2019 (R=E-NF-ATHUHEZEIL
and resigned on 20 June 2019) RZE—-—AFARAZT+HEME)
Mr. Yuan Guanghua REELE 11/11 0/0
(appointed on 20 June 2019) (R=ZZE-—NFERA=-+HEZME)
Ms. Xu Liugi B ELZ+ 2/2 0/0
(appointed on 6 December 2019) (R=Z2—NEFE+=-A~AEZEME)
Mr. Tsui Wai Kin REREE 1/1 0/0
(appointed on 11 December (R=Z2—-—NF+=A+—H
2019) BEZE)
Independent Non-executive BYYIFHITES
Directors
Mr. Suen To Wai BEZEELE 10/10 0/0
(resigned on 10 April 2019) (R=EBE—NFEMA+BHBT)
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu REXLE 23/26 0/0
Mr. Ng Wai Kuen REELE 17/22 0/0
(appointed on 28 January 2019) (R=ZE—NF—A=+NH
BZEE)
Mr. He Jingyong AISBEE 13/16 0/0
(appointed on 24 January 2019 (R=Z2—NF—A=+mMA
and resigned on 28 January BEZERR-ZE—-NEF—A
2019, re-appointed on 10 April “+tNHBE - R=ZZE—NF
2019) MA+HESEHEMT)
Mr. Yu Chung Leung RHREE 11/14 0/0

(appointed on 18 April 2019)

(R=ZF-NFHEA+N\BEZEE)
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, the
Company confirms that the then Directors complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December
2019.

RELATIONSHIP AMONG THE DIRECTORS

Among the members of the Board, Mr. Tsui Cham To, the Chairman,
is the father of Mr. Tsui Wai Kin, a brother of Ms. Xu Liuqi, a brother-
in-law of Mr. Yuan Guanghua and a cousin of Mr. Xu Juwen. Save for
the above, there is no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material relationship) between any members of the Board
throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, for the purpose
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process, review risks management and internal controls
systems. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated
financial information for the year ended 31 December 2019, including
the accounting principles adopted by the Group, with the Company’s
management. The Audit Committee, together with the management,
has reviewed constantly the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, discussed auditing, internal control and
financial reporting matters and reviewed the financial results of the
Group. As of the date of publication of this report, the Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors of the Company,
namely, Mr. He Jingyong (the chairman of the Audit Committee). Mr.
Fong Wai Ho and Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
website of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee had held two meetings during the year ended
31 December 2019 for considering the annual results of the Group
and the publication of unaudited management accounts for the year
ended 31 December 2018. The Audit Committee had also reviewed
certain investigation report on allegations against Guangzhou Haitao, a
subsidiary of the Group and the related internal control matters during
the year ended 31 December 2019. The individual attendance record
of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2019 is tabulated as
follows:
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EREEENHESERNA QM
RBP4 B o
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=t- Etigﬁ%f$$lﬁi
—A¢+IHE+—E¢¢E%¢ﬁ&
HBAEELEERE BAMASE 8
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ERZEENCHEHNHELAEENE L
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A=+-— Eii&i%%%ﬁﬁﬁa%
ARSI

Attendance/
Total number of
committee meetings

HERE ZEEER
HBIRE
Independent Non-executive Directors BYkHITES
Mr. Yu Chung Leung (Chairman) RMREE (FF) 2/2
(appointed on 18 April 2019) (R=Z2-NFENA+NBEZEME)
Mr. Ng Wai Kuen REELE 2/2
(appointed on 28 January 2019) (R=Z2—NEFE—A=+N\HEZF)
Mr. He Jingyong A SBEE 1/2
(appointed on 24 January 2019 and (R=Z2-—NEF-—A=-+HNHEEZE
resigned on 28 January 2019, ER=ZZF-NAF—A=+\HEE"
re-appointed on 10 April 2019) R-E-HIFEHA+REEHZME)
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu REREE 2/2
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE HMESE
The primary responsibilities of the remuneration committee of ZAQARHFMEZEES ([FMEES|)MNE

the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) are to make
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure of the
Company for remuneration of all Directors and senior management,
to assess performance of executive directors and to review and
recommend to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
Director and senior management, by reference to the duties,
responsibilities, experience and qualifications of each candidate.
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In accordance with the written terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee, majority of members of the Remuneration Committee
should be Independent Non-executive Directors, and the chairman
must be an Independent Non-executive Director. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on the
Company’s website and the website of the Stock Exchange. As of the
date of publication of this report, Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (Chairman)
(Independent Non-executive Director), Mr. Fong Wai Ho (Independent
Non-executive Director) and Ms. Huang Qing (Executive Director) are
members of the Remuneration Committee. Eight meeting was held
by the Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31 December
2019 to review and approve the remuneration packages of certain
executive Directors. The individual attendance record of the Directors
for the year ended 31 December 2019 is tabulated as follows:

BEFHNZESNWEMHERLE  FHE
EENZHREBEABIFHNTES M
FENBABIUFATES -FTHNEES
HOBS RE ST T A AR 2 B R B XX AT RO 49 0k
ER -BEARETRAH EEZ L+
(£%) (BAFHTES) HEZEE
(BUFHTES ) REF L (HTE
B)AFHNEESERE -BE-T—NF
T A=t—HLEEEFHNEEEET

NREZFURNEHERE THITESH

%ﬁ@ﬂﬁﬂA°Ek§_ —hE+=ZA=+—
BEFE EERELFEEENTEN
T

Attendance/

Total number of
committee meetings

HERE  ZEEE;

HIRE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUFHTES
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu (Chairman) REXREE (FF) 8/8
Mr. Ng Wai Kuen REELE 5/5

(appointed on 28 January 2019) (R=Z2—NEFE—A=+N\HEZF)

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Tsui Cham To mEEEE 8/8

The remuneration of the Directors and members of the senior
management of the Group by band for the year ended 31 December
2019 is set out below:

BE-_ZT-hAF+-A=+T—-HLF
E-AEBEESKESREEBRENFH
AR BIEBI AT

Number of persons

Remuneration bands (HKD) HMAR R (BT) A
Nil to 500,000 = £500,000 11
500,001 to 1,000,000 500,001%1,000,000 4
1,000,001 to 2,000,000 1,000,001 %2,000,000 2
2,000,001 to 5,000,000 2,000,001%5,000,000 0
5,000,001 to 10,000,000 5,000,001%10,000,000 1
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board had set up its nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) to, among others, review the structure, size and
composition of the Board to determine the policy for the nomination
of directors and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of Directors. As at the date of publication of this report,
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (Chairman) (Independent Non-executive
Director), Mr. Fong Wai Ho (Independent Non-executive Director) and
Ms. Huang Qing (Executive Director) are members of the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee has also adopted a policy of
diversity for memberships of the Board which aims to achieve diversity
in the Board against a range of different perspectives, including but not
limited to professional and industry experience, skills and knowledge,
cultural and educational background. These criteria will be considered
in determining the optimum composition of the Board and when
possible should be balanced appropriately. In reviewing and assessing
the composition of the Board, the Nomination Committee will consider
all different perspectives, including the aforesaid criteria, in order to
maintain a diverse Board. And when recommending new appointment
to the Board, the Nomination Committee will consider candidates on
merit against objective criteria including the ones set out above, with
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the website of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.
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Eight meeting of the Nomination Committee was held during the
year ended 31 December 2019 to review the structure, size and
composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board.
The individual attendance record of the Directors for the year ended 31

BE-2-AF+t=A=t+-AL%
B RAEERBTAREEURNE
SREE - AMRAR (BFERE M
RERPE) -BE-B—AF+=F

December 2019 is tabulated as follows:

ZSt-RLEFE ESXAHESEN

RESBAT
Attendance/
Total number of
committee meetings
HERE ZEEER
PN
Independent Non-executive Directors BYkHITES
Mr. Suen To Wai BREELE 3/3
(resigned on 10 April 2019) (R=Z2—NFNA+HBFE)
Mr. Ng Wai Kuen REELEE 5/5
(appointed on 28 January 2019) (R=ZF—NFE—B=-+N\BEZME)
Mr. He Jingyong MEREE 4/4
(appointed on 24 January 2019 and (R=Z2-—NF-—A=-+HHEZEK
resigned on 28 January 2019, R=ZB-HAEF-A=+N\ABE R
re-appointed on 10 April 2019) “E-NFNATHEEHZMET)
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Tsui Cham To (Chairman) BEEEE (£EF) 8/8

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

The Company recognizes the importance of keeping the Directors
updated with latest information of duties and obligations of a director
of a company which shares are listed on the Stock Exchange and
the general regulatory requirements and environment for such listed
company. To meet this goal, each newly appointed Director would
receive an introductory training regarding the statutory and regulatory
obligations of a director of a listed company in Hong Kong. As part of
the continuous professional development program pursuant to A.6.5
of the CG Code, the Company has also updated the directors of the
Company of any material changes in the Listing Rules and corporate
governance practices from time to time. During the year ended 31
December 2019, all directors of the Company are provided with
reading materials summarizing the duties and responsibilities in acting
as directors from time to time to keep the directors of the Company
abreast of such duties and responsibilities.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Sit Hon Wing, the company secretary appointed by the Board and
an employee of the Company, in the opinion of the Board, possesses
the necessary qualification and experience, capable of performance
of the functions of the company secretary and the Company will
provide fund for Mr. Sit to take not less than 15 hours of appropriate
professional training in each financial year as required under Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness on an
ongoing basis.

Such risk management and internal control systems are designed for
managing risks rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board
has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant authorities) of risk
management and internal control to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee (on behalf of the Board) oversees management in the
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems, and management has confirmed to the Audit
Committee (and the Board) on the effectiveness of these systems for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Group’s risk management framework is guided by the “Three
Lines of Defense” model. The Risk Management function co-ordinates
risk management activities and reviews significant aspects of risk
management for the Group, reports to the Audit Committee at each
regularly scheduled meeting, significant risks of the Group and the
appropriate mitigation and/or transfer of identified risks. The operating
units of the Group, as risk owners, identify, evaluate, mitigate and
monitor their own risks, and report such risk management activities to
risk management function on an annual basis. The risk management
function assesses and presents regular reports to the Audit Committee
at each regularly scheduled meeting.
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The internal control system of the Company is designed to facilitate
effective and efficient operations, to ensure reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
to identify and manage risks and to safeguard the assets of the
Company against loss or fraud. The main features of internal control
system consist of five elements including, internal environment, risk
assessment, monitoring activities, information and communication and
internal monitoring. However, any internal control system can provide
only reasonable but not absolute assurance of full protection against
material errors, losses, fraud or failure to meet its business objectives.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

For the purpose of handling and disseminating inside information in
accordance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Group has taken
various procedures and measures, including arousing the awareness to
preserve confidentiality of inside information within the Group, sending
blackout period and securities dealing restrictions notification to the
relevant directors and employees regularly, disseminating information
to specified persons on a need-to-know basis and regarding closely
to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

This section lists out the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group. This is a non-exhaustive list and there may be other risks and
uncertainties further to the principal areas of risk outlined below.
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Business development risk

Each of the Group’s projects has been or will be built to a specified
designed capacity. The utilization rate of its treatment facilities
depends on a number of factors including the size of the population,
the types of industries of its customers, the general economic
conditions and the level of industrialization in the area served by the
relevant facilities. If the facilities the Group operates are not utilized to
their designed capacity, the Group may not generate the revenue and
profit it had expected from the relevant projects, which could have a
material and adverse effect on its business, financial condition and
results of operations. It is therefore important that the Group perform
careful market research and project planning before implementing with
any investment decisions.

Credit risk

The Group may suffer from financial loss if a customer or counterparty
fails to meet the obligations under a contract. Customers requiring
a credit over certain amount must undergo an individual credit
evaluation. These evaluations are based on a customer’s records of
payment due and current ability to repay. The corporate information
and economic situation of the customer are also taken into account.

Change of regulatory environment risk

The Group’s business and operations in the PRC are subject to
the PRC government standards, rules and regulations. Change of
regulatory environment risk means the risk of failure in response to
change over government regulations, which may have a negative
impact on the Group’s business. Changes in regulatory environment
are monitored regularly in order to respond to the changes on a timely
and effective manner.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S ACKNOWLEDGEMENT ON
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the accounts
of the Company in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Board is accountable to the
shareholders for a clear and balanced assessment of the Company’s
financial position and prospects.
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The management provides all relevant information and records to the
Board, which enable it to prepare the accounts and to make above
assessments. As of the date of publication of this report, the Audit
Committee had reviewed and recommended the Board to adopt the
audited accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019. As more fully
disclosed in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a loss of HK$317,032,000 during the year ended 31
December 2019 and, as of that date, its current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by HK$1,825,396,000. Based on: 1) the progress
of negotiation with the local government authorities in the PRC in
relation to compensations for land resumption and compensation for
expropriation of certain terminated treatment facilities of the Group;
and 2) progress of negotiation with banks and other major creditors
for allowing further extension of debt repayments and not to initiate
legal action, management believes that the Group will be able to
continue to operate as a going concern throughout the next twelve
months. The statement of the auditor of the Company on its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in
the Auditor’s Report from pages 52 to 74.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the fees payable to Crowe
(HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe”) in respect of its audit services provided
to the Group was HK$3.5 million (2018: HK$3.5 million). There is
no non-audit service rendered by Crowe during the year (2018: Nil).

INSURANCE COVER FOR LEGAL ACTIONS AGAINST DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has
maintained directors and officers liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and officers of the Group until its expiry on 24 September
2019. After the expiry, the Group has failed to renew the insurance
policy due to the suspension of trading of shares on the Stock
Exchange and since certain Directors were alleged to have been
involved in certain criminal offences.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company’s shareholders’ communication policy is to maintain
transparency and provide timely information of the Group’s material
developments to shareholders and investors. General meetings
of the Company are formal channels for communication between
shareholders and the Board. The chairman of the Board is invited to
attend the general meetings to have direct communication with the
shareholders.

Shareholders may also send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
by addressing them to the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong situated at Unit 807, 8/F, Tower 1, Cheung Sha Wan Plaza,
833 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong, for the attention of
the Company Secretary.

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meeting of the
Company may by written requisition request to the Board convene
an extraordinary general meeting. There are no provisions under the
Company’s articles of association governing shareholder’s right to put
forward proposals at general meetings. However, the shareholders
may follow the procedures as stated below to put forward proposals
in general meetings. The procedures for shareholders to convene
extraordinary general meetings and put forward proposal are as
follows:

1. The requisitionist(s) must sign a written request stating the
objects of the meeting to be convened, and deposit the same at
the principal place of business of the Company situated at Unit
807, 8/F, Tower 1, Cheung Sha Wan Plaza, 833 Cheung Sha Wan
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company
Secretary. The written request may consist of several documents
in like form, each signed by one or more requisitionist(s).

2. The Company will then verify the particulars of the requisitionist(s)
in their written request with the Company’s share registrar, and
upon confirmation from the Company’s share registrar that the
written request is in order, the Company Secretary will arrange
with the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting
by serving sufficient notice to all the registered shareholders
in accordance with all the relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements and the provisions in the articles of association of
the Company.
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3. In the event that the written request has been verified as not
in order, the shareholders concerned will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, an extraordinary general meeting will
not be convened as requested.

4. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of the written request proceed duly to convene an extraordinary
general meeting, the requisitionist(s) may themselves convene
an extraordinary general meeting, but any extraordinary general
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3
months from the date of deposit of the written request.

The Company continues to pursue a proactive policy of promoting
investor relations and communications by conducting analysts’
briefings, road shows, participating in investors’ conferences and
making corporate presentations during the conferences, arranging
visits to the Company and maintaining regular meetings with
institutional shareholders and analysts. The Company’s annual general
meeting provides a good opportunity for communications between the
Board and its shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company to express their view and
make enquiries on the business or operation of the Company.

The investor relations department of the Company maintains regular
communication and dialogue with shareholders, investors and
analysts. It can be accessed during normal business hour by phone
(Telephone number: (852) 2527 9777). Shareholders and investors can
also visit the Company’s website at www.chongto.com and the Stock
Exchange’s website for the Company’s announcements, circulars,
financial information, corporate governance practices, annual reports,
interim reports and other corporate information and updates of
business development and operations.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there was no change in the
constitutional documents of the Company.

The latest memorandum and articles of association of the Company
are available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the website of
the Company.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the
financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s performance for
the year by business segments is set out in note 7 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 75. The Directors did not
recommend the payment of a final dividend (2018: Nil).

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year was approximately
HK$369,000 (2018: HK$20,446,505).

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and note 43(b) to the financial statements respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 18 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 42 to
the financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium, shares held under Share Award Scheme, accumulated
losses and capital reserve. As at 31 December 2019, there was no
reserve available for distribution (as at 31 December 2018: Nil). Under
the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company
is available for paying distributions or dividends to shareholders
subject to the provisions of its articles of association and provided
that immediately following the distribution or payment of dividend the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results for the year ended and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2019 and for the previous
four financial years are set out on page 348.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
publication of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Huang Qing
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 12 May 2020)

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai
(appointed on 3 August 2020 and resigned on 10 November 2020)

Mr. Lam Wai Tong (appointed on 29 October 2020)
Mr. Li Yang (appointed on 3 August 2020)

Mr. Wu Changbiao (appointed on 31 January 2020)
Mr. Liang Qilin (resigned on 11 December 2019)
Mr. Liang Zhenjie (resigned on 24 January 2020)
Mr. Lu Xiaoan (resigned on 18 June 2020)

Mr. Tsui Cham To (resigned on 8 April 2020)

Mr. Tsui Wai Kin (appointed on 11 December 2019 resigned
on 3 August 2020)
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Mr. Xu Juwen (resigned on 2 June 2020)

Ms. Xu Liuqi (appointed on 6 December 2019 and
resigned on 3 August 2020)

Mr. Yuan Guanghua
(appointed on 20 June 2019 and resigned on 11 February 2020)

Mr. Zhao Keyin

(appointed on 14 January 2019 and resigned on 20 June 2019)
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. He Jingyong (appointed on 24 January 2019,

resigned on 28 January 2019 and re-appointed on 10 April 2019)
Mr. Fong Wai Ho (appointed on 3 August 2020)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (appointed on 3 August 2020)

Mr. Ng Wai Kuen (appointed on 28 January 2019 and
resigned on 3 August 2020)

Mr. Suen To Wai (resigned on 10 April 2019)

Mr. Yu Chung Leung (appointed on 18 April 2019 and
resigned on 17 February 2020)

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu (resigned on 3 August 2020)

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director a confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and the Company considers such directors to be

independent.

In accordance with Article 83(3) and 84 of the Company’s articles
of association, all the Directors will retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Certain executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years, which can be terminated by not
less than one to three months’ notice in writing served by either party
on the other while certain executive Directors has not entered into any
service contract with the Company and has not been appointed for a
fixed term of service, they will hold office until the next general meeting
of the Company. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
one year to three years, which can be terminated by not less than one
to three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors has entered or has proposed to enter into any
service agreements with the Company or any other member of the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the directors’ fees are
reviewed and revised by the Board based on the recommendations
of the Remuneration Committee and with reference to the directors’
duties, responsibilities and performances and the results of the Group.

Information relating to the remuneration of directors are set out in note
13 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year except
as disclosed under the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” and note 48 to the financial statements.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management as of
the date of publication of this report are set out on pages 17 to 21.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2019, the Directors and chief executives of the
Company and their associates had the following interests in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”), as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code:
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Approximate percentage

Total number of shareholding

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest of shares in the Company
ERATRME

EEH% 5t/ Wi E RAEH BABS

Mr. Tsui Cham To Interest of controlled corporations 3,547,352,000 (L) 56.16%

and Beneficial owner®

wEEEE RENRAREERERBERAY

Mr. Lu Xiaoan Beneficial owner 134,000 (L) 0.002%

BENREE BEREBA

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu Beneficial owner 20,000 (L) 0.0003%

REXEE BERERA

Mr. Xu Juwen Beneficial owner 220,000 (L) 0.003%

HEXEE BEREBA

Ms. Xu Liuqi Beneficial owner 2,896,000 (L) 0.046%

/N A BHREBA

Mr. Yuan Guanghua Beneficial owner 98,000 (L) 0.002%

REELLE BERERA

(L)  denotes a long position in the shares
Notes:
(1) Mr. Tsui Cham To is deemed under the SFO to be interested in 3,546,980,000

shares of the Company held by Keen Vast Holdings Limited, and 372,000
shares directly held by himself.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to
have any interests or short position in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which had been recorded in the
register maintained by the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO or which had been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code. At no time
during the year was the Company, or any of its holding companies,
its subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the directors and chief executives of the Company (including
their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to hold any interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or its associated corporation.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 4 September 2013. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to provide an incentive to motivate, attract and retain
eligible persons, and to encourage them to optimise their performance
efficiency, enhance the value of the Company and promote the long-
term growth of the Company. This scheme will provide the eligible
participants, including employees, consultants, executives and officers
of the Company, a personal stake in the Company to achieve its
intended purpose.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years from 4 September 2013 subject to the early termination
provisions contained in the Share Option Scheme, after which no
further options will be granted or offered but the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any subsisting options
granted prior to the expiry of the 10-year period or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme.
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The maximum number of shares in respect of which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is 544,000,000, being 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue immediately after IPO on the Listing Date (i.e. 25 September
2013) which is the effective date of such scheme and representing
approximately 8.6% of the issued shares of the Company as at the
date of this annual report. An option shall be deemed to have been
granted and accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when
the duplicate offer document constituting acceptances of the options
duly signed by the grantee, together with a remittance in favor of the
Company of HKD1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof, is
received by the Company on or before the relevant acceptance date.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to any eligible person under the Share
Option Scheme shall not in any 12-month period up to the date of
grant exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit
is subject to the issue of a circular and shareholders’ approval in
general meeting. The period within which an option may be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme will be determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised later than 10
years from the date of grant of the particular option. Under the Share
Option Scheme, the exercise price in relation to each option shall be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, but in any event
shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant of such option, (ii) the average closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant of such option,
and (iii) the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of such
option.

No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed, and
there was no outstanding option under the Share Option Scheme as at
31 December 2019.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

A share award scheme was adopted by the Board (the “Share Award
Scheme”) to recognize and motivate the contributions made to the
Group by its employees and to give incentives in order to retain and
attract suitable personnel for the future development of the Group.

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term
of 10 years commencing on the date of adoption. Pursuant to the
Share Award Scheme, the Board may cause to be paid a contributed
amount to the trust, which shall constitute part of the trust fund for
the purchase of Shares from the market or subscription of new shares
and other purposes set out in the scheme rules and the trust deed.
Subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Award Scheme and
the fulfillment of all vesting conditions to the vesting of the awarded
shares, the awarded shares shall be held by the trustee, being Bank of
Communications Trustee Limited, on behalf of the selected employee
until the end of each vesting period. The awarded shares will be
transferred to the selected employees at nil consideration.

The Board shall not make any further award of awarded shares which
will result in the aggregate nominal value of the Shares awarded under
the Share Award Scheme exceeding ten per cent of the issued share
capital of the Company at the time of such award. Further details of
the Share Award Scheme are set out in the announcement dated 12
November 2015. During the year, the Board did not grant any shares
under the Share Award Scheme.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, the persons (not being a Director or chief
executive of the Company) who have interests in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO or have otherwise notified to
the Company were as follows:

Total number
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Approximate
percentage of

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest of shares shareholding
BRREE B/ REEME Bt 10 48 BRESAT L
Keen Vast Holdings Limited® Beneficial owner 3,359,232,000 (L) 53.18%
BARERBRAT EREBA
Li Sze Lim Beneficial owner 536,716,000 (L) 8.50%
ZBER EXEEA

(L)  denotes a long position in the shares

Note:

(1) Keen Vast Holdings Limited is controlled by Mr. Tsui Cham To.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Directors are
not aware of any other person having an interest or short position in

shares and underlying shares of the Company representing 5% or
more of the issued share capital of the Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year, the Company did not enter into any contract in respect
of the management or administration of the entire business or any
significant business of the Group nor any such contract subsisting.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” and “Connected Transactions” in this report of the
Directors:

()  no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries subsisted
during the year or at the end of the year; and

(i)  no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries subsisted during the year
or at the end of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, an indemnity
provision was in force such that the Directors shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he/she may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty
in their respective offices. During the year ended 31 December 2019,
the Company has maintained directors and officers liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group until its expiry on
24 September 2019. After the expiry, the Group has failed to renew
the insurance policy due to the suspension of trading of shares on the
Stock Exchange and since certain Directors were alleged to have been
involved in certain criminal offences.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 29.6%
(2018: 49.6%) of the Group’s total cost of purchase for the year ended
31 December 2019. The largest supplier accounted for approximately
9.4% (2018: 16.5%) of the Group’s total cost of purchase for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

The Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately
12.8% (2018: 11.9%) of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended
31 December 2019. The largest customer accounted for approximately
3.7% (2018: 2.8%) of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31
December 2019.
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None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or any shareholder (who to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had
any interest in any of the five largest suppliers or customers of the
Group.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” below, none of the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in these major
suppliers or customers at all times.

COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors had any interest in any competing business
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31
December 2019.

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The Company has entered into a deed of non-competition dated
4 September 2013 (the “Non-competition Deed”) with Keen Vast
Holdings Limited and Mr. Tsui Cham To, both being the controlling
shareholders of the Company as at 31 December 2019 (the
“Controlling Shareholders”), and pursuant to which the Controlling
Shareholders procure its/his/her associates (other than members of
the Group) not to, engage in any business involving the development
of wastewater treatment facilities and the provision of wastewater
treatment and industrial water supply services.

The Company has received the annual confirmation from each of
the Controlling Shareholders that each of them has fully complied
with their respective obligations under the Non-Competition Deed.
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the annual
confirmation from the Controlling Shareholders relating to their
compliance with the non-competition undertaking by the Controlling
Shareholder under the Non-competition Deed and are satisfied that the
same has been complied with by the Controlling Shareholders under
the Non-competition Deed.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, certain related party
transactions were entered into by the Group which is disclosed in
note 48 to the financial statements. Certain of these related party
transactions constituted continuing connected transaction under
the Listing Rules which are required to be disclosed in this report
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Directors
confirm that the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules has been complied with.

As disclosed in the announcement dated 13 February 2018,
Guangzhou Haitao Environmental Protection Technology Company
Limited (“Guangzhou Haitao”), a subsidiary of the Group, entered
into an office lease agreement (Guangzhou Haitao as the tenant) and
a licensing agreement (Guangzhou Haitao as the licensee in relation
to the naming and signage license rights of an office building) with
Guangzhou Yanchen Zhili Profession Company Limited (“Guangzhou
Yanchen”). Each of the above agreements lasted for a term of three
years commencing from 1 March 2018 to 28 February 2021. The
proposed annual cap under the office lease agreement is expected
to be no more than RMB8,833,329 while the proposed annual caps
under the licensing agreement is expected to be no more than
RMB10,800,000.

As at the date of the above agreements, Mr. Tsui Cham To, the then
Chairman and an executive Director of the Company, is deemed to
be interested in approximately 37.5% equity interest in Guangzhou
Yanchen. Guangzhou Yanchen is an associate of Mr. Tsui and is
therefore a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. The transactions contemplated under the above
agreements constitute continuing connected transactions for the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are subject to
the reporting, annual review and announcement requirements but are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019

BE_ZT-NAE+-A=1+—-HLF
B ARERYETEBLRS TR
BHRKRM TR E - BT HEFABRS R
ZBELETRATHHEERERS R
BLHRABIMATERARS T UK
B-EB®I AEECETLETRAUE
TAAZ IR ERE -

WUBHPAE-—SE-NE-BA+=HzA
EFEE AEENKEB AR EMNEE
RRBIEERDE (TEMEE]) EEM
EEREEEERAT ([BMNEE]) T
YRHAEHERR (EMNEEEAHERF)
REHFHE (RPAABZEEARER
M BMNEEEREEHS) Lt
EHEcHRA-ZZE-—N\E=F—Hi
E_E_—F_AZ+NHIL=F-F
AR AEHENRETZEZEE LR
AR BIB A R%8,833,3297T » 1 T8 Hi 45
FHEETZEZEELREFTEBA
R #10,800,0007T °

Rt B - IREE AL (BEERRD
AEFFRUTES) HRAREMNEEL
7.5%RIEPERER - BMNEERHRE
BEENBEA XEILRE LHHRA
BUAERRRBANEEAL -RIELT
BRAE14AT  EHHRE T HETHR
ZREARAZKERERS ABT
B FEEHARLAEHAE HERRE
TELRRHAAERE



During the year ended 31 December 2019, the amounts incurred under
the office lease agreement and under the license agreement were
approximately HK$10,032,000 and approximately HK$12,266,000
respectively.

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 December 2019, the
related party transaction or continuing related party transaction as
set out in note 48 to the consolidated financial statements either did
not fall under the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing
connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules or fall
under exempted transaction pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the Listing
Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has advanced
various sums with an aggregate amount of approximately RMB104.2
million (equivalent to HK$116.3 million) to certain companies controlled
by Mr. Tsui and has also paid certain bank interest and expenses on
behalf of an entity controlled by Mr. Tsui amounted to approximately
RMB20.9 million (equivalent to HK$23.3 million) (collectively the “2019
Advances”). During the year ended 31 December 2019, approximately
RMB21.4 million (equivalent to HK$23.8 million) has been repaid
by these entities to the Group and approximately RMB79.2 million
(equivalent to HK$88.4 million) of the Group’s bank loan principal and
interest and interest on other borrowings has been paid by certain
entities controlled by Mr. Tsui on behalf of the Group.

Mr. Tsui was the then chairman and executive director of the Company
while the entities controlled by Mr. Tsui as mentioned above are
associates of Mr. Tsui and are therefore connected persons of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The transactions
contemplated under the 2019 Advances constitute connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are subject
to the reporting, announcement requirements and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements.
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The Company has conducted an investigation over the 2019 Advances
together with certain similar advances in 2018 (“2018 Advances”) and
found that they were made without proper authorization and were not
made for the operational use of the Group. At this stage, the Company
is considering alternative course of actions available for the recovery
of outstanding portion of the 2018 Advances and the 2019 Advances.
The Group has engaged an internal control consultant to advise the
Group and is implementing controls and policies in relation to the
above matter which the Group believes can prevent similar incident
from occurring in the future.

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Company is not aware of any other connected transactions which fall
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2019.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company, the Company
maintained adequate public float for the year ended 31 December
2018 and up to the date of this annual report.

CHANGE OF AUDITOR

KPMG retired as the auditor of the Company with effect from 31 May
2018, being the date of the annual general meeting of the Company
held (the “2018 AGM”) and RSM Hong Kong (“RSM”) was appointed
as the new auditor of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2018 and to hold office from the conclusion of the 2018 AGM until the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company.

Subsequently, RSM resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect
from 17 October 2019 and Crowe (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe”) has
been appointed as the new auditor of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2018 with effect from 17 October 2019 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of RSM and to hold office until the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company.

The financial statements have been audited by Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited. A resolution will be submitted at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to reappoint Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Huang Qing
Chairman

8 December 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB AR

A\ Crowe

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CT
Environmental Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 75 to 347, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group and as to whether the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. Because of
the significance of the matters described in the “Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion” section of this report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
1) Opening balances and corresponding figures

The corresponding figures disclosed in these consolidated
financial statements are based on the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018. The auditor did not express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018.

a) As more fully disclosed in item 3 of our report, we are
unable to ascertain if the financial information of certain
subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year and as at 31 December
2018 are free from material misstatements.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont’d)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

1) Opening balances and corresponding figures (Cont’d)

b)

As more fully disclosed in note 18(a)(ii) to the consolidated
financial statements, on 14 February 2018, the Group
entered into a termination agreement (the “Termination
Agreement”) with a former director Mr. Gu Yaokun under
which the title of certain fixed assets and land use rights
without ownership certificates were transferred back to
the Group in consideration for an offsetting of part of
the amount of HK$149,338,000 due from Mr. Gu Yaokun
brought forward from 2017. After offsetting, the Group
recorded property, plant and equipment of RMB72,105,000
(equivalent to HK$82,293,000), lease prepayments
of RMB28,760,000 (equivalent to HK$32,824,000)
and prepayments for purchase of lease prepayments
and equipment of RMB26,169,000 (equivalent to
HK$29,867,000), totalling RMB127,034,000 (equivalent to
HK$144,984,000) in the books and the amount due from Mr.
Gu Yaokun was reduced by the same amount.

However, taking into consideration of the PRC legal
opinion, the present directors consider that the possibility
of obtaining the ownership certificates for these land is
remote and the structures built on the land which had
no ownership certificates were illegal structure and may
be ordered to be demolished or confiscated by the local
government authority and therefore the assets without
ownership certificates should have no commercial value.
Full impairment loss on the assets transferred to the Group
and a provision for penalty of HK$18,982,000 in respect
of the illegal structures were charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2018.

Given the above circumstances, we are unable to ascertain
the reasons for the acquisition of assets without title
documents but with illegal structure erected thereon. There
are no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could
perform to satisfy ourselves that the accounting treatment
adopted to set off the amount due from Mr. Gu Yaokun
by RMB127,034,000 (equivalent to HK$144,984,000)
and to recognise the same amount as property, plant
and equipment, lease prepayments and prepayments
for purchase of lease prepayments in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018
and the impairment loss for these assets charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2018 are appropriate.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont’d)
BYZEEMRE (&

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

1)

Opening balances and corresponding figures (Cont’d)

c)

As more fully disclosed in note 7(b) to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2018 included revenue of
HK$52,479,000 of two subsidiaries namely Guangzhou
Kaizhou and Guangzhou Xintao derived from the provision
of wastewater treatment plant operation services, the
provision of heating services and the electricity generation
business. Guangzhou Kaizhou and Guangzhou Xintao
ceased their business operations during the year ended
31 December 2018. A substantial portion of these revenue
were not substantiated with relevant supporting documents
including value added tax invoices while almost all of these
revenue were without subsequent settlements. These,
together with other long outstanding trade receivables
brought forward from previous years, were assessed
to be impaired by the present directors and a provision
for impairment loss of RMB44,375,000 (equivalent to
HK$52,509,000) was charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018.

We are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to ascertain the appropriateness of recognition,
completeness, existence and accuracy of the revenue
of HK$52,479,000 of the above two subsidiaries and
revenue of HK$187,562,000 of the three subsidiaries as
mentioned in item 3 below totalling HK$240,041,000 as
included in the total revenue of HK$1,152,998,000 and
the impairment loss on trade receivables and contract
assets of HK$161,796,000 of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2018 or the related balances of receivable
brought forward from 2017.

There are no other practicable audit procedures that
we could perform to satisfy ourselves that the revenue
transactions have been properly accounted for and
disclosed.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont’d)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

1) Opening balances and corresponding figures (Cont’d)

d)

e)

As more fully disclosed in note 27(a) to the consolidated
financial statements, in 2015, Guangzhou Xintao entered
into an operation agreement with EMNHm#EEE FRIEE
PR 28] (“Menghui”) pursuant to which Guangzhou Xintao
was engaged to provide wastewater treatment services and
manage the wastewater facilities of Menghui. According to
the operation agreement, Guangzhou Xintao was required
to pay a security deposit of RMB45,000,000 to Menghui
and the security deposit was subsequently increased to
RMB47,045,000 as at 31 December 2018. As from May
2018, Guangzhou Xintao ceased to provide the wastewater
treatment services to Menghui. As at 31 December 2018,
the security deposit paid of RMB47,045,000 (equivalent
to HK$53,692,000) was recorded as other receivables
and prepayments. Notwithstanding repeated requests,
up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, Guangzhou Xintao received from Menghui a net
payment of RMB1,250,000 (equivalent to HK$1,420,000)
but no other refund. In addition, due to the matters as
discussed in item 6 below, we are unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the
accuracy of the impairment loss on security deposit of
RMB45,795,000 (equivalent to HK$54,189,000) as included
in the impairment loss on other receivable and prepayments
of HK$144,894,000 charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018.

As more fully disclosed in item 4 of our report, we are
also unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to ascertain the carrying amount and impairment loss
on property, plant and equipment, lease prepayments,
intangible assets, contract assets, goodwill and deferred tax
liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont’d)
B ZBERE (&)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

1)

Opening balances and corresponding figures (Cont’d)

f)

As more fully disclosed in note 11(c)(iii) to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group recorded a consideration
receivable from the disposal of a subsidiary of
HK$70,059,000 and HK$4,565,000 as at 31 December 2017
and 2018 respectively. In March 2018, the Group received a
settlement of HK$22,826,000 from the purchaser. A further
settlement of HK$4,565,000 was received in 2019. Since
then, no further payments were made by the purchaser.
According to the management, prior to the disposal, the
land acquired by the subsidiary from the local government
had been laid idle for more than three years without any
development and this was a breach of the original contract
for the acquisition. The purchaser encountered difficulties
in obtaining approval for the development of the land and,
as a result, had to pay a penalty imposed by the local
government for the breach of contract, namely, a delay
in development which was caused by the Group. The
purchaser also incurred financial losses resulted from the
project delay. In the absence of sufficient documents, the
present directors were unable to ascertain the amount
of penalty paid and the financial losses incurred by the
purchaser. To avoid a claim from the purchaser on the above
matter, the Group did not follow up with the purchaser for
settlement of the balance of the consideration receivable.
As the outstanding balance has been overdue for a
long period of time and without any further subsequent
settlements, the present directors made an impairment loss
of HK$45,198,000 on the consideration receivable from the
disposal of a subsidiary for the year ended 31 December
2018.

In the absence of sufficient documents, we are unable to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for us to satisfy
ourselves as to the appropriateness and the accuracy of
the impairment loss of HK$45,198,000 on the consideration
receivable from the disposal of a subsidiary charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2018.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont’d)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

1)

2)

Opening balances and corresponding figures (Cont’d)

We are also unable to ascertain if any further liabilities might arise
as a result of any possible further claims from the purchaser in
respect of losses incurred as a result of the Group’s breach of the
terms of the original land acquisition contract.

Under these circumstances, the present directors were unable to
represent that the comparative financial information disclosed in
these consolidated financial statements were free from errors or
omissions, or had these complied with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards or the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

As a result, in performing our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019,
we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to satisfy ourselves as to whether the opening balances of
assets, liabilities and reserves as at 1 January 2019 and the
corresponding figures were free from material misstatements and
were fairly stated.

Any adjustments found to be necessary in respect thereof had we
obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence would have had
a significant consequential effect on the net assets of the Group
as at 1 January 2019, and of its financial performance and cash
flows for the current and prior years, and the related disclosures
thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As more fully disclosed in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group incurred a loss of HK$317,032,000
during the year ended 31 December 2019 and, as of that
date, its current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$1,825,396,000.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont’d)

BARBERE (&

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

2) Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern (Cont’d)

(a) Other borrowings

As more fully disclosed in note 36(a) to the consolidated
financial statements, certain of the Group’s other
borrowings together with accrued interest thereon totalling
HK$242,548,000 as at 31 December 2019 were overdue.
The lender took legal actions against the Group for the
repayment of the overdue debts and obtained judgment
from the High Court of Hong Kong on 17 January 2020. On
20 July 2020, the lender informed the Company that if the
judgment debt together with interest and costs were not
settled by 30 September 2020, the lender shall enforce the
judgment and take further actions including but not limited
to winding up the Company without further notice. Up to the
date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
no repayment was made by the Group and the lender has
not taken any action to enforce the judgment.

(b) Bank loans

As more fully disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s bank loans of
HK$1,973,848,000 as at 31 December 2019 were either
overdue, in default or in cross default. In 2017, Mr. Tsui
pledged his shares in the Company. This was a breach of
the terms of the bank loan agreements with Bank A in Hong
Kong. Bank A had therefore the right to demand immediate
full repayment as a result of the breach. On 10 December
2019, Bank A demanded full repayment of the outstanding
bank loans and interests. On 24 February 2020, Bank A
filed a bill of indictment with the Intermediate People’s
Court of Guangzhou (the “Guangzhou Court”) against the
Company as borrower and its fourteen subsidiaries and
Mr. Tsui as guarantor claiming the immediate repayment
of the loan with outstanding interest and legal and other
costs totalling HK$152,868,000. On 17 March 2020, the
Guangzhou Court ordered that the bank accounts and
other assets with a total carrying value of RMB137,278,000
(equivalent to HK$152,868,000) of the Company and its
fourteen subsidiaries be frozen pending the court hearing on

12 August 2020.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont’d)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

2)

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern (Cont’d)

As more fully disclosed in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial
statements, in August 2020, the Group verbally agreed a
repayment schedule with Bank A for the repayment of all the
outstanding balances due by three installments by 30 June 2021.
After the court hearing on 12 August 2020, the court granted
one month’s period for the Company to execute a written
agreement on the repayment schedule. However, the Group was
unable to pay the first installment under the repayment schedule
by 30 September 2020. Up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, no settlement agreement has
been signed with Bank A.

The breach of the terms of the loan agreements with Bank A
caused a cross default in loans from other creditor banks. In
addition, the Group either failed to repay the loans according
to the repayment schedule or failed to meet the financial
and other covenants as stipulated in the various other bank
loans agreements. As a result, all the bank loans totalling
HK$1,973,848,000 as at 31 December 2019 became repayable
on demand.

These conditions, together with the other matters as described
in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the
existence of multiple uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt over the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In order to enable the Group to meet its immediate financing
needs, the Group continues to implement a series of action
plans (the “Action Plans”) and measures which comprise,
inter alia, (i) the disposal of Xintao Investment Co. Ltd and its
four subsidiaries with operations in Guangxi, the PRC, (i) the
negotiation with the Longmen County government authority for
the compensation on early termination of the BOT project in
Longmen County, (i) the negotiation with the local government
authorities for compensations for the expropriation of various
wastewater, hazardous waste, sludge and solid waste treatment
plants operated by the Group; and (iv) negotiations with banks for
extension of due dates of the relevant debts, details of which are
set out in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial statements.
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2)

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern (Cont’d)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends on
the outcome of the Action Plans which are subject to multiple
uncertainties, including:

)

i)

whether the Group is able to successfully negotiate
with the local government authorities in the PRC for the
compensations for the expropriation of various wastewater,
hazardous waste, sludge and solid waste treatment plants
operated by the Group and early termination of the BOT
project in Longmen County;

whether the Group is able to successfully negotiate with
the lender of the other borrowings and creditor banks to
allow the Group to make repayment or partial repayment
on the amounts due according to the Group’s expected
repayment priority and to further extend the repayment
schedules to the extent and in accordance with the
timetable and milestones of payments agreed or to be
agreed with the local government authorities in the PRC for
the expropriation of various wastewater, hazardous waste,
sludge and solid waste treatment plants operated by the
Group and compensations to be received on the early
termination of the BOT project in Longmen County;

whether the creditor banks will agree not to exercise their
right to demand for immediate repayment in respect of the
Group’s bank loans that had become in default or in cross
default;

whether the lender of the other borrowings will agree not to
enforce the judgement to wind up the Company; and

whether the Group is able to seek other financing resources
such as equity financing from potential investors which
in turn depends on whether the Group is able to resume
the trading of its shares on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited which is likely a condition for obtaining equity
finance from potential investors.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont’d)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

2)

3)

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern (Cont’d)

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned Action
Plans and measures, it might not be able to continue to operate
as a going concern, and adjustments would have to be made
to write down the carrying amount of the Group’s assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities which
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

As more fully disclosed in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial
statements, the execution of the Action Plans and measures
taken by the Group involved multiple uncertainties. In view of the
significance of the extent of the multiple uncertainties relating
to the availability of future finance to the Group, we disclaim our
opinion in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019.

Indictments and legal proceedings against the Group and
investigations

As more fully disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements, in April 2018, the local environmental authorities
in the PRC conducted inspections on certain of the Group’s
subsidiaries and subsequently in 2019, E/NEBBRBXEIR
A 7|] Guangzhou Haitao Environmental Protection Technology
Company Limited (“Guangzhou Haitao”), F I BERARKE
FR /2 &) Zhongshan Haitao Environmental Protection Technology
Company Limited (“Zhongshan Haitao”) and & /N 2% i ff55
SBE PR A A Guangzhou Liangang Vessel Wastewater Treatment
Company Limited (“Guangzhou Liangang”) and certain senior
management members including Mr. Tsui, a former director
and former chairman, and staff members were charged for,
amongst others, fraudulent issuance of value-added tax invoices
to customers, fabrication and falsification of certain contracts
and other documents, the provision of false data for claiming
environmental subsidies, illegal disposal of sludge, discharge of
wastewater illegally, the deliberate non-performance of certain
procedures when providing sludge treatment services and
environmental pollution during the period varying from 2015 to
2018.
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Indictments and legal proceedings against the Group and
investigations (Cont’d)

Certain books and records of Guangzhou Haitao, the defendant
subsidiary, were seized by the local government authority for
the purpose of conducting an investigation and RMB75,000,000
(equivalent to HK$83,723,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
equivalent to HK$85,598,000)) was paid to the local government
authority, the recoverability of which will be subject to the
outcome of the investigation and subsequent court decision.

Judgments were delivered by the various courts on various
date for different cases ordering the relevant group entities to
pay penalties and the staff members and senior management
members were sentenced to imprisonment, with one of them let
out on probation. In one case, the subsidiary lodged an appeal
against the court’s judgment but it lost the appeal eventually.
In the case of Guangzhou Haitao, the court hearing has been
conducted. However, up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, no judgment has been made
by the relevant court.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019
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3)

Indictments and legal proceedings against the Group and
investigations (Cont’d)

Given the above circumstances and that certain books and
records of Guangzhou Haitao for the previous years were seized
by the local government authority for investigation purpose
and were not accessible, and that Mr. Tsui, and certain senior
management and staff members of certain subsidiaries were
either arrested in 2018 and charged for, amongst others, the
fabrication and falsification of certain contracts and other
documents or had left the Group and were not contactable,
the present directors have not been able to obtain sufficient
documentary evidence, information and explanations to
satisfy themselves regarding the reliability, completeness and
accuracy of the books and records of these subsidiaries for
the previous years and whether there were any fraudulently
recorded or unrecorded transactions or liabilities for the year
ended and as at 31 December 2018. The financial information
of the above subsidiaries including, amongst others, revenue of
HK$187,562,000 and loss of HK$671,726,000 was consolidated
into the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018. The former directors and certain
senior management members also took managerial role in
other subsidiaries in the previous years. As a result, the present
directors were also unable to represent the completeness and
accuracy of the financial information of these other subsidiaries.

An independent investigation committee was formed to conduct
an investigation on the matters. Details of the investigation
findings reported to the present board of directors are set out in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

As we are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
we consider necessary to assess the recoverability of the amount
of HK$83,723,000 (2018:HK$85,598,000) paid to the local
government authority, we are unable to ascertain whether any
impairment loss should be provided, or whether any provisions
should be made for liabilities and costs arising from the
outstanding litigations as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.
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3)

Indictments and legal proceedings against the Group and
investigations (Cont’d)

There were no alternative audit procedures that we could perform
to satisfy ourselves as to the existence, completeness and
accuracy of revenue recognised and the financial information
of the above subsidiaries as consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
as to whether there are any fraudulently recorded or unrecorded
transactions or liabilities as at 31 December 2018.

Any adjustments found to be necessary in respect thereof had
we obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence would have
had a significant consequential effect on the financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 and the financial
performance and cash flows for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018 and the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.

CT Environmental Group Limited

Annual Report 2019
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Carrying amount and impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, contract assets, goodwill and
deferred tax liabilities

As more fully disclosed in note 18, 20, 21, 26 and 41 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had property,
plant and equipment of HK$708,505,000 and intangible assets
of HK$682,310,000 as at 31 December 2019 and property,
plant and equipment of HK$874,565,000, intangible assets of
HK$1,030,453,000, contract assets of HK$329,492,000, goodwill
of HK$Nil and deferred tax liabilities of HK$182,250,000 as
at 31 December 2018. As the Group’s business operations
were adversely affected by a number of factors including the
insufficient market demand of its services in certain locations,
the indictments and legal proceedings against the Group and
the expropriation of certain land and facilities, a number of
cash generating units of the Group ceased or suspended their
operations since 2018.

In determining the recoverable amount of these cash generating
units, the present directors adopted the fair value less cost
of disposal basis and made reference to the compensations
that might be received from the local government authorities.
However, up to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, certain amount of the compensations
has not been officially confirmed and might still be subject to
change. As a result, we are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence we consider necessary to assess the accuracy
of the recoverable amounts of these cash generating units
totalling RMB259,000,000 (equivalent to HK$289,122,000) (2018:
RMB588,000,000 (equivalent to HK$671,084,000)), which have
been used for the purpose of the impairment assessment on the
related property, plant and equipment of HK$240,886,000, and
intangible assets of HK$25,709,000 as at 31 December 2019 and
property, plant and equipment of HK$267,479,000, intangible
assets of HK$313,326,000, contract assets of HK$101,125,000
and goodwill of HK$Nil as at 31 December 2018 and the related
impairment losses of HK$232,793,000, HK$333,974,000, HK$Nil
and HK$20,156,000 respectively charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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4)

Carrying amount and impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, contract assets, goodwill and
deferred tax liabilities (Cont’d)

Given the above circumstances and the fact that the
compensations as estimated by the present directors were
recognised in the absence of a confirmation from the local
government authorities, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to ascertain whether any impairment
loss should be provided for and the accuracy of the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment of HK$708,505,000,
and intangible assets of HK$682,310,000 as at 31 December
2019 and property, plant and equipment of HK$874,565,000,
intangible assets of HK$1,030,453,000, contract assets of
HK$329,492,000, goodwill of HK$Nil and deferred tax liabilities
of HK$182,250,000 as at 31 December 2018. We were also
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to ascertain
the accuracy of the impairment loss of HK$1,886,135,000,
HK$39,485,000, HK$521,538,000 and HK$168,390,000 made on
the property, plant and equipment, lease prepayments, intangible
assets and goodwill charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the
related deferred tax of HK$31,525,000 and HK$78,374,000
credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 respectively.

Any adjustments that might have been found to be necessary
in respect of the above would have a significant effect on the
carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets as well as the financial position as at 31
December 2019 and 2018 and contract assets and deferred
tax liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and the Group’s loss for
the years then ended and the related disclosure notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019
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5)

Compensation receivable

As more fully disclosed in notes 18(a)(iii) and 28 to the
consolidated financial statements, EEfIGIREHLEEER
(Longmen County Environmental Hygiene Administration) (the
“Longmen Authority”) early terminated the BOT contract and
took over the operation of the plant of BEREFBREBREERRE
BBR2E (“Longmen Zhongtao Recycling”), a subsidiary of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2019. The Group
derecognised the property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets and contract assets held by Longmen Zhongtao Recycling
and recognized a compensation receivable of HK$367,263,000 as
at 31 December 2019. However, the compensation is still under
negotiation with the relevant government officials and up to the
date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the
amount of compensation has not been officially confirmed and
might still be subject to change.

As a result, we are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence we consider necessary to assess the recoverability
and accuracy of the compensation receivable and to
ascertain whether any impairment loss should be provided
for on the carrying amount of the compensation receivable of
HK$367,263,000 as recognised as at 31 December 2019.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

6) Impairment loss on payments for the acquisition of a
subsidiary and loan receivables

a)  Payments for the acquisition of a subsidiary

As more fully disclosed in note 27(a) to the consolidated
financial statements, during the year ended 31 December
2018, the Group made payments of RMB47,000,000
(equivalent to HK$55,615,000) for the proposed acquisition
of 100% equity interest in Menghui from its equity owner
which was an independent third party namely &M Z &
EHPR2A T (“Guangzhou Yingzhou”). Guangzhou Yingzhou
was owned by a former employee of two subsidiaries of the
Group in the PRC and who was also a former supervisor
of an entity controlled by Mr. Tsui. The former employee
resigned from both positions in February 2017 and in
March 2017 respectively. Due to the delay in completion
of the acquisition, Guangzhou Yingzhou refunded
RMB13,000,000 (equivalent to HK$15,383,000) to the
Group in 2018. In 2019, the Group made further payments
totalling RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to HK$22,714,000)
to Guangzhou Yingzhou for the acquisition. As at 31
December 2019 and 2018, the net amount of payments for
the acquisition made to Guangzhou Yingzhou was carried
at RMB54,000,000 (equivalent to HK$60,280,000) and
RMB34,000,000 (equivalent to HK$38,804,000) respectively.

Based on its unaudited management accounts, the net
assets of Menghui as at 31 December 2019 and 2018
was RMB4,500,000 (equivalent to HK$5,023,000) (2018:
RMB465,000 (equivalent to HK$531,000)) and the current
account balance with the Group as shown in these
management accounts differed from the accounting
records of the Group by RMB98,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$109,397,000 (2018: RMB98,000,000 equivalent to
HK$111,847,000). The present directors are unable to
reconcile the discrepancies which cast significant doubt as
to the accuracy and reliability of the financial information
and management accounts presented by Menghui.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

6) Impairment loss on payments for the acquisition of a
subsidiary and loan receivables (Cont’d)

a)

Payments for the acquisition of a subsidiary (Cont’d)

On 14 October 2019, the Group entered into an
agreement to fix the consideration for the acquisition at
RMB56,150,000 (equivalent to HK$63,770,000). Under
the agreement, Guangzhou Yingzhou was to undertake
a reorganisation of Menghui to spin-off those unrelated
investments from Menghui. The balance of consideration
of RMB2,150,000 (equivalent to HK$2,442,000) was
paid to Guangzhou Yingzhou in January 2020. However,
Guangzhou Yingzhou was unable to complete its
reorganisation subsequently to spin-off those unrelated
investments from Menghui. As a consequence, the
acquisition was not completed.

On 30 June 2020, the Group entered into a cancellation
agreement with Guangzhou Yingzhou to cancel the
acquisition. According to the terms of the cancellation
agreement, Guangzhou Yingzhou should refund the
payments of RMB56,150,000 (equivalent to HK$63,770,000)
to the Group on or before 31 August 2020.

Notwithstanding repeated requests, up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements, no
refund was received from Guangzhou Yingzhou.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

6) Impairment loss on payments for the acquisition of a
subsidiary and loan receivables (Cont’d)

a)

b)

Payments for the acquisition of a subsidiary (Cont’d)

As the financial information presented by Menghui could
not be reconciled with those of the Group, the reliability
of the financial information of Menghui was in doubt
and, taking into account the repeated futile requests for
settlement, the present directors are of the opinion that
full impairment loss on the payments for the acquisition of
Menghui of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to HK$22,714,000)
and RMB34,000,000 (equivalent to HK$40,232,000) made in
2019 and 2018 are necessary and the losses were charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 respectively.

Loan receivables

As more fully disclosed in note 29(e) to the consolidated
financial statements, during the period from January 2019
to September 2019, Guangzhou Xintao made advances
totalling RMB60,888,000 (equivalent to HK$69,150,000)
as loans to Guangzhou Yingzhou. All the amounts due
were unsecured, bearing interest at 5% per annum and
repayable on 31 January 2020. Guangzhou Yingzhou
did not make any repayment to Guangzhou Xintao on
31 January 2020 and the loans became overdue. The
loan receivable remained outstanding up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements. Other
than the acknowledgement of loan receipts issued by
Guangzhou Yingzhou, there were no loan agreement nor
other supporting documents for these loans. Taking into
account the repeated futile requests for the repayment, the
present directors are of the opinion that full impairment loss
on the loan receivables due from Guangzhou Yingzhou is
necessary and the loss was charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2019.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

6)

Impairment loss on payments for the acquisition of a
subsidiary and loan receivables (Cont’d)

Under these circumstances, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence for us to ascertain the reasons
for the acquisition of a subsidiary at a significant premium
without a satisfactory due diligence, given that according to the
management accounts of Menghui, it would not have adequate
assets to justify the purchase consideration and the reasons for
making payments in advance of the completion of the acquisition
of Menghui and the reasons for making unsecured advances to
Guangzhou Yingzhou. We were also unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the accuracy
of the impairment losses on the payments for the acquisition
of subsidiaries of HK$22,714,000 and HK$64,490,000 charged
to the consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 respectively, and the impairment loss
on loan receivable of HK$69,150,000 charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Any adjustments to the impairment losses for the payments for
the acquisition of a subsidiary and loan receivable found to be
necessary would affect the Group’s financial position as at 31
December 2019 and 2018, the Group’s financial performance
for the years then ended and the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

7

Revenue and trade receivables

As more fully disclosed in note 7(b) to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s revenue included revenue of
HK$396,236,000 (2018: HK$282,963,000) of a subsidiary namely
Guangzhou Lvyou. Guangzhou Lvyou had trade receivable of
HK$69,941,000 and HK$104,693,000 as at 31 December 2019
and 2018 respectively. Guangzhou Lvyou recognized revenue
and trade receivables upon receiving hazardous waste from
its customers without taking into account the performance
obligations under the contracts with customers. As at 31
December 2019 and 2018, certain hazardous waste received
from the customers were kept by Guangzhou Lvyou at its plant
without being processed all the necessary treatment services.
However, revenue was fully recognized in respect of these
hazardous waste for the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018.

As there were insufficient supporting documents, the present
directors were unable to quantify the financial effect of this cut off
error and no adjustments to the revenue recognised were made
to these consolidated financial statements.

Given the above circumstances, we are unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to ascertain the appropriateness
of recognition, completeness, existence and accuracy of the
revenue of HK$396,236,000 and HK$282,963,000 of Guangzhou
Luyou as included in the total revenue of HK$850,409,000
and HK$1,152,998,000 of the Group for the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 and the trade receivable of
HK$69,941,000 and HK$104,693,000 as included in the total
trade receivables of HK$180,802,000 and HK$249,620,000 as at
31 December 2019 and 2018 respectively.

There are no other practicable audit procedures that we could
perform to satisfy ourselves that the revenue transactions have
been properly accounted for and disclosed.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

8) Impairment of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries and
amounts due from subsidiaries

As disclosed in note 43(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, included in the Company’s statement of financial
position are investments in subsidiaries of HK$342,030,000
and HK$493,483,000 and amounts due from subsidiaries of
HK$963,948,000 and HK$833,958,000 as at 31 December 2019
and 2018, respectively. Due to the scope limitations as detailed
above, we have not been able to satisfy ourselves as to whether
the impairment provision determined by the present directors
against the carrying amounts of the investments in subsidiaries
and amounts due from subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019 and
2018 are fairly stated.

Any adjustments to the carrying amount of the Company’s
interest in subsidiaries found to be necessary would affect the
Company’s net liabilities as at 31 December 2019 and net assets
as at 31 December 2018 and related disclosures to the financial
statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordnance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s
report. We report solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. However, because of the
matters described in the Basis of Disclaimer Opinion section of our
report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'’s

Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 8 December 2020

Lam Cheung Shing
Practising Certificate Number P03552
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

= N2
mEBRR
2019 2018
—Z-hF —E-N\E
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt E FHExT FET
Revenue U 2 7 850,409 1,152,998
Cost of sales SHERA (567,362) (964,327)
Gross profit EF 283,047 188,671
Other income Halg A 8 12,092 46,321
Other net gains/(losses) Hibzm ~ (B518) T4 9 482 (138,969)
Administrative expenses 1THRE (211,135) (380,396)
Impairment losses on property, plant and M WEREZE
equipment > REER 10 (25,774)  (1,886,135)
Impairment losses on intangible assets BEEE2REBERBE 10 - (521,538)
Impairment losses on goodwill EEZREEE 10 - (168,390)
Impairment losses on lease prepayments HERSREZRESBE 10 - (39,485)
Impairment losses on payments for U BB B S A B R
acquisition of subsidiaries ZREEE 27 (22,714) (64,490)
Impairment losses on amount due from PEUW AT EE IR
a former director 2B BB 29(c) - (245,300)
Impairment losses on amounts due from FE Uk Al é%?"‘" il
companies controlled by a former director ZATAREZREEE  29(d) (59,857) (28,331)
Reversals of impairment ERESZRERSHNEE
losses/(impairment losses) on BESEZRE 26 &
trade receivables and contract assets OREEE) 29(b) 2,055 (161,796)
Impairment loss on loan receivables EBWE R ZREEE 29(e) (69,150) =
Impairment losses on prepayments BEYE- T E&*’“ﬁ
for purchase of property, plant and kiE %Eﬁ RIB 2 FE AT
equipments and lease prepayments TAIEZ/JWEEE B 11(c) - (108,341)
Impairment losses on other receivables H B R IR KR TR S K
and prepayments Z)JEJHEES?E 11(c) (9,957) (144,894)
Impairment loss on consideration receivable H & — X i B 2 7 FEUX
from disposal of a subsidiary KREZREEE 11(c) - (45,198)
Impairment losses on interest in A\—REELFEZERE
a joint venture 2B BB - (925)
Loss from operations rEEE (100,911) (3,699,196)
Finance costs LS =YD 11(a) (228,359) (242,286)
Share of profits of associates DIREE DT 2R F| 24 2,080 1,378
Share of loss of a joint venture PE—REEDLECER 25 - (2,825)
Loss before tax Bﬁﬁau Eia 11 (327,190) (3,942,929)
Income tax credit EHiKe 12 10,158 59,166
Loss for the year ERER (317,032)  (3,883,763)
Attributable to: BUTN BRI EAG
Owners of the Company VINNETEZ ZSN (316,721) (3,872,815)
Non-controlling interests IR ER (311) (10,948)
Loss for the year FAEE (317,032) (3,883,763)
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Loss per share BREE 16
Basic ¥iN (0.05) (0.62)
Diluted g (0.05) (0.62)

The notes on pages 83 to 347 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mEBEBREMEEKER

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\E
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FHExT FET
Loss for the year FAEE (317,032) (3,883,763)
Other comprehensive income Hit 2wk
Items that may be reclassified to HEEEF 7 EE B EE -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on BESHNEENELREZR
translating foreign operations (16,783) (98,156)
Reclassification adjustments FREEEMEBN
for foreign operations disposed O ERAE
of during the year 3,313 -
(13,470) (98,156)
Total comprehensive loss FREZAEBRERE
for the year (330,502) (3,981,919)
Attributable to: UT&EEWN:
Owners of the Company ARQTBEBA (330,202) (3,970,930)
Non-controlling interests IR (300) (10,989)
Total comprehensive loss FREEEBEHE
for the year (330,502) (3,981,919)

The notes on pages 83 to 347 form part of these financial statements.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBMRRER
2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
My &E FET FE&x
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M HWEREZE 18 708,505 874,565
Lease prepayments HERIFIE 19 - 263,992
Intangible assets BIELEE 20 682,310 1,030,453
Goodwill EmE 21 - -
Right-of-use assets EREEE 22 257,726 -
Investments in associates REEE N T 218 E 24 11,396 9,561
Investment in a joint venture R—REELEZR? 25 - =
Contract assets EHNEE 26 194,481 300,048
Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries W B B BB A B 2 AF K 27 - -
Other receivables and prepayments Hﬂﬂﬁéﬂﬁl MIERFBMNRIE 29 12,478 72,168
Deferred tax assets EEFREEE 41 6,172 10,244
Total non-current assets kRBEEHLE 1,873,068 2,561,031
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 30 11,047 14,622
Compensation receivable FEUQ%WE 28 367,263 =
Trade and other receivables %’i% & H fth E U FRIE 29 564,503 488,489
Contract assets EHNEE 26 21,033 29,444
Bank and cash balances RITRBE 246 31 177,203 273,124
1,141,049 805,679
Assets of a disposal group classified as S EAIFEHE
held for sale ZHEAREE 32 193,834 1,705,463
Total current assets RBEERE 1,334,883 2,511,142
LIABILITIES =N
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B2 REMEBNRE 33 695,981 676,385
Contract liabilities aHaE 34 16,105 14,729
Bank loans IRITEM 35 1,973,848 2,795,108
Other borrowings HiEE 36 252,946 212,296
Lease liabilities HEEE 37 24,288 =
Deposits received for disposal of HEMNBARZEWEE
subsidiaries 38 50,903 415,342
Provisions B 39 75,817 93,167
Dividend payable FEAT IR S, 15 - 60,641
Current tax liabilities BEAR IR & E 47,753 35,150
3,137,641 4,302,818
Liabilities directly associated with HoBABELEEE
assets classified as held BEEZHBAzAE
for sale 32 22,638 411,412
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Cont’d)

mEMBRREK (&

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-NEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M aE FExT TET
Total current liabilities wWREEE 3,160,279 4,714,230
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (1,825,396) (2,203,088)
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERARBEE 47,672 357,943
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 37 11,051 =
Provisions BB 39 - 9,242
Deferred income IEIEU A 40 15,484 16,313
Deferred tax liabilities ELEMRIEEE 41 141,116 182,250
Total non-current liabilities HWERBERS 167,651 207,805
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (BB EEFE (119,979) 150,138
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners KABREBA
of the Company FEAL RE 2=
Share capital &N 42 157,920 157,920
Other reserves HAunfE (269,214) 347
(111,294) 158,267
Non-controlling interests IR S (8,685) (8,129)
TOTAL (DEFICIT)/EQUITY (B4 RERBE (119,979) 150,138

Approved by the Board of Directors on 8 December 2020 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Huang Qing
=E
Director

=S

NR-ZE-ZZEF+-AN\BEKESSi
B THTIHATRREE:

The notes on pages 83 to 347 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERRBER

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRREARENTRE
Share
held under Retained
the Share profits/ Non-
Share Share Capital Statutory Award Exchange  (Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve Scheme reserve loss) Total interests equity
R RETE REER/
e RBEE ERRE EERE ETHERS ERGE (RAEH) & FBRES BEs

HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TER TER TR TER TER TER TR TER TER

1 January 2018 RZE-N\E-f-H 157,920 1,358,084 19,360 248,894 (52,614) (60,833) 2,704,902 4,375,713 2,860 4,378,573
Loss for the year ERES = = z = = - (BAT2815 (72815 (10048 (3883763
Other comprehensive loss Hih2EEE - - - - - (98,115) - (98,115) 1) (98,156)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ ER2EFRAE - - - - - (98,115 (3,872,815  (3,970,930) (10,989)  (3,981919)
Transfer to statutory reserve BRLERE - - - 3,008 - - (3,003) - - -
Shares purchased under RERGRETABERS

the Share Award Scheme (note 44)  (HizE44) - - - - (1,523) - - (1,529) - (1,529)
Dividends declared in respect of RBEFECERNRE

previous years (note 15) (fizH15) - (184,352) - - - - - (184,352) - (184,352)
Dividend declared in respect of the ~ HAEERERNRE

current year (note 15) (F3E15) - (60,641) - - - - - (60,641) - (60,641)
31 December 2018 Z-N\§+zB=t-8 157920 1,113,001 19360 251807 (B4137) (158948  (1,1709%6) 158267 @129 150138
At 1 January 2019 WZE-hE-F-R 157,920 1,113,091 19,360 251,897 (54,137) (158,948)  (1,170,916) 158,267 (8,129) 150,138
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - (316,721) (316,721) (311) (317,032)
Other comprehensive income At 2EKE - - - - - (13,481) - (13,481) 11 (13,470)
Total comprehensive loss ERZEFELAE

for the year - - - - - (13,481) (316,721) (330,202) (300) (330,502)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 45) HENBLR (H45) - - - (15,768) - - 15,768 - (256) (256)
Transfer to statutory reserve EDLTHE - - - 2,790 - - (2,790) - - -
Cancellation of dividends declaredin ~ BUESBAEECERMRE

respect of the previous years (note 15 (Hf&15) - 60,641 - - - - - 60,641 - 60,641
At 31 Decermber 2019 W=2-hE+=A=+-H 157920 1473732 19360 238919 (54137 (172429) (1474650 (111,299 (8685  (119979)

The notes on pages 83 to 347 form part of these financial statements. E83E3UTE MR ZEBHRET 2
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

L _\éiﬁﬁ‘;}ﬁ%%

2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$°000
B E FHExT FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RELKMBREERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax FREIAIES 1B (327,190) (3,942,929)
Adjustments for: KA T BRI
Finance costs & RN 11(a) 228,359 242,286
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss S (E5E) FE (447) 42,150
Interest income F B U A 8 (1,016) (13,647)
Share of profits of associates DAREEE N\ 2 mF (2,080) (1,378)
Share of loss of a joint venture TME—REELEN
g - 2,825
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR Z WS 9 (3,963) -
Depreciation e 18 72,394 233,440
Amortisation of lease prepayments HETEN RIS 19 - 9,221
Amortisation of right-of-use assets EREEEEE 22 28,216 -
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH 20 47,421 90,627
Impairment losses on amount due from a FEW AT EE FIE
former director 2B {EE B 29(c) - 245,300
Impairment losses on amounts due JE W A 2 =5 2
from companies controlled by a ZRNBFRIEZ
former director WERE 29(d) 59,857 28,331
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment EWZEZREREH
losses) on trade receivables and BEZREREE, 26 &
contract assets R {EEERE) 29(b) (2,055) 161,796
Impairment loss on loan receivables EWERZRHEESE 29(e) 69,150 =
Impairment losses on other receivables H 4t & W Rk 18 % TR AT
and prepayments RIEWREEE 11(c)()) 9,957 144,894
Impairment losses on prepayments BEYX BMERZE
for purchase of property, plant and WBNRIERAE
equipment and lease prepayments TR RIERREEE  11(c)(i) - 108,341
Impairment loss on consideration HE—XHEBAF
receivable from disposal of a MR BRI EE 18
subsidiary 11(c)(iii) - 45,198
Impairment losses on payments for Wit B FfY 1B 8 B AT 3K
acquisition of subsidiaries ZREEE 27 22,714 64,490
Impairment losses on interest in a joint R—REEE2
venture R 2 REEE - 925
Impairment losses on intangible assets BEEEREEIE 10 - 521,538
Impairment losses on goodwill AmEZRERE 10 - 168,390
Loss on disposals of property, HEMXE BMERZE
plant and equipment ZEE 9 53 1,390
Impairment losses on property, plant and ME--BEREZE
equipment ZREEE 10 25,774 1,886,135
Impairment losses on lease prepayments HEBENREZ
WEEE 10 - 39,485
Loss on disposal of lease prepayments HERERGREZ
B8 9 - 38,190

80 | CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Cont’d)

%Hr = Iﬁa%ﬁ;% (m%
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\E
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B E FExT FH&xT
Operating profit before working EEEAREEA
capital changes ZEE R R 227,144 116,998
Decrease in inventories FEERD 2,633 3,357
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other BES RHEMERFE
receivables (), m o (29,461) 168,754
Decrease in contract assets EHNEERD 7,849 9,036
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities BHa/dEm Cgd) 1,498 (20,764)
(Decrease)/increase in deferred income IEFE U A (55‘9;2/ 0 (472) 7,328
(Decrease)/increase in provisions BB ORlD)Em (12,473) 106,207
Increase in trade and other payables ESRHEMEMNTRE
18 43,821 338,179
Cash generated from operations REXBMBRSE 240,539 729,095
Income tax paid 2t mE %H (7,997) (71,088)
Net cash generated from RETHRBREFHE
operating activities 232,542 658,007
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETBHFBSRERE
ACTIVITIES
Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries W B B 1 71‘J‘/TA 27 (22,714) (64,490)
Refund of acquisition deposits W IR 2R - 35,889
Payment for purchase of lease prepayments 8 5 & 78 {1 FE U K
and property, plant and equipment ME - BMERSEEZ
EN (102,180) (324,107)
Payment for construction costs B AT (39,098) (45,725)
Increase in restricted bank balances S BRFIRIT AL BRIE I (71,545) -
Proceeds from disposals of property, HENE BMEREZEZ
plant and equipment FriS IR 5,317 332
Proceeds from disposals of lease Hﬂ’%*ﬂ‘é EENE
prepayments T8k 1E - 139,844
Decrease in pledged bank deposits E’%T?‘ SRAT 7 TR D 83,462 838
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE—XHWE QA
T8 ziE 11 (c)(ii) - 22,826
Deposits received for disposal of HEMBARzEWZRS
subsidiaries 38 50,903 400,000
Advance to a former director MTAIESMNER 29(c) (801) (590,533)
Repayments from a former director REBESHER 29(c) 34,298 430,008
Net cash inflow from disposal HEMHB QTS
of subsidiaries ZRERANFE 45 471,488 -
Advance to companies controlled ORI EEEF 2 QAR
by a former director 29(d) (139,595) (118,012)
Repayment from companies controlled AIEEES 2 D AEMR
by a former director 29(d) 112,275 51,972
Advance from/(to) related parties B H B (HEES
B) 14,199 (12,743)
Repayment from related parties RE BB G HER 16,549 -
Finance income received 2B W A 1,016 13,647
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Cont’d)
7 N =1 iﬁ%;}l\ii‘\s«% (/115

2019 2018
=F-NEF TN\
Note HK$’000 HK$°000
B 5 FET FHET
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing R&EBFTE, (FTA)
activities B4 B 413,574 (55,254)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from new bank loans iR 1 fé Fﬁ SFIE 643,804 537,207
Repayment of bank loans EEIRT (1,414,910) (1,081,920)
Proceeds from other borrowings E@f%?ﬁ’\ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂ 36 - 200,113
Repayment of other borrowings HiERZERK 36 (4,465) -
Advance from a non-controlling shareholder B — &R IR R B - 39,946
Capital element of lease payments HENE Zﬁﬁ“fﬁ (13,222) -
Interest element of lease payments HEFRZFED (3,823) =
Payment for purchase of shares under TEBERMDRE u‘l‘é |IET
Share Award Scheme IR 10 Z £ 5K 44 - (1,523)
Interests paid 2R E (166,706) (184,950)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders EAQ FER
of the Company BEEARMSRE - (184,352)
Net cash used in financing activities RMEZTEMARE FE 46 (959,322) (675,479)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERREEEYRD
CASH EQUIVALENTS B8 (313,206) (72,726)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R—A—HHRE
1 JANUARY FREEEY 422,998 518,960
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HEEZSEHTE (2,784) (23,236)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R+=—BA=+—H
31 DECEMBER NWRERREEEY 107,008 422,998
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH RERREEBYNIN
EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances RITRIBEER 31 103,938 186,034
Bank and cash balances included in a AR EABELE
disposal group classified as held for sale ZHEAGZRT
PNEEACAE -3 32 3,070 236,964
107,008 422,998

The notes on pages 83 to 347 form part of these financial statements. FE8IEMTE 2B LR 2
i | ZaN
— &g e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

CT Environmental Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability. The
address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The addresses of its principal places of business in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Hong Kong are 20/F.,
World Trade Centre, 148 Xingang East Road, Haizhu District,
Guangzhou, the PRC and Unit 807, 8/F., Tower 1, Cheung Sha
Wan Plaza, 833 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong
respectively. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the present directors of the Company, Keen Vast
Holdings Limited (“Keen Vast”), a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), is the ultimate holding company
and Mr. Tsui Cham To (“Mr. Tsui”), a former director and former
chairman of the Company, is the ultimate controlling party of the
Company as at 31 December 2019.

e M RRME

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

—REH

FERREBRR AR ([AAF])
A—ERBHERESTMERLZER
A7) o B 5l §¥ 55 5 #h 1k 5 Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands - A E AR
ME (THEDREBNEEE X
Hh B B9 b 1E 53 Bl A P BB N TR Bk
BB RIE1485 IR E 5 020
BREBAERDEBESIBHERY
& E IS 1HI8IE807TE - A A A R
REBHERSERAR (MHR
Frl) EMR LT

RRAH-—BREZRDT - &I
BLRANEEXBENGS PR
RMIEE23 -

AABEETEERE R=ZE-N
F+ZA=+—H BERERER
AT(MEXR] —EREBE L #
E(RBELZHEBE)FIMEILZ
NE)ABREAERLAT MALQF
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) EERDNBREERT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.

Suspension of trading in shares of the Company

At the request of the Company, trading in the shares of the
Company has been suspended since 1 April 2019 as the
Company was unable to publish annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2018 by 31 March 2019.

Comparative information

The corresponding figures disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements are based on the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018. The auditor did not express an audit opinion on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018 as a result of limitation of scope.

CT Environmental Group Limited

Annual Report 2019

2.

(a)

(b)

(c)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(c)

Comparative information (Cont’d)

Certain of the Group’s subsidiaries and senior management
members including the former chairman and director,
Mr. Tsui were charged by the relevant local government
authority in the PRC under criminal proceedings for,
amongst others, the fraudulent issuance of value-added
tax invoices to customers, the illegal disposal of sludge,
the deliberate non-performance of certain procedures when
providing sludge treatment services and environmental
pollution during the period from 2015 to 2018, the details
of which are set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements. The PRC courts delivered judgments against
the Group in three of the four cases in April 2019 and in
April 2020 respectively. Up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, the judgment for the
remaining case has not been made. In this connection, the
present directors were unable to represent the reliability,
completeness and accuracy of the financial information of
these subsidiaries as included in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

In 2017, the local government authorities in the PRC in
which certain of the Group’s subsidiaries were engaged
in wastewater treatment business, supply of industrial
water and the provision of heating services, promulgated
a number of new environmental protection policies which
adversely affected the subsidiaries’ operations. A significant
number of the Group’s customers moved out from the
areas where the subsidiaries’ facilities were situated in the
last quarter of 2017 and early 2018 and since then, the
subsidiaries’ business operations were seriously affected.
No provision for impairment loss on the Group’s property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill held
by these subsidiaries had been made in the year ended 31
December 2017.

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(c)

Comparative information (Cont’d)

Certain books and records of a subsidiary for the previous
years were seized by the local government authority in
June 2018 for investigation purpose and were no longer
accessible, and Mr. Tsui and certain senior management and
staff members of this and certain other subsidiaries were
either arrested in 2018 and charged for, amongst others, the
fabrication and falsification of certain contracts and other
documents or had left the Group and were not contactable.
The former directors and certain senior management
members also took managerial role in other subsidiaries.
Accordingly, the present directors have not been able to
obtain sufficient documentary evidence and explanations
to satisfy themselves regarding the reliability, completeness
and accuracy of the books and records of these subsidiaries
for previous years and whether there are any fraudulently
recorded or unrecorded transactions or liabilities for the year
ended and as at 31 December 2018.

In addition, notes 7(b), 18(a)(ii) and 27(a) to the consolidated
financial statements described that certain of the Group’s
revenue was not substantiated by relevant supporting
documents; the appropriateness of the accounting
treatment of assets without ownership certificates
transferred from Mr. Gu Yaokun, a former director and the
offsetting of the amount due from him; and the impairment
of security deposit of HK$54,189,000 paid to Menghui.

Under these circumstances, the present directors are unable
to represent that the comparative financial information
disclosed in these consolidated financial statements are free
from errors or omissions, or has these complied with the
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards or the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(c)

(d)

Comparative information (Cont’d)

The comparative financial information has not been adjusted
on a basis consistent with that of the current year and
therefore may not be comparable and any adjustments to
the opening balances as at 1 January 2019 would have
significant consequential effect on the financial performance
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
the related disclosure thereof in the consolidated financial
statements.

Going concern

The Group incurred a loss of HK$317,032,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2019 and, as of that date,
its current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$1,825,396,000.

As disclosed in note 36(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, certain of the Group’s other borrowings
together with accrued interest thereon totalling
HK$242,548,000 (2018: HK$197,183,000) as at 31
December 2019 were overdue. The lender took legal
actions against the Group for the repayment of the overdue
debts and obtained judgment from the High Court of Hong
Kong on 17 January 2020. On 20 July 2020, the lender
informed the Company that if the judgment debt together
with interest and costs were not settled by 30 September
2020, the lender shall enforce the judgment and take further
actions including but not limited to winding up the Company
without further notice. Up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, no repayment was made
by the Group and the lender did not enforce the judgement.

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

2. WMUEE(H

(c)

(d)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(d)

Going concern (Cont’d)

As disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s bank loans of HK$1,973,848,000
as at 31 December 2019 were either overdue, in default
or in cross default. In 2017, Mr. Tsui pledged his shares in
the Company. This was a breach of the terms of the loan
agreement with Bank A in Hong Kong, Bank A had therefore
the right to demand full repayment as a result of the breach.
On 10 December 2019, Bank A demanded full repayment
of the bank loans and interests. On 24 February 2020, Bank
A filed a bill of indictment with the Intermediate People’s
Court of Guangzhou (the “Guangzhou Court”), against the
Company as borrower and its fourteen subsidiaries and
Mr. Tsui as guarantor claiming the immediate repayment
of the loan with outstanding interest and legal and other
costs totalling HK$152,868,000. On 17 March 2020, the
Guangzhou Court ordered that the bank accounts and
other assets with a total carrying value of RMB137,278,000
(equivalent to HK$153,243,000) of the Company and its
fourteen subsidiaries be frozen pending the court hearing on
12 August 2020.

The breach of the terms of the loan agreements with Bank
A caused a cross default in loans from other creditor banks.
In addition, the Group either failed to repay the loans
according to the repayment schedule or failed to meet the
financial and other covenants as stipulated in the various
other bank loan agreements. As a result, all the bank loans
totalling HK$1,973,848,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
HK$2,795,108,000) became repayable on demand.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(d)

Going concern (Cont’d)

These conditions, together with the other matters as
described in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate the existence of multiple uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

In order to enable the Group to meet its immediate financing
needs, the Group continues to implement a series of action
plans (the “Action Plans”) and measures which comprise,
inter alia, (i) the disposal of Xintao Investment Co. Ltd and
its four subsidiaries with operations in Guangxi, the PRC,
(i) the negotiation with the Longmen County government
authority for the compensation on early termination of the
BOT project in Longmen County, (iiij the negotiation with
the local government authorities for compensation for the
expropriation of various wastewater, hazardous waste,
sludge and solid waste treatment plants operated by the
Group; and (iv) negotiations with potential investors and
banks for alternative equity financing, refinancing and/
or extension of due dates of the relevant debts, details of
which are set out below:

° On 29 November 2018, the Group entered into
a transfer agreement to dispose of the 50%
equity interest in Xintao Investment Co., Ltd. for
RMB563,000,000 (equivalent to HK$640,469,000).
On 18 December 2019, the Group entered into
another agreement with the same party to dispose
of the remaining 50% equity interest in Xintao
Investment Co., Ltd for RMB620,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$705,312,000). The first and the second disposals
were completed on 3 January 2019 and 19 December
2019 respectively and the details of the disposals
were set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements. The disposal proceeds have been applied,
amongst others, to reduce the outstanding bank loans
of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(d)

Going concern (Cont’d)

On 25 April 2019, the Group entered into an
agreement with an independent third party pursuant
to which the independent third party agreed to inject
RMB98,000,000 (equivalent to HK$109,397,000 as at
31 December 2019) into Zhongshan Haitao in form
of equity and shareholder’s loan which was to be
accounted for as a deemed disposal of part of the
Group’s interest in the equity of Zhongshan Haitao.
The deemed disposal was completed on 20 August
2020 and the details of which are disclosed in note 51
(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

On 22 November 2019, the Group entered into a
supplementary agreement with the Longmen County
government authority pursuant to which both parties
agreed that the compensation for the early termination
of the BOT project in Longmen County shall be
based on a valuation report issued by a professional
valuer recognized by both parties. Up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the valuation was still in progress. On 24 April
2020, the Group received the first installment of the
compensation payment of RMB65,800,000 (equivalent
to HK$73,453,000) from the local government. The
present directors expected that the total compensation
for the early termination would not be less than
RMB329,000,000 (equivalent to HK$367,263,000 as at
31 December 2019).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e MWK (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d) 2. REBEEE(F
(d) Going concern (Cont’d) (d) FHERE (F)

In August 2020, the Group verbally agreed a
repayment schedule with Bank A pursuant to which
Bank A agreed not to demand for the immediate
repayment of the two outstanding bank loans of
HK$208,585,000, accrued interest of HK$7,826,000
(calculated up to 15 May 2020) and legal expenses
of HK$2,800,000 and allow the Group to repay all the
outstanding balances by three installments by 30 June
2021. After the court hearing on 12 August 2020, the
court granted one month’s period for the Company
to execute a written agreement on the repayment
schedule. However, the Group was unable to pay the
first installment under the repayment schedule by 30
September 2020. Up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, no settlement
agreement has been signed with Bank A.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

e M BRRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(d)

Going concern (Cont’d)

The management has been in active discussion with
the local government authorities for reaching an
agreement on the compensation for the expropriation
of the land held by of Guangzhou Lvyou, Guangzhou
Yinglong and Guangzhou Liangang. On 28
September 2020, Guangzhou Lvyou entered into a
compensation agreement with the local government
authority for the expropriation of the land held by
Guangzhou Lvyou pursuant to which a total cash
compensation of RMB1,237,884,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,381,850,000) will be paid to Guangzhou Lvyou
by four installments, the details of which are set out
in note 51(c) to the consolidated financial statements.
Based on the negotiations with the local government
authorities, the present directors estimated that the
compensation for the expropriation of land held by
Guangzhou Yinglong and Guangzhou Liangang would
be approximately RMB259,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$289,122,000) and not less than RMB541,000,000
(equivalent to HK$603,918,000) respectively, totalling
RMB800,000,000 (equivalent to HK$893,040,000).

In November 2020, Guangzhou Lvyou received the
first payment of compensation of RMB247,577,000
(equivalent to HK$276,370,000). The present directors
expected that the first installment of RMB160,000,000
(equivalent to HK$178,608,000), representing 20%
of the total compensation for Guangzhou Yinglong
and Guangzhou Liangang will be received by the
end of the first quarter of 2021 and the balance of
the compensation will be received within the next
two years. The present directors planned to use
the compensation to reduce the bank and other
borrowings and towards the first repayment installment
to Bank A and partial repayment of other bank loans
and other borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
R ME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d) 2. REBEEE(F
(d) Going concern (Cont’d) (d) FHERE (F)

Notwithstanding the breach of the loan covenants
and default in certain repayments, the creditor banks
did not take hostile actions against the Group since
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REFERR HEREA
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of the outstanding bank loans orderly as and when B W ATFAKERA
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and the progress on the Action Plans. The Group has
successfully negotiated with Bank A for a repayment
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)
(d) Going concern (Cont’d)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
on the outcome of the Action Plans which are subject to
multiple uncertainties, including:

i) whether the Group is able to successfully negotiate
with the local government authorities in the PRC for
the compensations for the expropriation of various
wastewater, hazardous waste, sludge and solid waste
treatment plants operated by the Group and early
termination of the BOT project in Longmen County;

i)  whether the Group is able to successfully negotiate
with the lender of the other borrowings and creditor
banks to allow the Group to make repayment or
partial repayment on the amounts due according
to the Group’s expected repayment priority and
to further extend the repayment schedules to the
extent and in accordance with the timetable and
milestones of payments agreed or to be agreed with
the local government authorities in the PRC for the
expropriation of various wastewater, hazardous waste,
sludge and solid waste treatment plants operated
by the Group and compensations to be received on
the early termination of the BOT project in Longmen
County;

iii)  whether the creditor banks will agree not to exercise
their right to demand for immediate repayment in
respect of the Group’s bank loans that had become in
default or in cross default;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(d)

Going concern (Cont’d)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
on the outcome of the Action Plans which are subject to
multiple uncertainties, including: (Cont’d)

iv)  whether the lender of the other borrowings will agree
not to enforce the judgement to wind up the Company;
and

v)  whether the Group is able to seek other financing
resources such as equity financing from potential
investors which in turn depends on whether the Group
is able to resume the trading of its shares on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited which is likely
a condition for obtaining equity finance from potential
investors.

Taking into account the Group’s cash flow projections
prepared by the management, and assuming the successful
implementation of the above measures, the present
directors consider that the Group would be able to finance
its operations and to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due within the next 12 months from the date
of approval of these consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned
Action Plans and measures, it might not be able to continue
to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying amount of the
Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise and to re-classify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities respectively. The effects
of these adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in
associates and a joint venture.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated
at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell
(see note 3(w)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimates are revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 49.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019

EXEFBR

BME=F-AE+=A=+-AL
TEZEANBRESEAAAR
HHEA R (GBI A%EE)RE
EBRYE AR - RAREET
it o

PEMHREREL RAH BR
HfE 8 o

FRBEERGEHEHERET
ZARE(ER N FEMHERS 2B
1B& I8k (RFIE3W)) °

BBBRNBERGTESTBYBRS
ZR BEREEEBFHEEHIRE
RUREE -BFE WARRXH
BRESHENHAE G RBR-Z
SR RABRRIERBEER
EERBEERBRATESENS
HHMEAR  BEARB R EE
EREMRESHNEERBER
HENEEZ -BRERIEHHIRN

ZEhEre

EEEERNERMZEMRIEHR
B AN RN ST EETERT
EXEFELERETNEEE
RIARERIERZPBRER 3
WEERRARRBEIEZE A
SEFHBBRERT R AR
IR o

EEEREAT BV KRG ERBE
HY B RREXNEATE 2 HE
URATT T BEERZZEERFER
Mt 5E 493 4 o

REZEGREMBHRRTEAZE
REFBRHERT X



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are
considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to
the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation
in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Cont’d)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of
the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests and
the equity shareholders of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see note 3(f)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 3(j)(iii)), unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale (see note 3(w)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(b)

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

() the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets
and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain
purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash
generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested annually for
impairment (see note 3(j)(iii).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(c)

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the financial
and operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or
Company and other parties contractually agree to share
control of the arrangement, and have rights to the net assets
of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
under the equity method. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any
excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair
values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the investment
includes purchase price, other costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate or joint venture that forms part of the
Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s
share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see notes 3(b) and 3(j)(iii)).
Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees
and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of
the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(c)

Associates and joint ventures (Cont’d)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest
in the associate or the joint venture, the Group’s interest
is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s
interest is the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with any other long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate or the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint venture
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate or joint control over
a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates and joint venture are stated at
cost less impairment losses (see note 3(j)(iii)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that

use.

()  As alessee

A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single
lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

R ME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d) Leased assets (Cont’d)

()  As alessee (Cont’d)

A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (Cont’d)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of the
lease payments payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined,
using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After
initial recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortised cost and interest expense is
calculated using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period
in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d) Leased assets (Cont’d)

()  As alessee (Cont’d)

A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (Cont’d)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see notes 3(g) and 3(j)(iii)), except for the
following types of right-of-use asset:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

R ME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d) Leased assets (Cont’d)

()  As alessee (Cont’d)

(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (Cont’d)

- right-of-use assets that meet the definition
of investment property are carried at fair
value;

- right-of-use assets related to leasehold
land and buildings where the Group is the
registered owner of the leasehold interest
are carried at fair value; and

- right-of-use assets related to interests in
leasehold land where the interest in the land
is held as inventory are carried at the lower
of cost and net realisable value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d) Leased assets (Cont’d)

()  As alessee (Cont’d)

A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (Cont’d)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or
is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

R ME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d) Leased assets (Cont’d)

()  As alessee (Cont’d)

B)

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the Group
classified leases as finance leases if the leases
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the Group. Leases which did not
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the Group were classified as
operating leases, with the following exceptions:

- property held under operating leases
that would otherwise meet the definition
of an investment property was classified
as investment property on a property-
by-property basis and, if classified as
investment property, was accounted for as if
held under a finance lease; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d) Leased assets (Cont’d)

()  As alessee (Cont’d)

B)

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019 (Cont’d)

- land held for own use under an operating

lease, the fair value of which could not be
measured separately from the fair value of a
building situated thereon at the inception of
the lease, was accounted for as being held
under a finance lease, unless the building
was also clearly held under an operating
lease. For these purposes, the inception of
the lease was the time that the lease was
first entered into by the Group, or taken over
from the previous lessee.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

R ME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d) Leased assets (Cont’d)

()  As alessee (Cont’d)

B)

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019 (Cont’d)

Where the Group acquired the use of assets
under finance leases, the amounts representing
the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the
present value of the minimum lease payments,
of such assets were recognised as property,
plant and equipment and the corresponding
liabilities, net of finance charges, were recorded
as obligations under finance leases. Depreciation
was provided at rates which wrote off the cost
or valuation of the assets over the term of the
relevant lease or, where it was likely the Group
would obtain ownership of the asset, the life of
the asset, as set out in note 3(g). Impairment
losses were accounted for in accordance with
the accounting policy as set out in note 3(j)(iii).
Finance charges implicit in the lease payments
were charged to profit or loss over the period of
the leases so as to produce an approximately
constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining
balance of the obligations for each accounting
period. Contingent rentals were charged to profit
or loss in the accounting period in which they
were incurred.
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mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d) Leased assets (Cont’d)

()  As alessee (Cont’d)

B)

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019 (Cont’d)

Where the Group had the use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under
the leases were charged to profit or loss in equal
instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative
basis was more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives received were recognised in
profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments made. Contingent rentals
were charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they were incurred.

Right-of-use assets are amortised on a straight
line basis over the shorter of lease terms and
estimated useful lives of the assets are as
follows:

Leasehold land 50 years

Leased properties 2-30 years
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRNE (&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d) Leased assets (Cont’d)

(i)

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified
as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-
leases are classified as a finance lease or as an
operating lease with reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease
is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the
exemption described in note 3(d)(i), then the Group
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(e)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see note 3(t)) before being unconditionally entitled
to the consideration under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for expected credit
losses (“ECL”) in accordance with the policy set out in note
3(j)(i) and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see note 3(l)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see note 3(t)). A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would
also be recognised (see note 3(1)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see note 3(t)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

)

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their classification.

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method (see note 3(t)(iv)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

() Other investments in debt and equity securities (Cont’d)

Investments other than equity investments (Cont’d)

fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) - recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments of
principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is achieved
by both the collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity
to profit or loss.

fair value at profit or loss (FVPL) if the investment does
not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of
the investment (including interest) are recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
R ME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3. EXERBUR(#)
() Other investments in debt and equity securities (Cont’d) N REERBAESRz2HMKRE
(#4&)
Equity investments BAERE

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes
an election to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections
are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition of equity
from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is
made, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until
the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
is transferred to retained earnings. It is not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or
FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 3(j)(iii)):

- buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land classified as held under operating
leases (note 3(d)); and

- other items of plant and equipment.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located, and an appropriate proportion of production
overheads and borrowing costs (see note 3(v)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in
progress.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Buildings and other infrastructure held for own use
which are situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
their estimated useful lives, being 20-50 years after the
date of completion.

- Machinery 5-15 years
- Motor vehicles 3 -5 years
- Office equipment and others 3 -10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item
is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of
an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(h)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the costs of materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing costs,
where applicable (see note 3(v)). Capitalised development
costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses (see note 3(j)(iii)). Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated
useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 3(j)(iii)).

The Group recognises an intangible asset arising from a
service concession arrangement when it has a right to
charge for the use of the concession infrastructure. An
intangible asset received as consideration for providing
construction or upgrade services in a service concession
arrangement is measured at fair value on initial recognition
with reference to the fair value of the services provided.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the intangible asset
is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (see note 3(j)(iii)).

CT Environmental Group Limited

Annual Report 2019

3.

EXEFBR(#)
(h J|EEE (FERM)

M EB 2R IR ELDRE
RS - fHEMIBREE
Bt L REE LA BAE
EEHERMEREBRTHR
BT/ RIRMBOEE 2 M
FUER L - ERMLzBAXE
BYRIRA  EEE TURE
B zBEREREER
AN (SEA) (RHFEE3V)) °
Bz BB MATIRAAME
R T RORERE (R
AE3())(iii) ) 51 8 o E A BASXBA ST
DRELHBERERS -

AEBEFKEEEERMEETH
ERFHRNEREE R
R B RRESBYR (R
B EE3() i) ) ©

REENBRMEREEER
R B BB L ERE
ZHEENEFLEE -FAR
BB L LR P RHERRE
FRRBHREMESNEL
BEERNBRIESZRME
BB A FERLFENE-
RIEERR  FEETLEE
BRANERT #ER RHRE
BiRET 8 (REES()(i)) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(h)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Cont’d)

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life of an
intangible asset in a service concession arrangement is the
period from when the Group is able to charge the end users
for the use of the infrastructure to the end of the concession
period. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised from the date they are available for use and
their estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Supply of industrial water operation right

— MEIXAKKER

- Wastewater treatment plants operation rights

—  SKEERELEE

- Sludge and solid waste treatment operation rights
— SREREREYERELSER

- Hazardous waste treatment operation rights

— fRREVEZEEEE

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRNE (&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets

()

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on
the following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents and trade
and other receivables; and

—  contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see note
3(e));

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (that is, the
difference between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables and contract assets: effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate;
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for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3. EXEFHEX (&)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d) ) GEEEREERE(Z)

()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract () ZTHTAREHNEEZ
assets (Cont’d) EEES (&)
Measurement of ECLs (Cont’d) FEEEEBBTTE (&
The maximum period considered when estimating REAFTRHBHEEESER
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which ZECERHEALXE
the Group is exposed to credit risk. EERZEERABZER

BHHE-

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account EEEHEEEE

reasonable and supportable information that is B rAEBRZESER

available without undue cost or effort. This includes EEEMBAMNEHTL

information about past events, current conditions and BEoRASHEHESZ

forecasts of future economic conditions. ERl-SEEREEH
& A AR R AR 3R AR 7 AR
MIBREER -

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases: EHEEEEERTS

Hp—EEEFE:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are - 12EBREHEES
expected to result from possible default events B EHREBEAR
within the 12 months after the reporting date; and Hi% 1218 B R |l gE

BEZENEHM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRNE (&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(0

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

Measurement of ECLs (Cont’d)

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over
the expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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124

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3. EXEgFHERK (&)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d) ) GEEEREERE(Z)
()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract () ZTHTAREHNEEZ
assets (Cont’d) EEES (&)

Measurement of ECLs (Cont’d)

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs
unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any is held). The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRNE (&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(0

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

Significant increases in credit risk (Cont’d)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability
to meet its obligation to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

()

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

Significant increases in credit risk (Cont’d)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as
past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRNE (&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(0

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note
3(t)(iv) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on the amortised cost (that is, the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Cont’d)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRNE (&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(0

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset, lease
receivable or contract asset is written off (either
partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when
the Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to
the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised
within “trade and other payables” at fair value, which
is determined by reference to fees charged in an
arm’s length transaction for similar services, when
such information is obtainable, or to interest rate
differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged
by lenders when the guarantee is made available with
the estimated rates that lenders would have charged,
had the guarantees not been available, where reliable
estimates of such information can be made. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRNE (&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (Cont’d)

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit
or loss over the term of the guarantee as income from
financial guarantees issued.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract and recognises a provision
when ECLs on the financial guarantees are determined
to be higher than the amount carried in “trade and
other payables” in respect of the guarantees (that
is, the amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation).

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes
in the risk of default of the specified debtor since
the issuance of the guarantee. A 12-month ECL is
measured unless the risk that the specified debtor
will default has increased significantly since the
guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL is
measured. The same definition of default and the same
assessment of significant increase in credit risk as
described in note 3(j)(i) apply.

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

3. EXEFEXK (&)

() FEBEREERE (&)

(i)

ERUHBIERZIEE
BB (&)

NpweAL KOER
AEEWANERRE
REPRIBERNEH
REBEHNBEERR
Ao

FEEEEBEEBA
BHONRR XARME
ERONAHEEBER
ERGBRERNIES
REMEBNREIPH
TR (AR EIAEHE
R T ) B AR R
e

AEEBHEEEE
rEESEZEREEGEHR
ABBHERUKRZE
HEMES WETE
12EBACEBEER
B HEEEBEBKAB
BHIERURZENR
By K g 32 00 2 B SR T BR
SN ELERT 0 B e s
ERXREFEH2ERE
B 55 18 o M RE3() (i)
ZHEREHNEEREE
[ B K i@ 4 40 2 48 B 5
{HIZ2EE AR

PERREERRAT
FEHE 2019

131



132

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (Cont’d)

As the Group is required to make payments only
in the event of a default by the specified debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated based on the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit
loss that it incurs less any amount that the Group
expects to receive from the holder of the guarantee,
the specified debtor or any other party. The amount
is then discounted using the current risk-free rate
adjusted for risks specific to the cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

R ME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(if)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may be impaired
or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

- property, plant and equipment including the right-
of-use assets;

- lease prepayments;
- intangible assets;
- goodwill; and

- Interest in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for use and
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3. EXEFHEX (&)
(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d) ) GEEBEAREERE(£)
(i) Impairment of other non-current assets (Cont’d) (i) BEIE R EEEHE
(/f%—.:_
- Calculation of recoverable amount - SETKRE£E
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater EENTURE £58
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value DEAFEREE
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated RAELfE REEM
future cash flows are discounted to their present EPHESE
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects AL EAEER
current market assessments of the time value AETEERBRERE
of money and the risks specific to the asset. TH IR BRBL AT B IR

Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets,

REBERE-M
ZBE B RARE R IR

the recoverable amount is determined for the MIZRITERIBEN
smallest group of assets that generates cash HEEEREES
inflows independently (that is, a cash-generating B R B B TR AR o i
unit). REEENRER
ARBETREER L
REMEENRS
WA BIRL A B L
EERERANK
NEEHAR (BR
SELEBENERE
AT UK [E] B B8 o
- Recognition of impairment losses - WBRBEESE
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss HEERERBN
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash- ReE4XBENNE
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds EEBAEAWE
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses i ARERE
recognised in respect of cash-generating units RBEEE IR
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount SEEBENERN
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating BEBEMS H
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the BERERIED
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit BERSELEN
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except (HEMER) NE
that the carrying value of an asset will not be ABENKREE
reduced below its individual fair value less costs Hezk ol AE
of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if WA HAMEEEN

determinable).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

R ME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(if)

(iv)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Cont’d)

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in
the year in which the reversals are recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group
is required to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting,
in respect of the first six months of the financial year.
At the end of the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see
notes 3(j)(i) and 3(j)(ii).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had the impairment
been assessed only at the end of the financial year to
which the interim period relates.
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(k)

U

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any writedown of inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.
If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset (see note 3(e)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses (see note

30)(@)-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note 3(v)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in
accordance with note 3(j)(ii), trade and other payables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Employee benefits

() Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(p)

(q)

)

Employee benefits (Cont’d)

(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The fair value of shares granted to employees is recognised
as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in a
capital reserve within equity. The fair value is measured
at grant date by reference to the market price of the
Company’s shares.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

)

Income tax (Cont’d)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary differences or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period,
or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

r

Income tax (Cont’d)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions
are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

)

(s)

Income tax (Cont’d)

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

®

Revenue recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has
the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. Revenue excludes value-added tax or other sales
taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer
for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted using
the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction with the customer, and interest income
is accrued separately under the effective interest method.
Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. The Group takes advantage of the
practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does
not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component if the period of financing is 12 months
or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

()  Provision of service

Revenue from the provision of services is recognised
when the relevant services has been provided.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
R ME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(t) Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

(i)

(if)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the goods. If the goods
are a partial fulfilment of a contract covering other
goods and/or services, then the amount of revenue
recognised is an appropriate proportion of the total
transaction price under the contract, allocated
between all the goods and services promised under
the contract on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis.

In the comparative period, revenue from sales of
goods was recognised when the goods were delivered
to the customers’ premises, which was taken to be
the point in time when the customer had accepted the
goods and the related risks and rewards of ownership.

Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group
as a construction contract when the contract relates
to work on real estate assets under the control of
the customer and therefore the Group’s construction
activities create or enhance an asset under the
customer’s control.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is
recognised progressively over time using the cost-to-
cost method, that is, based on the proportion of the
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total
costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

e M BRRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

®

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

(i)  Construction contracts (Cont’d)

(iv)

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual
bonuses for early completion or suffering contractual
penalties for late completion are taken into account
in making these estimates, such that revenue is only
recognised to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be
reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only to
the extent of contract costs incurred that are expected
to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised in accordance with the policy set out in
note 3(s).

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling) that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (that is, gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset
(see note 3())(i)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

®

(u)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

(v)  Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods in which
the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted from
the carrying amount of the asset and consequently
are effectively recognised in profit or loss over the
useful life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation
expense.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost is a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary assets and
liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates fair value was measured.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(u)

(v)

Translation of foreign currencies (Cont’d)

The results of foreign operations are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or construction which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended
use are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing
costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use are interrupted or complete.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBmRME (F)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(w) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations

()

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified
as held for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying
amount will be recovered through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use and the asset
(or disposal group) is available for sale in its present
condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be
disposed of together as a group in a single transaction,
and liabilities directly associated with those assets that
will be transferred in the transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for
sale when the above criteria for classification as held
for sale are met, regardless of whether the Group will
retain a non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after
the sale.

3. EXg

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

STBUR (&)

(w) FHEHEZHRBEERELK
IR R

()

HFIEHEZH B ELE

HIERBEE (HHE
AR 2 BREERE A6
HEBHEXZMIEE
BIFEFAMmMUE A
SEIEABELE
mZz&EE (HHEAH)
RERRTAHEE.
HEARIE-—HEER
Fﬁ REHPH— O
MEZEEERE
?‘i%ﬁﬁﬁ’]ﬁﬁﬂvqux
SHER.

EAEEE® 2 HER
B RAREXWE LA
ZERER TRALE
ERESREERRE
EWE@TZ#?W%

A PN )
ﬁ?&%ﬁ?ﬁAti
DRBBEHE ZRM
BEsEREEHE

PERREERRAT
FEHE 2019

147



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3. EXEEHBKR(£)

(w) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued

(w) FHEHEZHRBEEREK

148

Immediately before classification as held for sale,
the measurement of the non-current assets (and all

operations (Cont’d) IR (F)
() Non-current assets held for sale (Cont’d) () FFIEHEZHnBELE
(&

REEDPBERFELE
Bl ERBEE (RRH

individual assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is EHARZFAEEEBIE
brought up-to-date in accordance with the accounting EREE) ZFERES
policies before the classification. Then, on initial BRI oG BRELE
classification as held for sale and until disposal, H-HERBRDEA
the non-current assets (except for certain assets as BEHERBEZHER
explained below), or disposal groups, are recognised B ERBEE (B
at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value THFEEzETEE)
less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this RHEABZEREE
measurement policy so far as the financial statements RAFEREERKTZ
of the Group and the Company are concerned are BREEVNR - MAEE
deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee S YN Fy & € ai]

benefits, financial assets (other than investments
in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures) and
investment properties. These assets, even if held for
sale, would continue to be measured in accordance
with the policies set out elsewhere in note 3.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for
sale, and on subsequent remeasurement while held
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included in a disposal group that is classified as held BEENEIEAFE
for sale, the non-current asset is not depreciated or HE REMADES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBmRME (F)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(w) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations (Cont’d)

(i)

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of
the Group and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations,
or is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with
a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to
be classified as held for sale (see (i) above), if earlier. It
also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued,
a single amount is presented on the face of the
statement of profit or loss, which comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

- the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell or on
the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s)
constituting the discontinued operation.

for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(x) Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

()  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iliy is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iliy Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

150 | CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
R ME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(x)

Related parties (Cont’d)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Cont’d)

v)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

4.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs and
amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group. Except for HKFRS 16, Lease,
none of the developments have had a material effect on how
the Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior
periods have been prepared or presented.

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4, Determining whether an arrangement
contains a lease, HK(SIC) 15, Operating leases — incentives, and
HK(SIC) 27, Evaluating the substance of transactions involving
the legal form of a lease. It introduces a single accounting model
for lessees, which requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability for all leases, except for leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”) and
leases of low-value assets. The lessor accounting requirements
are brought forward from HKAS 17 substantially unchanged.

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the
financial statements to assess the effect that leases have on the
financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an
entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1 January
2019. The Group has elected to use the modified retrospective
approach and has therefore recognised the cumulative effect of
initial application as an adjustment to the opening balance of
equity at 1 January 2019. Comparative information has not been
restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 17.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to previous
accounting policies and the transition options applied are set out
below:

(a)

New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates to the
concept of control. HKFRS 16 defines a lease on the basis
of whether a customer controls the use of an identified asset
for a period of time, which may be determined by a defined
amount of use. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in HKFRS
16 only to contracts that were entered into or changed on
or after 1 January 2019. For contracts entered into before 1
January 2019, the Group has used the transitional practical
expedient to grandfather the previous assessment of which
existing arrangements are or contain leases. Accordingly,
contracts that were previously assessed as leases under
HKAS 17 continue to be accounted for as leases under
HKFRS 16 and contracts previously assessed as non-lease
service arrangements continue to be accounted for as
executory contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

4. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 4. FEAHITREBEITETEMBRE

154

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to classify
leases as either operating leases or finance leases, as
was previously required by HKAS 17. Instead, the Group
is required to capitalise all leases when it is the lessee,
including leases previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17, other than those short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets which are exempt. For an
explanation of how the Group applies lessee accounting,
see note 3(d).

At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 January 2019),
the Group determined the length of the remaining lease
terms and measured the lease liabilities for the leases
previously classified as operating leases at the present value
of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the
relevant incremental borrowing rates at 1 January 2019. The
weighted average of the incremental borrowing rates used
for determination of the present value of the remaining lease
payments was 10%.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
R ME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

4. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

(b)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Cont’d)

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group applied the
following recognition exemption and practical expedients at
the date of initial application of HKFRS 16:

(i)

the Group elected not to apply the requirements
of HKFRS 16 in respect of the recognition of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets to leases for which
the remaining lease term ends within 12 months from
the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, i.e. where
the lease term ends on or before 31 December 2019;

when measuring the lease liabilities at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, the Group applied a single
discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably
similar characteristics (such as leases with a similar
remaining lease term for a similar class of underlying
asset in a similar economic environment); and

when measuring the right-of-use assets at the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group relied
on the previous assessment for onerous contract
provisions as at 31 December 2018 as an alternative to
performing an impairment review.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

4. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 4,

REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Cont’d) (b)

BRI REERTERMBRSE
= (4F)

AEASTRELERBES
-6 §)

The following table reconciles the operating lease
commitments as disclosed in note 47(b) as at 31 December
2018 to the opening balance for lease liabilities recognised

T 3% 51 MY 5£47 (o) FT 3% B8 7
—E2-\F+ZA=1+—H8W
REHERERR -2 -NF

as at 1 January 2019:

—A—-BRIANEELEHD

BREEZHIER
1 January
2019
—E-hE
—HA—8
HK$'000
F#ET
Operating lease commitments at R=ZF-—N\E+=-A=+—HW
31 December 2018 KEHERE 97,487
Less: commitments relating to leases W EEREE AR CHERENARE:
exempt from capitalisation:
- short-term leases and other leases -~ EHHEERSBRTHER
with remaining lease term ending —E-hAEF+=ZHA=+—H
on or before 31 December 2019 RZAIERZHEMEE (3,005)
— adjustment on commitments - BB T BFBREEZ
relating to a lease contract for AECHE
assets to be expropriated by the
local government (26,698)
67,784
Less: total future interest expenses R B AR (9,467)
Total lease liabilities recognised at R-ZE—-NF—A—BHEIAN
1 January 2019 HEEEHARE 58,317
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

4. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

(b)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Cont’d)

The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously
classified as operating leases have been recognised at an
amount equal to the amount recognised for the remaining
lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in
the statement of financial position at 31 December 2018.

So far as the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 on leases
previously classified as finance leases is concerned, the
Group is not required to make any adjustments at the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16, other than changing
the captions for the balances. Accordingly, instead of
“obligations under finance leases”, these amounts are
included within “lease liabilities”, and the depreciated
carrying amount of the corresponding leased assets is
identified as right-of-use assets. There is no impact on the
opening balance of equity.
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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4. BFAFITREETEBUMBRSE

8
8

(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

4. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 4,

REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

(b)

(c)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Cont’d)

BRI REERTERMBRSE

= (4F)

(b)

The following table summarises the impacts of the adoption
of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated statement of

financial position:

AEASTRELERBES
-6 §)

TRELRMNE BU R REE
16 B A EBRS UK
RRRZHE

Carrying Carrying
amount at Impact on amount at
31 December adoption of 1 January
2018 HKFRS 16 2019
—E-N\F RaEBsnk R-ZB-NF
TZA=+—-8 HEERE165 —A—-H
ZREE A2 ZREE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER TEn TEr
Line items in the consolidated &M BRREFZHH
statement of financial EBMBEREEFE165TE
position impacted by the ZER
adoption of HKFRS 16:
Lease prepayments HERMRE 263,992 (263,992) -
Right-of-use assets EREERE - 309,509 309,509
Total non-current assets kRBEELE 2,561,031 45,517 2,606,548
Provisions (current) B4E (RE) (93,167) 3,558 (89,609)
Lease liabilities (current) HEBE (RE) - (22,702) (22,702)
Current liabilities RBAE (4,714,230) (19,144) (4,733,374)
Net current liabilities RBAETE (2,203,088) (19,144) (2,222,232)
Total assets less current BEERRBEE
liabilities 357,943 26,373 384,316
Provisions (non-current) &% (GERE) (9,242) 9,242 -
Lease liabilities (non-current) HEEE (FRE) - (35,615) (35,615)
Total non-current liabilities ERBEELRE (207,805) (26,373) (234,178)
Net assets EEFE 150,138 - 150,138
Impact on the financial results, segment results and (c) BHEAKEEMKEE DHEE

cash flows of the Group:

After initial recognition of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities as at 1 January 2019, the Group as a lessee
is required to recognise interest expenses accrued on
the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the
depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the
previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the

lease term.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

4. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

(c)

(d)

Impact on the financial results, segment results and
cash flows of the Group: (Cont’d)

In the cash flow statement, the Group as a lessee is required
to split rentals paid under capitalised leases into their capital
element and interest element. These elements are classified
as financing cash outflows, similar to how leases previously
classified as finance leases under HKAS 17 were treated,
rather than as operating cash outflows, as was the case for
operating leases under HKAS 17. Although total cash flows
are unaffected, the adoption of HKFRS 16 therefore results
in a significant change in presentation of cash flows within
the cash flow statement.

Lessor accounting

The accounting policies applicable to the Group as a lessor
remain substantially unchanged from those under HKAS 17.
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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4. BFAFITREETEBUMBRSE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mE M BERRME (
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

4. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Conceptual framework for
financial reporting 2018
HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019

Insurance Contracts’

Definition of a Business?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture®

Definition of Material*

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform?*

Revised conceptual framework for
financial reporting?

COVID-19 related rent
concessions®
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

(Cont’d)

Amendments to annual
improvements project

HKAS 16 (Amendments)
HKAS 37 (Amendments)
HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

Annual improvement 2018-2020
cycle®

Proceeds before intended use®
Cost of fulfilling a contract®

Reference to the conceptual
framework®

Presentation of financial
statements on classification of
liabilities”

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

e Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

= Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

4. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Cont’d)

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a
revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was
issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements
in the foreseeable future.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Cont’d)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

The amendments:

° add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business. The election on whether to apply
the optional concentration test is available on transaction-

by-transaction basis;

° clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set
of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly

contribute to the ability to create outputs; and

° narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by
focusing on goods and services provided to customers and
by removing the reference to an ability to reduce costs.

The amendments are applied prospectively to all business
combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition
date is on or after the first annual reporting period beginning on

or after 1 January 2020, with early application permitted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

4.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Cont’d)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements and HKAS 28 /nvestments in Associates and
Joint Ventures deal with situations where there is a sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture. Specifically, the amendments state that gains or
losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does
not contain a business in a transaction with an associate or a
joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method, are
recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.
Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of
investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has become
an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the
equity method) to fair value are recognised in the former parent’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in the new associate or joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 4,

REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Cont’d)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material
The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material

by including additional guidance and explanations in making
materiality judgments. In particular, the amendments:

° include the concept of “obscuring” material information
in which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the
information;

° replace threshold for materiality influencing users from
“could influence” to “could reasonably be expected to
influence”; and

° include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than
simply referring to “users” which was considered too broad
when deciding what information to disclose in the financial
statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs
and will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2020. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group but may affect
the presentation and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

4.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Cont’d)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform

The amendments deal with issues affecting financial reporting
in the period before the replacement of an existing interest
rate benchmark with an alternative interest rate and address
the implications for specific hedge accounting requirements
in HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement, which require forward-looking analysis. The
amendments modify specific hedge accounting requirements so
that entities would apply those hedge accounting requirements
assuming that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged
cash flows and cash flows from the hedging instrument are
based will not be altered as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform. The amendments also require specific disclosures
about the extent to which the entities’ hedging relationships are
affected by the amendments. There are also amendments to
HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures regarding additional
disclosures around uncertainty arising from the interest rate
benchmark reform.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Cont’d)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“New Framework”) and the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:
o reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

° introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights and
a new liability definition that is likely to be broader than the
definition it replaces, but does not change the distinction
between a liability and an equity instrument;

o discusses historical cost and current value measures,
and provides additional guidance on how to select a
measurement basis for a particular asset or liability;

o states that the primary measure of financial performance is
profit or loss, and that only in exceptional circumstances
other comprehensive income will be used and only for
income or expenses that arise from a change in the current
value of an asset or liability; and

° discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the
reporting entity and combined financial statements.

4,

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

FAFT REERTERMBRSE
= (F)

© 98 5 {8 e R 4 B2 # T )R
RIETEBYBREER (&)

—E-N\FHYBHE AR ([FF
1EH ) R EBRI B & ER F HHE
LR A1 TS ET

HAEZR:
o EHNSIAEERFEZWE

o SIAZFERARBEERAH
EEFEZNENRFEEE
ENHEEESR BFram®
BEERATEZENESR

o HMBAERAREREE
E WHRNAABEEESE
BEETEEERHEIE
gl ;

o IEHUBRRBEIEHEEZES
B& BERNBERERTIE
FAHMEERA BEAR
EEREEREELESBHNIK
INCT:

o HImAHEM RLER R
BEN AHREBRSHUE
EE L

PERREERRAT
FEHE 2019

167



168

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

4.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Cont’d)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“New Framework”) and the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards (Cont’d)

Consequential amendments have been made so that references
in certain HKFRSs have been updated to the New Framework,
whilst some HKFRSs are still referred to the previous versions
of the framework. These amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, with earlier
application permitted. Other than specific standards which still
refer to the previous versions of the framework, the Group will
rely on the New Framework on its effective date in determining
the accounting policies especially for transactions, events or
conditions that are not otherwise dealt with under the accounting
standards.

INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS

In April 2018, the local environmental authorities in the PRC
conducted inspections on certain of the Group’s subsidiaries and
subsequently in 2019, BEMEEREREBR AT Guangzhou
Haitao Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Haitao”), LG ERRBHEBR AT Zhongshan
Haitao Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Zhongshan Haitao”) and EMNmEEMMBEBEER QA
Guangzhou Liangang Vessel Wastewater Treatment Company
Limited (“Guangzhou Liangang”) and certain senior management
members including Mr. Tsui and staff members were charged for,
amongst others, fraudulent issuance of value-added tax invoices
to customers, fabrication and falsification of certain contracts
and other documents, the provision of false data for claiming
environmental subsidies, illegal disposal of sludge, discharge of
wastewater illegally, the deliberate non-performance of certain
procedures when providing sludge treatment services and
environmental pollution during the period varying from 2015 to
2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

An independent investigation committee was formed to conduct
an investigation on the above matters. The investigation
committee composed of the present independent non-executive
directors who are independent of the matters under the
investigation. The details of the cases and the findings of the
investigation are set out below:

The independent investigation committee also conducted an
investigation on the payments to and receipts from Mr. Tsui
and the companies controlled by him, the details of which are
disclosed in notes 29 (c) and 29 (d) to the consolidated financial
statements.

a) Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Liangang Vessel
Wastewater Treatment Company Limited (“Guangzhou
Liangang”) by the local government authority in the PRC

On 9 April 2019, EREEMNTEAIEARKER filed a
bill of indictment against Guangzhou Liangang alleging
that Guangzhou Liangang and its legal representative,
Mr. Xu Juwen, a former director of the Company (a
separate hearing is to be scheduled for Mr. Xu Juwen)
and an accounting staff committed a criminal offence in
the issue of false value added tax invoices to customers
for claiming tax refund and deduction purpose during
the period from January 2016 to December 2017 without
providing any goods or services to its customers. The total
amount of value added tax of the false VAT invoices were
RMB5,650,000 (equivalent to HK$6,448,000).
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5. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

a)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Liangang Vessel
Wastewater Treatment Company Limited (“Guangzhou
Liangang”) by the local government authority in the PRC
(Cont’d)

On 22 April 2019, BEREBEMmEDEAREBR the People’s
Court of Nansha District, Guangzhou City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC (the “Nansha Court”) delivered a
judgment against Guangzhou Liangang and the accounting
staff on the above case and ordered Guangzhou Liangang
to pay a fine of RMB300,000 (equivalent to HK$335,000).
The accounting staff was sentenced to imprisonment with
probation.

In addition, on 9 April 2019, EREEMTEAIBARK
2Pz, filed another bill of indictment against Guangzhou
Liangang alleging that Mr. Xu Juwen, Guangzhou Liangang
and certain of its senior management members committed a
criminal offence of environmental pollution by collaborating
with a third party to deal with hazardous waste treatment
illegally (a separate hearing is to be scheduled for Mr. Xu
Juwen).

On 29 April 2020, the Nansha Court issued its judgment
against Guangzhou Liangang for committing environmental
pollution offences and fined Guangzhou Liangang a sum of
RMB300,000 (equivalent to HK$335,000) (the “Guangzhou
Liangang Judgement”). The senior management members
were sentenced for imprisonment plus penalty. After
reviewing the Guangzhou Liangang Judgment with the
PRC legal advisors, Guangzhou Liangang lodged an appeal
against the Guangzhou Liangang Judgment but Guangzhou
Liangang lost the appeal eventually.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

5. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

a)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Liangang Vessel
Wastewater Treatment Company Limited (“Guangzhou
Liangang”) by the local government authority in the PRC
(Cont’d)

Findings of the investigation

The results of the investigation conducted by the
investigation committee showed that Guangzhou Liangang
issued 13 VAT invoices for a total amount of RMB5,650,000
(equivalent to HK$6,448,000) in 2016 and 2017 to three
companies without delivery of goods nor provision of any
services. The three companies applied tax deduction based
on the fraudulently issued VAT invoices and Guangzhou
Liangang received the same amount of money from the
three companies. The investigation committee is of the view
that the fraudulent issuance of VAT invoices was a one-off
event caused by the former management of Guangzhou
Liangang. All the staff involved in the fraudulent issuance of
VAT invoices no longer have any roles and responsibilities
in the management or operations of any of the Company’s
subsidiaries.

According to the judgement dated 29 April 2020, during
the period from January 2017 to April 2018, Guangzhou
Liangang leased part of the premises and equipment to a
company in Shenzhen (“Shenzhen Party”) for it to operate
the “oil cleaning” business. Shenzhen Party illegally applied
the “sulphuric acid clay method” to clean oil at the site and
illegally provided the hazardous waste (white clay residue)
produced in the oil cleaning process to a third party who
did not possess a business license for such disposal,
causing environmental pollution. The charge for Guangzhou
Liangang was the provision to Shenzhen Party with
services and conveniences to assist and ensure the smooth
operation of Shenzhen Party’s “oil cleaning” business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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5. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

a)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Liangang Vessel
Wastewater Treatment Company Limited (“Guangzhou
Liangang”) by the local government authority in the PRC
(Cont’d)

Findings of the investigation (Cont’d)

Based on the results of the investigation, the investigation
committee noted that Guangzhou Liangang did lease its site
and oil tank equipment to Shenzhen Party and the terms of
the lease contract stipulated that Shenzhen Party should
comply with relevant national laws and regulations for the
use of oil tanks as well as to comply with the relevant safety
regulations and should not use the premises for conducting
illegal business activities. As the responsible accounting
staff had already left, the completeness and correctness of
the record of Guangzhou Liangang’s income from Shenzhen
Party could not be ascertained. The investigation results
indicated that the relevant prima facie evidences show that
() Guangzhou Liangang did provide Shenzhen Party with
additional services other than site and equipment rental.
Guangzhou Liangang believed that it was not to cover up
Shenzhen Party’s criminal acts but only considerations of
customer services and safety. However, the court ultimately
held that Guangzhou Liangang was an accomplice in the
environmental pollution offences; and there was insufficient
information to analyse whether Guangzhou Liangang did
cooperate in hazardous waste disposal by the third party
and the impact on the Group’s financial statements.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

5. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

b)

Legal proceedings against Zhongshan Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Zhongshan Haitao”) by the local enforcement authority
in the PRC

On 15 April 2019, FILTME —TEARMER filed a
bill of indictment against Zhongshan Haitao and certain
senior management members of Zhongshan Haitao (the
“Defendants”) alleging that the Defendants committed a
criminal offence of environmental pollution by discharging
wastewater and sludge illegally during the period from 2015
to June 2018.

On 14 April 2020, the First People’s Court of Zhongshan
City, Guangdong Province, the PRC (EXR&H IL T %
— AR JEBR) delivered a judgment against Zhongshan
Haitao and ordered Zhongshan Haitao to pay a fine of
RMB500,000 (equivalent to HK$558,000) (the “Zhongshan
Haitao Judgment”). The senior management members of
Zhongshan Haitao were sentenced to imprisonment plus
penalty. After reviewing the Zhongshan Haitao Judgment
with the PRC legal advisors, Zhongshan Haitao decided not
to appeal against the Zhongshan Haitao Judgment.

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

5. HHAKEZBFIEARFRR

AE(F)
b) HEIMS A H P ILE

HERAEREARAT ([F 1L
) 2 EEHR

RZZB-AFWMA+EHEB
I EE—h B A RS & 4
FILEE R ILEEE TR
EEAE (TWEDRERXER
S EBEER-ZE-—HFE
—E-N\FARAHBEEHK
BEK KI5 BB IR IR IS FA
ERITe

A—E-_FFMA+TAEH
BEREHRLTE—ARE
B ¥ AR L EE AR T FIR M58
SHILEBBEIFERARK
500,0007t ( #8E 14558,00078
7C) (T WLEEHER]) o
W ESREBEAEHHA
W BINE R L E P EREE
FERSZ R LS EHRE -
LR R E N AR LS SR
BH EFe

PERREERRAT
FEHE 2019

173



174

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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5. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

b)

Legal proceedings against Zhongshan Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Zhongshan Haitao”) by the local enforcement authority
in the PRC (Cont’d)

Findings of the investigation

According to the judgement dated 14 April 2020, since
2015, the representative of Zhongshan Haitao allowed and/
or acquiesced the then plant manager in the arrangement
of employees to discharge unprocessed sewage and
sludge through concealed pipes and modified the online
monitoring data. Therefore, Zhongshan Haitao was
convicted of the environmental pollution offence. The
management of Zhongshan Haitao acknowledged that the
concealed pipes were arranged by the then plant manager
who authorised and arranged employees to carry out
the process. Zhongshan Haitao and the Group were not
aware of the illegal discharge of unprocessed sewage and
sludge through concealed pipes and the modification of the
online monitoring data. The relevant government authority
has completely dismantled the concealed pipes and the
clear water pipes used to inject clean water to dilute the
sewage and interfere with the online monitoring data. The
investigation results showed that Zhongshan Haitao did
illegally discharge sewage and sludge and interfered with
the online monitoring data. However, there was insufficient
information to ascertain the volume of sewage and sludge
Zhongshan Haitao had discharged at the material times
and the amount of online monitoring data being modified
or to quantify the relevant impact on the Group’s financial
statements as a whole.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

5. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

c)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Haitao”) by the local government authority
in the PRC

In October 2018, the Ministry of Ecology and Environment
of the PRC made allegations against Guangzhou Haitao for
illegal disposal of sludge, the deliberate non-performance
of certain procedures when providing sludge treatment
services and suspected forgery of the seals of state
authorities.

Guangzhou Haitao was alleged for having received sludge
in excess of its treatment capacity and has deliberately
excluded certain procedures when providing sludge
treatment services in order to reduce costs. It was also
alleged that since 2016, through collusion with other
wastewater treatment plants, Guangzhou Haitao had
provided false data for the purpose of obtaining local
government subsidies.

The allegations were investigated by the relevant local
government authority in the PRC. In the meantime,
Guangzhou Haitao paid administrative penalties and
performed certain remedial work as required by the
relevant environmental protection bureau. Certain books
and records were seized by the local government authority
for the purpose of conducting an investigation on the
matter and RMB75,000,000 (equivalent to HK$83,723,000)
(2018: equivalent to HK$85,598,000) was paid to the local
government authority, the recoverability of which will be
subject to the outcome of the investigation and subsequent
court decision.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

5. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

c)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Haitao”) by the local government authority
in the PRC (Cont’d)

On 23 April 2019, BREEMN ™ A RMWEER filed a bill
of indictment against Guangzhou Haitao, certain senior
management members of Guangzhou Haitao, Mr. Tsui and
Mr. Xu Shubiao, a former director alleging that they had
committed certain criminal offences, including the deliberate
non-performance of certain procedures when providing
sludge treatment services, and disposing of sludge
illegally in various cities in Guangdong and fabrication
and falsification of certain contracts and other documents
during the period from 1 January 2016 to 31 March 2018.
According to the bill of indictment, amongst others,
Guangzhou Haitao was accused of having recognised
sludge treatment service fee income of RMB174,261,000
(equivalent to HK$198,884,000) but without completing
all necessary sludge treatment procedures and disposed
of the sludge illegally during the period from 1 January
2016 to 31 March 2018. In addition, Guangzhou Haitao
was also charged for the issuance of false documents for
claiming environmental subsidy totalling RMB7,770,000
(equivalent to HK$8,868,000) illegally and receiving illegal
sludge treatment service fee of RMB9,051,000 (equivalent
to HK$10,330,000). The court hearing has been conducted,
However, up to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, no judgment has been made by the
relevant court.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

5. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

c)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Haitao”) by the local government authority
in the PRC (Cont’d)

Findings of the investigation
Suspected forgery of seals of state authorities

The seals of state authorities were found in a co-working
space which is a common area that can be accessed
by personnel of the Group and by employees of a non-
listed affiliated company. Therefore, it is hard to ascertain
which party held or owned the forged official seals at the
time when they were found on spot. The statement of
claim issued by the People’s Procuratorate of Guangzhou
City, Guangdong Province (the “Procuratorate”) showed
that neither Guangzhou Haitao nor the Company was
prosecuted for forging official seals of the state authorities.

In light of the abovementioned and relevant prima facie
evidence, there is no concrete evidence to prove that
Guangzhou Haitao and the Company were involved in
forging the seals of state authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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5. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

c)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Haitao”) by the local government authority
in the PRC (Cont’d)

Findings of the investigation (Cont’d)

Deliberate non-performance of certain procedures when
providing sludge treatment services and disposing of sludge
illegally

The management stated that Guangzhou Haitao adopted
another sludge treatment process (the “Adopted Process”)
which shortened the time required for sludge processing
and increased efficiency. The Adopted Process is included
in the “Sludge Disposal Technology Policy and Guidelines”
issued by the State as a permitted sludge treatment
process. According to the industry expert engaged in the
investigation, the State has no unified process for sludge
disposal and the requirements of sludge treatment process
vary according to the ultimate use of sludge. The treatment
plant shall determine the most appropriate treatment
process depending on the sludge itself. According to the
legal advisor of Guangzhou Haitao, the accusation of
environmental pollution offence is unfounded as the sludge
disposed of by Guangzhou Haitao was anaerobic nutrient
soil, which met the standards of agricultural sludge and
would not lead to environmental pollution. The dumping site
contained sludge other than Guangzhou Haitao’s, and other
third parties who piled up construction waste at the same
location. Notwithstanding Guangzhou Haitao changed the
sludge treatment process, there was not enough prima facie
evidence to support that the sludge treatment process and
procedures of Guangzhou Haitao are inappropriate which
led to the litigation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

5. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

c)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Haitao”) by the local government authority
in the PRC (Cont’d)

Findlings of the investigation (Cont’d)

Issuance of false documents for claiming environmental
subsidy totalling RMB7,770,000

The management of Guangzhou Haitao confirmed that
Guangzhou Haitao had collaborated with its customers
(the “Zhengcheng Sewage Plants”) to manipulate the
sludge treatment volume. According to findings of the
investigation, the Zhengcheng Sewage Plants requested
Guangzhou Haitao to manipulate the sludge treatment
volume by informing Guangzhou Haitao the volume to be
recorded and Guangzhou Haitao would then produce the
related records for the Zhengcheng Sewage Plants. The
management of Guangzhou Haitao stated that they were
unclear about how the amount of RMB7,770,000 (equivalent
to HK$8,868,000) was calculated. According to the industry
expert, the environmental protection subsidy was paid by
the government to the Zhengcheng Sewage Plants directly
but not paid to Guangzhou Haitao.
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5. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

c)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Haitao”) by the local government authority
in the PRC (Cont’d)

Findings of the investigation (Cont’d)

Receiving illegal sludge treatment service fee of
RMB9,051,000

Guangzhou Haitao together with a third party (the “Third
Party”) signed two contracts with the local government
authority in providing river dredging, sludge transportation
and disposal, and river maintenance services for the Yonghe
River in Zengcheng District of Guangzhou City for three
years. The contract sum was RMB47,605,000 (equivalent
to HK$54,332,000). The management of Guangzhou
Haitao stated that the purpose and scope of the project
were mainly the river excavation and dredging and sludge
disposal is not the main service required. Guangzhou
Haitao did not weigh the sludge dredged from the river as
there was no such requirements stated in the contracts.
In order to meet the additional requirements subsequently
added for processing of payment by the local government,
Guangzhou Haitao estimated the amount of sludge
dredged and then prepared the “Weighing List” which
was subsequently stated in the indictment as fabricated
documents. Guangzhou Haitao changed the sludge
treatment process to the Adopted Process as Guangzhou
Haitao believed that the river sludge could be treated by
the Adopted Process. However, Guangzhou Haitao did not
report to the local government in advance about the change
in the treatment process. The management of Guangzhou
Haitao stated that Guangzhou Haitao has no intention to
deceive the other parties under the contract and the breach
of contracts is of civil in nature instead of a criminal offence.
According to the investigation result, the local government
paid the Third Party a sum of RMB33,323,000 (equivalent
to HK$38,032,000). After deducting of management fee, tax
and other costs, the Third Party paid Guangzhou Haitao a
total sum of RMB30,629,000 (equivalent to HK$34,957,000)
under the contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

5. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

c)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Haitao”) by the local government authority
in the PRC (Cont’d)

Given the above circumstances and that certain books and
records of Guangzhou Haitao for the previous years were
seized by the local government authority for investigation
purpose and were not accessible and that Mr. Tsui and
certain senior management and staff members of certain
subsidiaries were either arrested in 2018 and charged for,
amongst others, the fabrication and falsification of certain
contracts and other documents or had left the Group
and were not contactable, the present directors have not
been able to obtain sufficient documentary evidence,
information and explanations to satisfy themselves
regarding the reliability, completeness and accuracy of the
books and records of these subsidiaries for the previous
years and whether there are any fraudulently recorded or
unrecorded transactions or liabilities for the year ended
and as at 31 December 2018. The financial information
of the above subsidiaries including, amongst others,
revenue of HK$187,562,000 and loss of HK$671,726,000
was consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018. The
former directors and certain senior management members
also took managerial role in other subsidiaries in the
previous years. As a result, the present directors were also
unable to represent the completeness and accuracy of the
financial information of these other subsidiaries.

Details of other litigations in which the Group was a party
are disclosed in note 50.
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,
namely, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(a)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk
as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in HK$ and Renminbi (“RMB”),
that is, the functional currency of the Company and of the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries respectively. However, as the
principal subsidiaries mainly carried out transactions in
RMB, therefore, any appreciation or depreciation of HK$
against RMB will affect the Group’s financial position and
be reflected in exchange reserve. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

CT Environmental Group Limited

Annual Report 2019

SHAREERSMIENAT
&

REEXBAZEES AR 8
SNERBR - FERR RBESR
e % ) = e B o AN SR B O BE BB L B
EEF BTN T ISEERR
N URSREERIHLE
B BRRAEERN TR -

(@) IERR

HRAMBDEBRZ BE
REBEEEUBTIRARYE
(TARBD(ARQXARAE
20 Bl iz o B B B 1 B) iz Thige
E¥)IE BMAKEMEAZ
H9 SN EE LB B B o AT AR
TEMBRAREEUAREE
TR -BEk-BTRARE
ZIEMAERRESZERE
B2 BA RS AR - 36548 OB 5
B R A EE AL ER
HERG BEREERII
EHIPER - AEE R BRZE
EHIMER  WHENFEER
ZEEHERINE RS



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation
to its trade and other receivables, contract assets, loan
receivables and cash deposits at banks. The carrying
amounts of trade and other receivables, contract assets,
loan receivables, cash and cash equivalents and restricted
cash represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk
associated with cash deposits at banks since they are
substantially deposited at state-owned banks and other
medium or large-sized listed banks. Management does not
expect that there will be any significant losses from non-
performance by these counterparties.

For trade receivables, contract assets, loan receivables and
other receivables, including the amounts due from Mr. Tsui
and the entities controlled by him, the Group has monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverability of these receivables at the end of each
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts.

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
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6. TREAREEREMIAMNAT
' (%)

(b)

FERR

FERBESFIEREN
BERRAKEERMBEKX
MRk AEEHEEEEE

REMEWRIE - EHNEE-
FWRERRBITREFREH
ZEERR - B5 R AMER
RE-GHNEE - BRER.
REeRREEERBURZR
FRENREAED A RERZ
STREEARNRSEER
B o

REBFEHWMERTRER
REENERGEERR BA
ZEFHRELR L FABERIT
UREMAHRE EHiRIT-E
BEEEMTEHRZEHFS
ABEHNEHENEREGROE
e

HRESEURE -SHEE-
W ERR MR (8
RRRGREEREEZES 288
ZRE)ME AEETBE
B2 UHERREURE R
Wy 1 JE A R A o b S AR HR
R ARERNZERER
SRR AU E 1 - AR AR BT
AR @£ RR R R ARERE
2o

PERREERRAT
FEHE 2019

183



184

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Credit risk (Cont’d)

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as
at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

° credit rating;

° actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
customer’s ability to meet its obligations;

° actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the debtor/customer;

° significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the customer, including changes in the
payment status of customer in the Group and changes
in the operating results of the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRNE (&

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Credit risk (Cont’d)

()

Other receivables

The credit risk of other receivables, including the
amount due from Mr. Tsui, amounts due from entities
controlled by Mr. Tsui and amounts due from other
related companies, are managed through internal
process of the Group. The Group actively monitors
the outstanding amounts owned by each debtor and
identifies any credit risk in a timely manner in order
to reduce the risk of a credit related loss. In addition,
the Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately
providing for expected credit losses. In calculating
the expected credit loss rates, the Group considers
historical loss rates for each category of receivables
and adjusts for forward looking macroeconomic data.

Details of the amount due from Mr. Tsui and the
amounts due from companies controlled by Mr. Tsui
are set out in notes 29(c) and 29(d) respectively. At the
end of the reporting period, the present directors of
the Company have assessed the financial conditions
of these debtors, and took appropriate action where it
was concluded that there has been significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition of the amounts
due from Mr. Tsui and entities controlled by him.
Accordingly, the loss allowance for these receivables is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Credit risk (Cont’d)

()

(i)

Other receivables (Cont’d)

In assessing the probability of defaults of the
amounts due from Mr. Tsui and entities controlled
by him, the management has taken into account the
financial position of the counterparties as well as
forward looking information that is available without
undue cost of effort. Since the counterparties have
financial difficulties with high level of debt and have
defaulted the repayments to their other creditors,
the management considered that the recoverability
of these receivables is remote and fully impaired the
outstanding amounts without subsequent settlement.

Loan receivables

For the loan receivables as detailed in note 29(e)
to the consolidated financial statement, the Group
recognised lifetime ECL based on significant increase
in the likelihood of risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition. After considering the adverse
changes in business of the borrower since initial
recognition that caused a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations and that the
borrower had failed to repay the loans when they
became due, the present directors of the Company
considered that the recoverability of the overdue
loan receivables was remote and fully impaired the
outstanding balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 6. THMEREEREMIAENAFE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) B (%)
(b) Credit risk (Cont’d) b) EERR (&)
(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (i) BZERFEREHE

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables and contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables and contract assets have been grouped
based on aging. For trade receivables relating to

E

REBERAELHN T E
ME BB HRE LA
ERENEBEEEE
STRREE ZER R
MTEE S BRFRIER
BHEERAEFESR
B E R

RITERHEEBE"
EERURERENE
ERBREIA-ER

accounts which are long overdue with significant Hi@HEI B KB 2 A
amounts, known insolvencies or non-response to EREEREEENER
collection activities, they are assessed individually for BEEBEMNEZEWRRIE
impairment loss. BRI ARE

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales and the corresponding historical
credit losses experienced. The historical loss rates
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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6.

(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 6. SEAEAREEREMIAENLT
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) & (%)
Credit risk (Cont’d) (b) EERE (&)
(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (Cont’d) (i) BZERFERSHE
E (#&)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December BRUEKEE R-_ZT—H
2019 was determined as follows for trade receivables F+= H =t+t—H#E
and contract assets: SEWFEREGHNEE
%EE’JEE?”??NEZZDT
Contract asset Trade receivables
SHEE BARYRAE
Days past due Days past due
PN | kPN |
Current Current 1-0days  91-360 days Over 1 year Total
k] L 12908 9123607 BB-E h
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T ER TRR TR R FER
31 December 2019 ZE-nE+ZA=1-8
Provision on incicual basis EHEHEEZ R
Expected loss rate AlEEE 10%  NATER  NATER 100.0% 100.0% 704%
(Gross carying amount REELE 72,99 - - 1,648 169,200 243,844
Loss allowance FERfE 757 - - 1,648 169,200 171,605
Provision on collective basis EREFEEZRE
Expected loss rate AlEEE 00% 25% 41% 8% 04% 29%
Gross carmying amount FHELSE 143,275 115,756 49,11 12407 12,384 333,593
Loss allowance FERRE - 2894 2,051 968 3,608 9516
31 December 2018 “2-N\E+ZA=1-H
Provision on indilial basis BHERE A
Expected loss rate RHEEE 10% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 69.6%
Gross camying amount FHELE 77459 581 2563 4517 9,829 251,949
Loss allowance FERE 175 581 2,563 74517 96,829 175,265
Provision on collective basis BHATREZ A
Expected loss rate RHEEE 0.0% 20% 3.7% 6.0% 27.2% 2.5%
Gross canying amount ERELE 252,808 143,024 60612 3,030 21,91 515,565
Loss allowance EERG - 2,860 2250 2282 5745 13,137
Trade receivables are written off when there is no ETEFEESETREE
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that HR B - il SH 2 5 R WK
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, HeAFEAREBEHNE
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to agree a EBEEPTFREIE (4
repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make BIE) G AEEEARE
contractual payments for a period of greater than 3 EERENE J&ﬁﬂi\ %’
years past due without positive response to collection MAEHBB=FMNR
activities. 1’? H:'u = ,\’J ﬁ A ¥T TE '451
Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract B 5 EWE IE}SZ/\%’J’Q
assets are presented as impairment losses within ENRAEEERKLE R
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts FAR2HERBEEE-
previously written off are credited against the same line H % W B 5L A Hl 880 <
item. et AR —EBTHE
He
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
R ME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Credit risk (Cont’d)

HE=F— N +=f=t—FILEE

6. TREAREEREMIAMNAT

' (%)

(b) FEERM (&)

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (Cont’d) (i) EBZEWRFEARSHE
E (&
Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of FRNEBEKREZFHE
trade receivables during the year are as follows: ZEERBEBIRESE M
T
2019 2018
—EB-NF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$°000
THET FET
At 1 January R—AB—H 187,627 33,907
Impairment losses recognised ~ FRER ZREEE
for the year - 162,267
Reversals B E (2,055) (1,274)
Exchange differences EHE% (5,208) (7,273)
At 31 December R+=—BA=+-—H 180,364 187,627
As at 31 December 2019, the Group had concentration R—ZE-NE+=A
of credit risk as 62.2% (2018: 64.0%) of the total =+—HB XAXEBHE
trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest FEETRRE BRE

(iv)

customer and 66.8% (2018: 67.9%) of the total trade
receivables were due from the Group’s five largest
customers.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees
which would expose the Group to credit risk.

(iv)

S RIEHARE262.2%
(ZE—NF:64.0%)
AEWAEEZRERE
Fo-mEKRE S REHA
¥ 266.8% (=ZZE— N
F:67.9%)BEWRAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short term investment of cash surpluses and raising
of loans to cover cash demands, subject to approval
by the Company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions, to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay.

6. TREAREEREMIAMNAT

B (#)
(€ RBELER

REBAELNEEEREASSR
HESGHNHREER BELR
TERBEERRE URES
EXUmERRREER H
E 18 7B H B HE AV K
FAERESARRESS
HE-FEBzBRRERE
ZRARAPNRBEETE
LR HETERRHRZBER
LIRS R IR SRR e
TEERIMBIG R B AR
EXE mERBRRBZR
BEEFEE-

TRAJREBWFITES R
BEZHNBRENFH - ZRR
BAKERENNRFERANZ
JeRMBBERMRESRER
#lo

On demand Total
or undiscounted
less than Between Between Over cash Carrying
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years flows amount
REXS AERES
PIME 122F 2E5%F BiB5E REBHE BEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-NF
+=ZA=+-H
Bank loans RITER 1,973,848 - - - 1,973,848 1,973,848
Other borrowings HifER 252,946 - - - 252,946 252,946
Lease liabilities HEEE 26,463 8,146 4,519 1,778 40,906 35,339
Trade and other payables ESREMERTRE 643,746 - - - 643,746 643,746
Deposits received for disposal of HEHB A A 2 E KRS
subsidiaries 50,903 - - - 50,903 50,903
2,947,906 8,146 4,519 1,778 2,962,349 2,956,782
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\F
+=ZA=+-H
Bank loans RITER 2,795,108 S S - 2,795,108 2,795,108
Other borrowings HEibfE R 212,296 - - - 212,296 212,296
Trade and other payables BAREMENFE 606,383 - - - 606,383 606,383
Deposits received for disposal of HEHB AT 2B Wiz
subsidiaries 415,342 - - - 415,342 415,342
Dividend payable ERRE 60,641 = = = 60,641 60,641
4,089,770 - - - 4,089,770 4,089,770
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 6. SHEAREERGMIANLTF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) B (%)
(d) Interest rate risk (d) FIZEmEpk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank REBWFZR R ETERBIR
loans issued at variable rates, which expose the Group to FEANRBENBRTER F
cash flow interest rate risk. AEEHBRESARREZAMR
Interest rate profile FIZEEF
The following table details the interest rate profile of the TERAMKEFRHEER 2
Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting period: SRR EREAN
2019 2018
—g-1E —g-)\F
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BRF= kS
% HK$’000 % HK$’000
TET TEr
Fixed rate borrowings: EERER:
Lease liabilities (note) HESE (M) 10.0 35,339 - -
Other borrowings HifER 0.0-30.0 252,946 0.0-30.0 212,296
288,285 212,296
Variable rate borrowings: FEER:
Bank loans BITEX 3.70-11.30 1,973,848 3.70-6.37 2,795,108
1,973,848 2,795,108
Total borrowings B 2,262,133 3,007,404
Fixed rate borrowings as T L N
a percentage of total borrowings ERERERERZEAL 12.7% 71%
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified Mzt : REBECFE HEETEHE
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at ML FERE B IR E AR
1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases F1655 WHABR == —H
which were previously classified as operating leases under FE-—B—BzEP&ER L
HKAS 17. Under this approach, the comparative information is EREANRES ST ER
not restated. See note 4. BT EAREREZH

EHBEcHESE - RIELL
T WEBIILBER - FF
RHfaE4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2019, it is estimated that a general
increase 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have increased the Group’s
loss after tax for the year by approximately HK$19,433,000
(2018: HK$27,608,000), mainly as a result of higher finance
costs on bank loans. The impact on the Group’s loss
after tax is estimated as an annualised impact on interest
expense of such a change in interest rates. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2018.

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position approximate their respective fair values.

SHMAREERSMIENAT
o (#)

(d)

(e)

NEmEMRE (&)

RZE-AE+=ZRA=+—
B st R =ZEE F FH1001E
HE MArBHEMEEHEET
B REBERNRBREBEEG
#IN#19,433,00008 T (=&
— \ £ : 27,608,000 7T ) -
FTEHNBTERRRE KA
BN E - $AREBE R EE
B EtTAEEAERES
HAEBRYXHNEELLEZE -5
WEEE_Z— \FHE -

AFE
R A BIAR % R 2 A

SEcRHEENRERBEZK
HEEAESEEZAFERSE-

() Financial Instruments by Category ( ZERESSZEWMIA
2019 2018
—E-NE —EBE-N\EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FBT
Financial assets EREE
At amortised cost 778 £ ) OIN
— Trade and other receivables -BSRHEMEWFIE 524,191 449,940
- Compensation receivable —B Uk E 367,263 =
— Bank and cash balances —RTRBE LR 177,203 273,124
1,068,657 723,064
Financial liabilities o =
At amortised cost 17 E1- 0N
— Lease liabilities —-HHEaE 35,339 =
- Bank loans —RITER 1,973,848 2,795,108
- Trade and other payables -BSRHEMENRIE 643,746 606,383
— Other borrowings —HEX 252,946 212,296
— Deposits received for disposal of -HEMNBARZ
subsidiaries glkize 50,903 415,342
- Dividend payable —-BEARE - 60,641
2,956,782 4,089,770
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

(@) Revenue

(0

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WERESEBER
g
Disaggregation of revenue () WzEE5
Revenue represents the revenue from the supply of KRIERBHEIEA
industrial water, the provision of wastewater treatment 7J< RMETSKEERE
plants operation services, heating and electricity BERK HARRE
generation services, sludge and solid waste treatment H}ﬁ% SERKREEREY
services, hazardous waste treatment services, BOT BEERE CBREVE
project construction services, BOT project operation AR -BOTIE B 2Rk
services and finance income. #% -BOTIHE & ERKER
REUWA
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REBRESNEFE
customers by service lines is as follows: N E DT
2019 2018
—EB-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Revenue from contracts with & & Bf 7§ 3% & % B 551553
customers within the scope BEERANEFESHWE
by HKFRS 15 i
Recognised at a point in time R — b5 2] B 5%
Disaggregation by service lines 2R 45 &%
- Revenue from supply of —ETERAKz KGR
industrial water B 22,987 48,210
- Revenue from provision of —RETKEEREEERE
wastewater treatment plants Z W
operation services , o 207,430 268,688
- Revenue from BOT project -BOTIEHHEERBE 2 W=
operation services 39,335 40,582
- Revenue from provision of —“REERRBERBE 2 W
heating and electricity
generation services - 177,202
- Revenue from provision of —RETEREREYRE
sludge and solid waste R 7% = Us &
treatment services 169,493 320,669
- Revenue from provision of —REGEEYEE RS
hazardous waste treatment Al E
services 397,679 281,578
836,924 1,136,929
Income from other sources At 5 R YA
Recognised over time BEBF AR
- Finance income —REWA 13,485 16,069
850,409 1,152,998
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(a) Revenue (Cont’d)

(i)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at
the reporting date

The aggregated amounts of transaction price allocated
to the remaining performance obligations under the
Group’s existing contracts at the end of the reporting

7.

WaERESEHER (H)
(a) Wz (&)
() REEEAHFENEFES
BRI EE AL AEME
N e

RE\EHR 2EER
SERBESNETRER
BHREENXZEERR

period are as follows: AT :
2019 2018
—2-nE —B-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTART FHET
Expected to be recognised Fit—FABRIARK
within one year 47,394 49,561
Expected to be recognised it —FRERAR
after one year 531,019 614,805
578,413 664,366

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(b)

Segment reporting

The Group manages its business by divisions, which
are organised by business lines. In a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally
to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has presented the following 6
reportable segments. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

1)  Supply of industrial water: this segment supplies
industrial water

2) Provision of wastewater treatment plants operation
services: this segment operates wastewater treatment
plants under Build-Own-Operate (“BOQ”) arrangement

3) BOT project construction and operation services: this
segment constructs and operates wastewater and
solid waste treatment plants under Build-Operate-
Transfer (“BOT”) arrangement to generate revenue
from construction, operation services and finance
income

4)  Provision of heating services and electricity generation:
this segment provides heating services and electricity
generation

5)  Provision of sludge and solid waste treatment services:
this segment provides sludge and solid waste
treatment services

6) Provision of hazardous waste treatment services: this
segment provides hazardous waste treatment services

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

7. WHEESBEH (&)

(b)

DEW2H

REBIRIM (RFEK D A
R)EEER REBEIZRER
ERIBERRBEFT GRAER
BESTHEBAERIBZHRE
BARX—BHARX 25UT
eI iﬁ’\*ﬁ o L A AE 7T
K ERELE LU T 5 7]
Z2FHDE o

1) HEIZERAK: DR
AT E MK

2) RETFTKEERIE
EERK: &tﬁ%ﬁ*ﬁ
BER-%H-
(FBOOJ)?ETJF?-%E?‘R
BRI

3) BOTEEEZK "“LHE
i’% Et“*ME}FL
%%x(FBOTJ)zz
WL&& LE*&@
BEEYEERE LB
@prLHH%u&mm
BRAEE WS

4) ?E{ HEARBREE:
It 7 BB R A 20 PR 7S I
BE

5) ?ﬂ\/’:‘/}l’s&lﬁ’ﬁ%%)@
ERH o MR
DEYSAEL J%#@FEIEHH%

6) REEREYEER
oo MR R E
Y iR 32 AR 7%
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mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

7.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(b)

Segment reporting (Cont’d)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results attributable to
each reportable segment on the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments. However,
other than reporting inter-segment sales of wastewater
treatment plants operation services, sludge and solid waste
treatment services and hazardous waste treatment services,
assistance provided by one segment to another, including
sharing of assets, is not measured.

The Group’s senior executive management is provided
with segment information concerning segment revenue and
profit. Segment assets and liabilities are not reported to the
Group’s senior executive management regularly.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
EBITDA” that is, “adjusted earnings before share of
profits of associates and a joint venture, finance costs,
taxes, interest income, depreciation and amortisation,
impairment losses on non-current non-monetary assets,
gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net foreign exchange gain/
(loss)”. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA the Group’s earnings
are further adjusted for items not specifically attributed to
individual segments, such as directors’ remuneration and
other head office or corporate administration costs.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as
provided to the Group’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of resources allocation and assessment
of segment performance for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018 is set out below.

CT Environmental Group Limited

Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
R ME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d) 7. WERERDHER (&)
(b) Segment reporting (Cont’d) (b) D2 (E)
Provision of Provision
wastewater of sludge Provision of
treatment BOT project and solid hazardous
Supply plants  construction waste waste
of industrial operation  and operation treatment treatment
water services services services services Unallocated Total
Rtk BOTEH REt5ER Rtk
e RERE BRR BREN BNRE
HE-2-h% IRk EERK EERE RERE o AAE ag
For the year ended tZA=1-8 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31 December 2019 LEE TiEn TiEn TiEn TR TiEn TiEn TiEn
Revenue from external customers ~~ REMFZFHNE 22,987 207,430 52,820 169,493 397,679 - 850,409
Inter-segment revenue THERE - 37,811 - 51,042 1,426 - 90,279
Reportable segment revenue 2RI BhE 22,987 245,24 52,820 220,535 399,105 - 940,688
Reportable segment profit/loss) ~ T2&2 &R/ (HE)

(adjusted EBITDA) (FZAEBITDA) 259 25477 2,804 55,291 155,385 (9,627) 229,649
Share of profits of associates MEBEARZER - - - - 2,080 - 2,080
Depreciation and amortisation ERREREH

for the year (4:116) (52,405 (3.187) (15313 (7129%9) ™) (148,031)
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries LEMBARZ NS - 2,899 - - - 1,064 3,963
Impairment loss on payments for L1 DEPA EA

acquisition of subsidiaries HEFE - - - - (22,114 - (22,714
Impairment loss on property, plant and 1% BER &2

equipment HEFE - (15,016) - (10,758) - - (25,774)
Impairment loss on loan receivable R & 2 BERE - - - - - (69,150) (69,150)
Impairment loss on amounts due from EREESE4AT

companies controlled by aformer ~ FEZ HERKE

director - - - - - (59,857) (59,857)
Reversal of Impairment loss on trade BN ZHVER

recelvables and contract assets AHEEY

HEFERE 55 1,202 3713 (761) 1,186 - 2,055
Impairment loss on other receivables  EtIEKFERANFE
and prepayments ZREEE - (2,499) - (7,458) - - (9,057)
FEERRKEFARAT

FEHRE 2019



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE_F-NF1-A=1—HAILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d) 7. WHRERDEHER (E)
(b) Segment reporting (Cont’d) (b) DE2%H (&)
Provision of BOT Provision
wastewater project Provision of sludge  Provision of
treatment  construction of heating and solid hazardous
Supply plants and  services and waste waste
of industrial operation operation electricity treatment treatment
water services services  generation services services  Unallocated Total
RSk BOTER RESRR  RURR
HE - RERE ERE REGR EREY BWER
HE-E-N\% I$Ak  EERE  2ERE  BRER¥E  RERE i OB 2]
For the year ended tZB=1+-H HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31 December 2018 2:3:4 Thn Tén T#n Tén Thn Tén TiEn Tin
Revenue from external customers X & S5 F R 48210 268,688 56,651 177,202 320,669 281578 - 1,152,998
Inter-segment revenue AHEkE - 66,766 - - 27,631 14,303 - 108,700
Reportable segment revenue  T2HA HU 5 48210 335,454 56,651 177,202 348,300 295,881 - 1,261,698
Reportable segment profit/{loss) T 252 $ %%/ (FE)

(adjusted EBITDA) (BBAEBITDA) (o584 (115,706 4922 26,082 B35 6% (6684 (26%81)
Share of profits of associates A {EHE DT 2 i&H - - - - - 1378 - 1378
Share of loss of ajoint venture 2 -HAELEVEE - (2.825) - - - - - (2,825)
Depreciation and amortisation for £ 7 & 4

the yeer (1263) (104226 679) (2243 (100560 (86.809) (105 (333.289)
Impairment losses on goodwill ~ HEZHEFE (27,383) (33,530) - - (72,664) (34,813) S (168,390)
Impairment losses on property, 415 BERZ G2 HEFE

olant and equioment BAST8) (620330 O Q0SS (02919 (TTOT0) (1939 (1.88613%)
Impairment losses on intangible  &F/ & 2 HEHE

assels (M507 (831§ (309602 - e (43 - 158
Impairment losses on RERNFEZHERE

lease prepayments - (5,459) - - (34,032 - - (39,485)
Impairment losses on ERERTERANEEL

trade receivables and HEEE

contract assefs (15237 (599%9) 5.939) P26 4TS (23620) - (161799)
Impairment loss on prepayments B EH1%E BERRER

for purchase of property, REBARNELBATEL

plant and equipment and HEFE

lease prepayments - (65,882) - - (45,165) - (7,29) (108,341)
Impairment losses on other HERFER

recelvables and prepayments  BffFEZHERE - (82,274) (15,588) 2,269) (23,940) (4,470 (16,359) (144,894
Impairment losses on interestina R-FAEEE 2B

joint venture HEFE - 925) - - - - S 925)
Impairment losses on payments  WERBARZHH2HEEE

for acquisition of subsidiaries - - - - - (40,232) (24,258) (64,490)
Impairment loss on amount due BB EEFE 2 HEFE

from a former director - - - - - - (245,300) (245,300)

Impairment loss on amounts due BB EEEHARFEZ

from companies controlled bya I EEE

former director - - - = = C (28,331) (28331)
Impairment loss on consideration H&—-KKBA 7 ELRELZ

receivable from disposal of a ~ HEFE

subsidiary - - - e S = (45,199) (45,1%8)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(b)

Segment reporting (Cont’d)

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018
included revenue of HK$52,479,000 of two subsidiaries
namely Guangzhou Kaizhou and Guangzhou Xintao
derived from the provision of wastewater treatment plant
operation services, the provision of heating services and
the electricity generation business. Guangzhou Kaizhou
and Guangzhou Xintao ceased their business operations
during the year ended 31 December 2018. A substantial
portion of these revenue were not substantiated with relevant
supporting documents including value added tax invoices
while almost all of these revenue were without subsequent
settlements. These, together with other long outstanding
trade receivables brought forward from previous years, were
assessed to be impaired by the present directors and a
provision for impairment loss of RMB44,375,000 (equivalent
to HK$52,509,000) was charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2018.

The Group’s revenue also included revenue of
HK$396,236,000 (2018: HK$282,963,000) of another
subsidiary namely Guangzhou Lvyou. Guangzhou Lvyou had
trade receivable of HK$69,941,000 and HK$104,693,000 as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 respectively. Guangzhou
Lvyou recognized revenue and trade receivables upon
receiving hazardous waste from its customers without
taking into account the performance obligations under the
contracts with customers. As at 31 December 2019 and
2018, certain hazardous waste received from the customers
were kept by Guangzhou Lvyou at its plant without being
processed all the necessary treatment services. However,
revenue was fully recognized in respect of these hazardous
waste for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

As there were insufficient supporting documents, the present
directors were unable to quantify the financial effect of this
cut off error and no adjustments to the revenue recognised
were made to these consolidated financial statements.

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

7. WHEESBEH (&)

(b)

DE2E (A)

rEBEE-Z-\E+=A
=+—HILEEENKZEE
B A &) (BN SN K2
BMHFE) RESKEERE
ERY REEHRRERES
¥ EE RN E52,479,00058
TT o JE& I SJLIMN % ) 3 8 BA R
EE-NEF+ZA=+—
HIEFERIEHEREE - K
HoZEWANELHBE
A (BEEEREE)F
B MBABDZEWRANLE
BEHEELE -ZEBRERB
AFELENHMORIIRESZ
B S EWFIERBETESTMG
AERE TREZE=Z2—N
F+-A=1+—HIEFEEZER
EEEXRTBRRESBERE
AR #44,375,0007T (8 E R
52,509,000 7T ) °

AEEZWENEES—B
MEBAREMSERZWE
396,236,000/ 5T (=& — )\
£ :282,963,00058 7T) ° R =
Z-NEFR_FT-NFE+A
=t+t—B EMNEHZERE
S FE D B £69,941,00058 7T
$104,693,0005% 7T o & M 4%
HRBEZEFWEGKREYE
BRWERERE S I
B REFENETZEHNE
F-R=ZZB-NERZE-N
F+ZA=1+—H BEM&EH
EFEBEREFEEFWEN
ETEEEEY M |ET
FIESENERER - AT
BE-_Z—NER=-Z—N\F
+ZA=+—BLEE B
2L e EEY) BB RN S o

HREAXHR R  WREE
EREECUBHER VK
FE HMUBHZEREUR
HBRFHBERR 2R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M B|RME (&)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

HE=F-NFT=A=1—FALFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d) 7. WERDEHEHR (£)

Segment reporting (Cont’d)

Reconciliations of reportable segment profit/(loss)

(b) DE2IR (A)
() E2#H7ABEF

B)H R
2019 2018
“Z-hE —E-N\E
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Byt TET TET
Reportable segment profit/(loss) —Iziﬁ P EEl (E8) 229,649 (226,981)
Share of profit of associates DB D ERRF 2,080 1,378
Share of losses of a joint venture ME—REELEN
g - (2,825)
Finance costs MERAK 11(a) (228,359) (242,286)
Interest income FEWA 8 1,016 13,647
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH 11(c) (148,031) (333,288)
Impairment losses on BREEZHERSE
intangible assets - (521,538)
Impairment losses on goodwill BEZHERSR = (168,390)
Impairment losses on property, ME- BEREZEZ
plant and equipment REEE (25,774) (1,886,135)
Impairment losses on lease prepayments & AN FIE 2 HE
-] - (39,485)
Impairment loss on amount due BRAIESHIEAEZ
from a former director REEE - (245,300)
Impairment losses on amounts due from WA ESERE 2
companies controlled AEREZREEE
by a former director (59,857) (28,331)
Impairment loss on interest in AEELE R
a joint venture WEFE - (925)
Impairment loss on payments for WEMBLAR TR
acquisition of subsidiaries REEE (22,714) (64,490)
Impairment loss on consideration RELE-ZMBLARLZ
receivable from disposal of EUREZHERSSE
a subsidiary - (45,198)
Impairment loss on loan receivables FERETHESE (69,150) -
Impairment loss on prepayments BENE BERZER
for purchase of property, HERAREZ
plant and equipment and BAREZREESR
lease prepayments - (108,341)
Impairment loss on amounts EH& BELNT
due from related companies (LImtREE
(not controlled by Mr. Tsui) 2 %'J) WA
- (4,141)
Impairment loss on prepayments for RETRBMNHE
construction work WEFSE (8,594) (31,796)
Impairment loss on prepayments for EETHETREZ
purchase of land REEE - (15,759)
Impairment loss on interest receivables ~ FEWFI B 2 REFE - (7,484)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARANKER 9 3,963 -
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) ERlkE (FE)FE 9 (1,419) 14,739
Consolidated loss before tax SERBEER (327,190) (3,942,929)
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mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d) 7. WHERSBER (&)
(b) Segment reporting (Cont’d) DE2W (EF)
(i) Information about major customers (i) BEHEEEFFZEH
The Group has transactions with the PRC local 7N 55 B B B 3h 75 BUT
government authorities (under common control from HE (ZHEFRBA
the PRC central government) which in aggregate HEZEGH)ETHRS
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue. Revenue from EHBBERAREEEEEE
the provision of wastewater treatment plants operation H10% - BEZ-Z— N
services, BOT project construction and operation F+ZB=+—HLHF
services and provision of sludge and solid waste E R EH BT
treatment services derived from local government BAIR M T KERREE
authorities in the PRC for the year ended 31 BERM% -BOTHEHEER
December 2019 amounted to HK$85,176,000 (2018: REERERIZEHTE
HK$133,153,000). Details of concentrations of credit R E LY IR RIS A
risk arising from customers are set out in note 6(b). REIW A £85,176,000
BT (ZZF - NF:
133,153,000) - KRB &
FrEREERRMFSE
R EE6(b) ©
(i)  Geographic information (i) HEER
Analysis of the Group’s revenue and assets by HRAREBE R KI5 UK
geographical market has not been presented as BREEEERRNURA
substantially all of the Group’s revenue and assets are REIEA A KRZ25
generated and located in the PRC. AEERENISE D
NEXEREEDM
OTHER INCOME 8. HHUgA
2019 2018
—B-hF —E-NF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt & FET FET
Government grants BB () 3,862 9,500
Value-added tax refund BEFRRB (b) 820 17,557
Interest income B IR A 1,016 13,647
Land levelling services T it FERS () = 4,742
Consultancy service income JBE 51 AR A% WL A 4,286 -
Others Hith 2,108 875
12,092 46,321
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mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

8.

OTHER INCOME (Cont’d)

Note

@)

Government grants represents various forms of incentives and
subsidies granted to the Group by the local government authorities in
the PRC.

The Group was entitled to value-added tax refund of HK$820,000
(2018: HK$17,557,000) during the year ended 31 December 2019
in relation to the provision of wastewater, sludge and solid waste
treatment services of the Group in the PRC. There were no unfulfilled
conditions and other contingencies attached to the receipts of such tax
refund.

For the project of Yulin (Fumian) Energy-Saving Environmental
Protection Industrial Park (“Yulin Industrial Park”), Yulin Xintao acts as
the overall representative for the local government authority to provide
agency services in their performance including, the appointment
and supervision of external construction contractors in land levelling
projects for local entities who subscribed for land use rights and who
are to build up and operate production plants in the Yulin Industrial
Park.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e MWK (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

OTHER NET GAINS/(LOSSES) 9. Hittz (FEH)FH
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt & FExT FET
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries & B A & # UK 45(a) & (b) 3,963 -
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain [E X (&) W FE (1,419) 14,739
Loss on disposal of property, HEVE BERKE
plant and equipment R (53) (1,390)
Loss on disposal of lease HEHEEANRIEZEE
prepayments - (38,190)
Penalty BT (2,005) (106,340)
Others Hit (4) (7,788)
482 (138,969)
Note: B EE

On 19 October 2018, Qingyuan Lvyou entered into an agreement
with an independent third party for the disposal of a piece of land
and properties located in Qingyuan, Guangdong, the PRC at a net
consideration of RMB118,182,000 (equivalent to HK$139,844,000).
The land and properties were classified as prepayments for purchase
of lease prepayments and equipment as at 31 December 2017 as the
Group had not obtained the relevant ownership certificates. Upon
disposal, Qingyuan Lvyou paid the relevant taxes and obtained the
ownership certificates from the local government authority. After
deduction of all the costs and taxes, the Group recorded a loss of
HK$38,190,000 on the disposal.

The penalty mainly represented fines and penalties imposed by local
government environmental authorities as a result of the breach of
environmental regulations and environmental pollution caused by a
number of subsidiaries and the provision of penalty for illegal structures
and legal proceedings.

RZZE-NE+A+HABE BE
BHE-BBYE=ZFFT X
FOUHEURTEBERBEZ
- Bt EWE REFESE
AR#118,182,0007T (HHE R
139,844,000/ T) -R=F—+tF
TZA=1+—8B BARAE@ELR
BSHEEIERER NEELHR
MEFEPELBEHSENRER
RECHENTE - RHER  BFES
A2 R R B I B it 75 R AT HE R
S AR - RIIBRFTE B
ARFBESR NEEZESHESE
38,190,000% 7T ©

SRMEIBREBSBRFRENIES
THEBARERBREERRRES
ST A AN B 307K K% R 2 A K B B 3F
REEY NOEEFRZEIREBE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON NON-CURRENT ASSETS 10. FRBEEZRESE
Impairment loss on
NTEE 2 REEE
Property,
plant and
equipment Intangible Lease
(note 18) assets Goodwill prepayments Total
Wk BER
R HERM
(HiE18) BREE HE M st
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
iz TR TR TET TR TR
Year ended 31 December 2019  HZ-F-NFE+=A
Zt-HLEFE
Guangzhou Haitao BNEE 18(a)(v) 14,641 - - - 14,641
Qingyuan Lvyou BREEH 18(a)(ii) 9,063 - - - 9,063
Others Hity 2,070 - - - 2,070
25,774 - - - 25,774
Impairment loss on
UTEEZHERE
Property,
plant
and Intangible Lease
equipment assets Goodwill prepayments
(note 18) (note 20) (note 21) (note 19) Total
M- -BER HERM
B BREE BE SE
(BzE18) (Kt3E20) (KtaE21) (KHaE19) @zt
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i TR TR T T TEx
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE-Z-N\E+ZA
=t-BLEFE
Guangzhou Yinglong BMEE 18(a)(vii) 231,842 24,372 20,156 - 276,370
Longmen Zhongtao Recycling BEEAER 18(a)(ii) 951 309,602 - - 310,553
Longmen Zhongtao BEPI B 18(a)(xv) 241,224 - - - 241,224
Qingyuan Lvyou EESH 18(a)(i) 624,934 64,274 59,100 34,032 782,340
Guangzhou Liangang BNES 18(a)(vi) 118,200 50,961 28,693 - 197,854
Ganghui Huanbao BERR 18(a)(x 40,565 4,544 5,774 - 50,883
Guangyuan Xizhou BrEM 18(a)(vii) 134,792 - - 5,453 140,245
Heyuan Solid TFE 18(a)(xii) 57,771 28,824 11,344 = 97,939
Guangzhou Xintao BMNHE 18(a)(vii) 87,255 - - - 87,255
Zhongshan Haitao FILEE 18(a)(iv 63,290 9,401 7,599 = 80,290
Guangzhou Lvyou BMN&aA 18(a)(i) 53,981 - - - 53,981
Guangzhou Haitao BMNEE 18(a)(v) 138,024 - - = 138,024
Hanyang Shuiwu BEKE 18(a)(ix) 13,175 11,506 27,383 - 52,064
Guangzhou Kangxiang BMEHR 18(a)(xi 4,889 11,474 6,120 = 22,483
Guangzhou Kaizhou BN 18(a)(vii) 21,402 - - - 21,402
Yingde Yingtao HERE 18(a)(xii) 19,333 - - = 19,333
Zhongshan Lvjie LR 1,819 - - - 1,819
Guangzhou Xinzhou BEMETM 18(a)(viii) 576 - - - 576
Haoying Solid ERER 18(a)(xiv) 32,112 6,580 2,221 - 40,913
1,886,135 521,538 168,390 39,485 2,615,548
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11.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax for the year is stated after charging/
(crediting) the following:

11.

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

B %t B A5 1R

REBEF R ZRBAE BT EHER
S G UTRIERZS):

(a) Finance costs (a) WMEREX
2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FET
Interest on bank loans RITERFE 155,966 166,143
Loan facility fees EXEEEA 1,236 54,269
Interest on other borrowings HEEFR R 67,334 25,924
Interest on deposit received SWIREF A - 15,342
Interest on lease liabilities HEEBGRE 3,823 =
228,359 261,678
Less: Interest expenses capitalised & : EANL AEETREHN
into construction in progress MER X (FaE)
(note) - (19,392)
Total finance costs BLE AN EE 228,359 242,286
Note: B 5T

The borrowing costs have been capitalised at rates of 3.70% - 5.75%
per annum for the year ended 31 December 2018.

BE-Z—\F+ZA=+—HL
FE BRAATIEFEFNERITI0%
B5.75%E A1k o

(b) Staff costs (b) EIRA

2019 2018

—E—hEF —E-N\E

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH&T TFBT

Salaries, bonuses and allowances ¥i& - 641 & #8E 161,018 198,782
Contributions to defined REMRFTEER

contribution plans 8,029 11,255

169,047 210,037
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

11. LOSS BEFORE TAX (Cont’d)

1. BRBLEIEGE (&)

Other items (c) HfiEH
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FERT FHExT
Auditor’s remuneration % B4 B 357 B 3,500 3,500
Amortisation of intangible assets & E 2 #H 47,421 90,627
Amortisation of lease prepayments 8 & 78 {4 7038 = # 84 - 9,221
Amortisation of right-of-use assets 1§ i # & 7 # 4 28,216 =
Lease payment not under the WHAHEEBHET 2
measurement of lease liabilities ~ HEHK 3,140 =
Cost of inventories (note) FEAA (M) 99,937 214,690
Depreciation E 72,394 233,440
Operating lease charges KREHEER
- Land and buildings — T REF - 19,285
Research and development WX
expenses 163 3,574
Impairment losses on goodwill BEZREEE 10 - 168,390
Impairment losses on property, ME-BEREZEZ
plant and equipment REEE 10 25,774 1,886,135
Impairment losses on intangible EFEE ZBEEE
assets 10 - 521,538
Impairment losses on lease HERNAREZRERE
prepayments 10 - 39,485
Impairment losses on amount WA ESRIBEZ
due from a former director WEEE 29(c) - 245,300
Impairment losses on amounts WA ESZES 2
due from companies ARREZREER
controlled by a former director 29(d) 59,857 28,331
(Reversal of impairment losses)/ EWEZREK
impairment losses on EHNEE
trade receivables and (REEBERR), 26 &
contract assets BEEE 29(b) (2,055) 161,796
Impairment losses on other H{th FE R FRIB &
receivables and prepayments FEARIEZREEE (i) 9,957 144,894
Impairment loss on prepayments & B S8 FE
for purchase of lease REBZENRIEZ
prepayment and equipment WEEE (ii) - 108,341
Impairment loss on consideration HE&E—KKHE AT Z
receivable from disposal of a EWREZREESE
subsidiary (ifi) - 45,198
Impairment loss on loan EWERZRERE
receivables 29(e) 69,150 -
Impairment losses on payments WK B LD R R 2
for acquisition of subsidiaries REEE 27(a) 22,714 64,490
Impairment losses on interestin =~ M—REE ¥ >
a joint venture R 2R EREE - 925

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

11. LOSS BEFORE TAX (Cont’d) 1. BEAEE (&)
(c) Other items (Cont’d) (c) HEE (&)

Note: Cost of inventories represented raw materials consumed during MizE: TFERNIEHEIZAKE
the supply of industrial water, provision of wastewater treatment RS KEEREZER
plants operation services, provision of heating services and IR AR RES
electricity generation, provision of sludge and solid waste BT R EEEY R IER
treatment services and provision of hazardous waste treatment BRIEMEHREEYEIER
services. FEEEFER R AR o

(i) Impairment loss on other receivables and prepayments (i) HibpEWHERENRE

WEEE
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Ff =t F#ExT FHExT
Security deposit due from EWHEEZRIFRS
Menghui 27(a) - 54,189
Prepayments for ERIRBZEMNRIE
construction work 8,594 31,796
Prepayments for purchase of land B E + i 2 F&8 {4 718 - 15,759
Trade security deposits BESEMZRe = 18,868
Security deposits paid to BT 77 BT HEE 2
local government authorities KRS - 1,775
Interest receivables YRS - 7,484
Amounts due from related FEUREAE A 7]
companies (not controlled by (M FERREEEZES)
Mr. Tsui) I = 4141
Others Hith 1,363 10,882
9,957 144,894

The present directors considered that impairment loss should be
made on the above other receivables and prepayments as the
amounts have been outstanding for a long period of time and
there were no progress on the related projects and no refund
was made to the Group up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements.

REESRA B LA
bW IR R TR IR
BERE  RESZENE
EREIREE - BAABERE
WEER BBEAEZS
SREPBBERAY AEE
W R
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

11. LOSS BEFORE TAX (Cont’d) 11.

(c) Other items (Cont’d)

Notes: (Cont’d)

BRELATEGE (&

(c) HAEE (&)

MisE: (&)

(i) Impairment loss on prepayments for purchase of property, (i) BEVE BERRKRBEUR
plant and equipment and lease prepayments HERASREBEZENLRER
BEEE
2019 2018
ZE-hF —E-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi&E FET FHE T
Prepayments for construction BEx@ENERIREZ
work by Guangyuan Xizhou AR 18(a)(vii)&(a) - 39,085
Prepayments for purchase of BEHESEMNREZ
lease prepayments FEATRIE (b) - 59,120
Others Hith - 10,136
- 108,341
Notes: B EE

@)

The present directors considered that the recoverability
of this amount was remote as the future development of
the project and the commencement of the commercial
operations is uncertain and an impairment loss was made
in 2018.

This represented the impairment loss made on assets

BEEERE BARE
BARBREEEE
BoRREILTHE &
FRE R T Y E
ERZEBE-NEEH
BB -

ZREEREEA G

without ownership certificates transferred from Mr. Gu B EBNWERME
Yaokun classified as prepayments for purchase of lease BEENEE(DES
prepayments (note 18(a)(ii)) and impairment on payments BEHERMSREY
of HK$28,154,000 made for the purchase of various land FETFRIR ) 7 H AVRIE

in previous years. The present directors considered that
the possibility of obtaining land use rights was remote,

B8 (M5E18(a)(i)) &
RBEFERBES

therefore, impairment loss was made in the year ended 31 g i 2 AR Z R E
December 2018. 28,154,000/ 7t ° R 1E
EERAWMEB L

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e MWK (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

11. LOSS BEFORE TAX (Cont’d)

(c) Other items (Cont’d)

Notes: (Cont’d)

(iii)

Impairment loss on consideration receivable from disposal of
a subsidiary

The Group recorded a consideration receivable from the disposal
of a subsidiary of HK$70,059,000 and HK$4,565,000 as at
31 December 2017 and 2018 respectively. In March, 2018,
the Group received a settlement of HK$22,826,000 from the
purchaser. A further settlement of HK$4,565,000 was received
in 2019. Since then, no further payments were made by the
purchaser. According to the management, prior to the disposal,
the land acquired by the subsidiary from the local government.
had been laid idle for more than three years without any
development and this was a breach of the original contract
for the acquisition. The purchaser encountered difficulties in
obtaining approval for the development of the land and, as a
result, had to pay a penalty imposed by the local government for
the breach of contract, namely, a delay in development which
was caused by the Group. The purchaser also incurred financial
losses resulted from the project delay. In the absence of sufficient
documents, the present directors were unable to ascertain the
amount of penalty paid and the financial losses incurred by the
purchaser. To avoid a claim from the purchaser on the above
matter, the Group did not follow up with the purchaser for
settlement of the balance of the consideration receivable. As the
outstanding balance has been overdue for a long period of time
and without any further subsequent settlements, the present
directors made an impairment loss of HK$45,198,000 on the
consideration receivable from the disposal of a subsidiary for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

HE=—F—NF=A=+—FLFE

1. BRBIEIEGE (&)

(c) HtrE (&)

MisE: (&)

(iii)

HE—RWE QR 2 BERA
BZREESR

RIE—tERZZ-—N\F
+ZA=t+—-B -AEED
AlEBHE—BHBATZ
FE U5 4% 1870,059,00058 7T &
4,565,000/ TR =ZF— N\
F=ZA AEEBEEHWE
& 14 7 1822,826,00038 JT °
i — 5 {8 {4 FXTE4,565,000
BLTERZZE—AFWE-
Bt ERFNWEERE—F
FR-BEEESA RE
ErZMB LT MM AK
FhEstEeBnEERB
—FRAVWEEMERE LD
ERBBHNEAHN-BERE
EY 18 + th BE 5% b SCF 3B B [N
#® OEAMEAEXNEHBAR
EREHN (IAEEEHRN
BISSFERR) MEAKME R - B
5 INE T8 B FE R A A B S
BlE-ARRZEHH
BEEEREREES X
N BReERFEE 28
BERE -ABRENH LM
BEREHAR AEELE
HEFRELAERERRE
HEHR-BHRAEEERTE
H-BREE BXETM
E-SREENM BE=ZT
—N\E+=ZA=+—BHLH
E BEESEHREE—BEH
BARzERAEELRE
/&5 ¥845,198,0005% T ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT 12. iEHIKSE
(@ Income tax credit has been recognised in profit or loss as (@ EBEREmEIFEHERN
follows: T
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FET
Current tax — PRC income tax BEARLIE — PRI TS5
Provision for the year FEEE 22,652 8,923
(Oven/Under-provision in respect  BEFE (BEEERE)
of prior years BETRE (1,285) 10,285
21,367 19,208
Deferred tax IERERL IR
Origination and reversal of M EENELERED
temporary differences (note 41) (FFEE41) (31,525) (78,374)
Income tax credit PSRk s (10,158) (59,166)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Cont’d) 12. FiRHikE (&)
(b) Reconciliation between income tax credit and accounting (b) FEBEEERRBEARENE
loss at applicable tax rates: WEEEHE:
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET

Loss before tax KRELAIE B

(327,190)  (3,942,929)

Notional tax on loss before tax, REEAEABRAEERERAR
calculated at the rates applicable & F &9 Lt 2= 5 Br ¥ A 85 18
to profits in the jurisdictions FENEHHE (M)

concerned (note i) (58,426) (917,191)
Tax effect of expenses that are AR HRETE
not deductible 77,350 812,658
Tax effect of income that is not FEFTHRANKRETE
taxable (27,417) (3,572)
Tax effect of preferential tax BERESBNHBEEZE (M)
treatments (note ii) (21,642) (9,618)
Effect of tax losses not recognised KR IBEEH L 21,269 51,700
Under/(over)-provision in prior years B FEERET R, (BERE) (1,285) 10,285
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses {# LA AR ERHIEEEMN
not previously recognised BIEZE (7) (3,428)
Income tax credit Fr8HiE % (10,158) (59,166)
Notes: G
(i) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman lIslands (i) REHEHEREBELE
and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the ENRARER XEER
Cayman Islands and the BVI. HEHERABELEED
BRMEMAEH-

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made as the Group
did not earn any income subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

The statutory income tax rate for the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

HREEZE-ZZ-NER=-F
—NF+ZA=+t—-HLF
FE 7 5 [ 3 4 SR ERAE T A
MBEEBREB WA B
BREBNEHELBRE-

BB 2 B R EE TS
EH25% °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Cont’d)

(b) (Cont’d)
Notes: (Cont’d)

(ii) Certain subsidiaries of the Group are entitled to the following
PRC preferential tax treatments:

Guangzhou CT Lvyou Environmental Protection Technology
Company Limited (formerly known as Guangzhou Lvyou
Industrial Waste Reclamation Treatment Company Limited)
(“Guangzhou Lvyou”) was approved as a High and New
Technology Enterprise in September 2015 and November 2018,
which entitled it to the preferential income tax rate of 15% from
2015 to 2017 and from 2018 to 2020.

Heyuan Solid Waste Centralized Treatment Centre Company
Limited (“Heyuan Solid”) was approved as a High and New
Technology Enterprise in December 2016, which entitled it to the
preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2016 to 2018.

Guangzhou Haitao, being an entity engaged in wastewater
treatment and sludge treatment, is entitled to a tax holiday of
3-year exemption and 3-year 50% reduction on income derived
from its principal activities (the “3+3 tax holiday”) starting
from the year in which the project starts to generate operating
revenue. There are 3 phases of waste treatment facilities under
Guangzhou Haitao. The tax holiday for Phase | and Phase Il
facilities ended in 2015; while Phase Il facilities are subject to
exemption from income tax from 2013 to 2015 and reduction of
half of the income tax from 2016 to 2018. Additionally, in October
2015, Guangzhou Haitao was approved as a High and New
Technology Enterprise, which then entitled it to the preferential
income tax rate of 15% from 2016 to 2018. During the year
ended 31 December 2018, Guangzhou Haitao was not entitled
to any preferential income tax treatment as a result of the breach
of certain environmental regulations. The income tax rate was
restored to 25%.

Guangzhou Yinglong Wastewater Treatment Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Yinglong”), a subsidiary engaged in wastewater
treatment, is entitled to the 3+3 tax holiday starting from the
year in which the project starts to generate operating revenue.
Guangzhou Yinglong is subject to exemption from income tax
from 2012 to 2014 and reduction of half of the income tax from
2015 to 2017. In November 2017, Guangzhou Yinglong was
approved as a High and New Technology Enterprises, which then
entitled it to the preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2018
to 2020. During the year ended 31 December 2018, Guangzhou
Yinglong breached certain environmental regulations and all tax
benefits were therefore cancelled.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBmRME (F)

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Cont’d)

(b) (Contd)

Notes: (Cont’d)

(i)

(Cont’d)

Qingyuan Lvyou Environmental Protection Technology Company
Limited (“Qingyuan Lvyou”), a subsidiary engaged in solid waste
treatment, is entitled to the 3+3 tax holiday starting from the
year in which the project starts to generate operating revenue.
Qingyuan Lvyou is subject to exemption from income tax from
2014 to 2016 and reduction of half of the income tax from 2017
to 2019. Additionally, in October 2015 and November 2018,
Qingyuan Lvyou was approved as a High and New Technology
Enterprise, which then entitled it to the preferential income tax
rate of 15% from 2015 to 2017 and from 2018 to 2020. As the
tax rate applied during the tax holiday is lower than the tax rate
applied for High and New Technology Enterprise, the effective
income tax rate of Qingyuan Lvyou is 12.5% from 2017 to 2018.
No preferential tax was enjoyed by Qingyuang Lvyou during the
year ended 31 December 2019 as Qingyuang Lvyou failed to file
the annual application to local tax authority and meet the annual
research and development requirement.

Yulin Xintao Environmental Protection Technology Company
Limited (“Yulin Xintao”), a subsidiary engaged in water supply,
wastewater treatment, land levelling, heating services and
electricity generation, is entitled to the 3+3 tax holiday for waste
water treatment services starting from the year in which the
project starts to generate operating revenue. Yulin Xintao is
subject to exemption from income tax from 2017 to 2019 and
reduction of half of the income tax from 2020 to 2022.

Lvyou Environmental Protection Equipment Company Limited
(“Lvyou Equipment”) was approved as a High and New
Technology Enterprise in December 2016, which entitled it to the
preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2016 to 2018.

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

12. FIEHRE (#)

MizE: (&

(ii)

(#&)

BREHRARMEERAT
(IBEZHA]) AREEE
BEYEERNKEB AR #1E
ERREEEBERENEE
BEE3+IRHBER-FRE
BH-_E-—NEE-ZT—X
FEERRBBFBHRER=
E-—tFEZE-NFER
G—XFEB LI K=
E-HF+ARZZE—N\EF
TR BAEREBAWRATSE
EHEMEE HER=-Z
—EFEE—tHFRERRZ
E-NEE-ZE-_TFEH
5% EEMEBHE-AR
HEEEHAMEAZHE
BEHRMeCERBERZH
ERE BWEEHFBHRBZ
E—t+tEFEEZ-\ENE
AT HMEE12.5% B
EE-AFE+ZA=1+—
BLEFE BESBALTES
BEERB BERAEBREZ
R BEE i 5 B IS ML RR IR X
FEHBRERTHEESR.

EMHEERABEERA
A(TEMFHE] BREH
K SEIKEIE ~ TSP R LI
REHBREREENHE
AN REERRELEEE
Wz F E RIS K EER
KEZEIREEE-R=-F
—tEZZZE-AF EHK
EER BN FERER
—ECEER_F_FR
BR—EMER

Lvyou Environmental
Protection Equipment
Company Limited ([ Lvyou
Equipment ) R = ZF — X
F+ZARERSHEIM
¥ R-B-AFE-F
—NFEZB15%NEEFRE
B o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

13. EEFHN

Year ended 31 December 2019

BECR-NFT-A=t-ALEFE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
and benefits Discretionary scheme payments
Fees in kind bonuses contributions Sub-Total (note 44) Total
e BRER BT E BB 2
He ENER BiERA it it (Br&E44) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TER TER TER TET THER
Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Tsui Cham To HREELE
(resigned on 8/4/2020) (R-E-EE
ANEEHE) - 6,407 - 36 6,443 - 6,443
Mr. Zhao Keyin BRELE
(appointed on 14/1/2019 and (RZE-nE
resigned on 20/6/2019) -BTHEEZAR
RZZ2-n%
REZTHEME) - 265 - 34 299 - 299
Ms. Xu Liugi M NME
(appointed on 6/12/2019 and (R=B-NE
resigned on 3/8/2020) TZARBEZAR
e S 3:3
NA=ZBEE) - 187 284 13 484 - 484
Mr. Xu Juwen HIEN A
(resigned on 2/6/2020) (R=Z=%E
~EZHEE) - 823 - 33 856 - 856
Mr. Yuan Guanghua REZERE
(appointed on 20/6/2019 and (R=Z-nE
resigned on 11/2/2020) REZTREZAR
e e 23
ZRT-HER) - 205 15 % 245 - 245
Mr, Liang Zhenjie RRBEE
(resigned on 24/1/2020) (R-E-EE
-BZTEARAE) - 1,138 - 10 1,148 - 1,148
Mr. Tsui Wai Kin fHEREE
(appointed on 11/12/2019 and (RZE-nE
resigned on 3/8/2020) TZA+-REZfL
RZZ-2E
NAZHEE) - 261 8 9 278 - 278
Mr. Lu Xiao'an (resigned on 18/6/2020) Be/h& %4
(R=B=FE
~ATNBEHE) - 541 300 7 848 - 848
Mr. Liang Qilin PRBEE
(resigned on 11/12/2019) (R=B-NET=R
T-HEE) - 435 - 36 47 - 471
Sub-total P - 10,262 607 203 11,072 - 11,072

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

13.

Year ended 31 December 2019
BE-E-NE+-A=+-HLEE

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

EEHM (A&

Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
and benefits Discretionary scheme payments
Fees in kind bonuses contributions Sub-Total (note 44) Total
§e 28R BRGE BB %A
ne BNEAN MiRa #3% et (B &E44) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn T TEx TEx TiEn TiEn
Independent non-executive directors B HTEE
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu REREE
(resigned on 3/8/2020) (R=B=FE
NAZHEHE) 300 - - - 300 - 300
Mr. Suen To Wai BEEEE
(resigned on 10/4/2019) (R=B-NE
ATHEE) 83 - - - 83 - 83
Dr. Ng Wai kuen REERL
(appointed on 28/1/2019 and (R=B-NE
resigned on 3/8/2020) -AZ+\HEZAR
i 33
NAZRBE) 275 - - - 275 - 275
Mr. He Jingyong MEFEEE
(appointed on 24/1/2019 and (R=B-nE
resigned on 28/1/2019 and -BZTHREZER
reappointed on 10/4/2019) RIE-NE
—-AZTNHEER
RZE-AEMATA
BEHZMA) 173 - - - 173 - 173
Mr. Yu Chung Leung RIEREE
(appointed on 18/4/2019 and (R=B-NE
resigned on 17/2/2020) ATN\BEZER
33
ZAttAEE) 281 - - - 281 - 281
Sub-total it 1,112 - - - 1,112 - 1,112
Total @t 1,112 10,262 607 203 12,184 - 12,184
FEERRKEFARAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d) 13. EEFHM (£&)

Year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-\ET-A=t+-ALEE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
and benefits  Discretionary scheme payments
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Sub-Total (note 44) Total
Fe BRR BIRGHE UL
Hhe ENET RETA 5% N (Kisdd) b
HK$'00! HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Ti#n TiEn Tign THER TR TR
Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Tsui Cham To HREELE
(resigned on 8/4/2020) (R-E-EE
ANBBE) o 9 36 6,385 6,385
Mr. Xu Shubiao HEELE
(resigned on 28/12/2018) (RZE-N\E
TZAZTNBEE) - - 30 262 262
Mr. Gu Yaokun HRAEE
(resigned on 24/5/2018) (RZE-N\E
A=t MARE) - - - - -
Mr. Xu Juwen #EXEE
(resigned on 2/6/2020) (R-E-EE
~NAZHBE) o - 25 931 931
Mr. Xu Zhencheng AL
(appointed on 24/8/2017 and (R=E—tF
resigned on 8/11/2018) NBE=tHREZER
RZ2-N%§
T-ANBEE) - 18 14 1,183 1,183
Mr. Lu Xiao'an BNREE
(appointed on 5/11/2018 and (R=B-NE
resigned on 18/6/2020) T-ALBEZAR
R-ZZ%E
~ATNREE) - 312 7 887 887
Mr. Liang Zhenjie RiRpEEE
(appointed on 8/11/2018 and (R=B-NF
resigned on 24/1/2020) T-ANREZAR
33
-BZTEARAE) - 28 5 708 708
Mr. Liang Qilin RRBEE
(appointed on 30/11/2018 and (RZE-N\E
resigned on 11/12/2019) T-AZ+RHEZER
RZZ2-n%E
TZAT-BEE) - - 2 336 336
Sub-total P - 367 145 10,692 10,692

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

13. EEFHM (&)

Year ended 31 December 2018
BE-E-\f+-A=t-HLEE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
and benefits  Discretionary scheme payments
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Sub-Total (note 44) Total
EiE A1) RINGHE R = A
we ENET RERL i it (Hiztad) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TiEx iR FER TER TiEx TiEx TiEx

Independent non-executive directors B FHTES

Mr. Liu Yung Chau BRHEE
(resigned on 26/10/2018) (R=B-NE
TAZTRBEE) 86 - - - 86 - 86
Mr. Du Hequn RBELE
(resigned on 16/1/2018) (R=B-NE
—BTRAEE) 29 - - - 29 - 29
Mr. Chau Paul R
(appointed on 24/10/2017 and (R=B-tE
resigned on 14/2/2018) TAZTMAEZER
RZE-NE
ZATEARE) 38 - - - 38 - 38
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu REXEE
(appointed on 16/1/2018 and (R=Z-NE-At~H
resigned on 3/8/2020) EZERN-_Z_Z%
NB=H#{E) 287 - - - 287 - 287
Mr. Suen To Wai BEEEE
(appointed on 14/2/2018 and (R=E-NE-A+HEA
resigned on 10/4/2019) EZERR-Z-1%
ATHEE) 263 - - - 263 - 263
Sub-total Nt 703 - - - 703 - 703
Non-executive director FHITES
Mr. Yang Chunlin BENEE
(appointed on 3/4/2018 and (RZE-N\E
resigned on 25/10/2018) MAZHEZAR
RZB-NE
TAZTRARE) 168 - - - 168 - 168
Sub-total P 168 - - - 168 - 168
Total fzt 871 10,180 367 145 11,563 - 11,563
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

e M BRRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

The details of appointment and resignations of directors

subsequent to 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Executive director

BITES

Mr. Xu Huagen
RERLE

Mr. Wu Changbiao
hGREE

Ms. Huang Qing
'EEXTL

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai
ROBERE

Mr. Li Yang
FHELE

Mr. Lam Wai Tong
MERELE

Independent

non-executive director

BAFITES

Mr. Fong Wai Ho
FREEE

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy

REZLL

Appointed on
RUTHHEZE

1 1/2/2020
—E-TF-A+—H

31/1/2020
—Z2-Z2H-A=+-—H

12/5/2020
“EZEFHA+Z=H

3/8/2020
—E-EFENAZ=H
3/8/2020
—E-ZTHFENAZ=H
29/1 0/2020

—E-2H+A=tANH

Appointed on

RUTEHERE
3/8/2020
—E-THEN\A=H
3/8/2020
—E-ZF/\A=H

There were no amounts paid during the year ended 31 December
2019 (2018: Nil) to the directors as inducement to join or upon
joining the Company or the Group or as compensation for loss
of office. No directors waived or agreed to waive any emolument
during the year (2018: Nil).

CT Environmental Group Limited
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EEHM (&

R-B-NE+=B=+-H&KE
ERBEZESHENT

Resigned on

AL B BT

3/8/2020
—EZEFNAZ=H

N/A
TER

N/A
ESA

10/11/2020
—E-TH+-AtH

N/A
ESA

N/A
i

Resigned on

REUT B 8#HE

N/A
THEH

N/A
TEH

BE-_Z-AFt+-A=t—-HL
FE SEOEEFEMARER
AR EMARMAR AR RAE
BEzEBNEHEBEBHEE (=
E-NF 8 - FARBESH
RYRBZHEEAHHM (ZF-N
FE)



14.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year
included 4 (2018: 3) directors whose emoluments are reflected
in the analysis presented in note 13. The emoluments of the
remaining 1 (2018: 2) individuals are set out below:

14.

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

= aMAL
TEBREHFHMAL

FREAEELERSFHALTEE
42 (ZB-N\F3R)EF HF
B S AR PA Mt ZE 132 51 2 5 # - HER
18 (Z2-N\F WMB)ALTZH
PSRN T3

2019 2018

—E-NE —E2-N\EF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TET FET

Basic salaries and allowances HAFHERIER 1,800 2,083
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & K& Rt 20 X 36 43
1,836 2,126

The emoluments fell within the following band:

BEAFWAI AT EERA

Number of individuals
A

2019 2018
—®-7FE  —B-NF

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %£1,000,0007% T
HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000

1,000,0017% JTt £1,500,0007% 7T
1,500,0017% 7T £2,000,0005% 7T

= 1
= 1
1 —
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

15. DIVIDENDS 15.

(@) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the year

Bz 2

(a) TEEENMEQITEZFTEA
BRE:

2019 2018
—EB-NF —E-N\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Interim dividend of HK$Nil (2018: FHHIRESRITBERZET
HK$0.0096) per ordinary share (=ZZ—/\F:0.00965% 7T ) - 60,641

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
declared an interim dividend of HK$0.0096 per share
totalling HK$60,641,000 during the year ended 31
December 2018. However, due to the continued volatility
of the market and in order to preserve the cash level of the
Group for better working capital management purposes,
the Board on 26 March 2019 announced and resolved to
withdraw its recommendation for the payment of the interim
dividend. As a result, dividend payable of HK$60,641,000
as at 31 December 2018 was reversed in the year ended 31
December 2019.

No final dividend was paid or proposed in respect of years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the previous financial year,
approved and paid during the year

BZ-_Z—-\+ZA=+—H1
FE AQAREEE ([EEE])E
iR & H iR 2 = 1R0.009638 T 0 A
60,641,000/ st AT AR T 5
IERBNRARERAEENE S
KE LIEREEEEESEE
BEEEN-ZE-NE=ZB=+H
EMEEABEERMSHERE
WEZ-F R=ZE—-NE+=
B =+—B ZFE{ i’ 260,641,000
BIERBEE=ZE—-HhE+=A
=t+—RIEFERE-

BESRBEZE-ZT-NER=F-N
Ft+tZA=t—-BLEEERNRE
E R

(b) AEFEE#HERIKNE—BMEEF
ERNARARAESHEARE

2019 2018
—E-NE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FHET
Final dividend in respect of the F—UBEEZRBBRE
previous financial year of HK$Nil SBREBRZBE T
(2018: HK$0.0095) per ordinary (ZZE—N\F:0.0095%87T) %
share and a special dividend of BHAREEBREBRSER
HK$Nil (2018: HK$0.0198) per (=2 — \%F:0.0198% 7T)
ordinary share - 184,352

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

16. LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the
loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company
of HK$316,721,000 (2018: HK$3,872,815,000) and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
6,281,584,000 (2018: 6,286,457,000) in issue during the
year, calculated as follows:

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

16. EiREE

(a)

BREFEE

FRABREAEBRDRER
AABEBEAELERAEBEL
316,721,000 T (=& — N\
£ :3,872,815,00038 7Tt ) & F
NERITEBERMMEFIIH
6,281,584,000018 (=& — N\
% 16,286,457,0008%) ' T &
8T :

2019 2018

=F-NEFE =F-N\F

Number of shares ’000 000

R & B T TR

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R— B — BB ETEER 6,316,792 6,316,792
Effect of purchase of shares under R1E 8% 10 22 B 51 2158 B IR 19

the Share Award Scheme M & (35,208) (30,335)
Weighted average number of RT+-ZA=+—HWEBR

ordinary shares at 31 December INFEF T 6,281,584 6,286,457

Diluted loss per share b) ESREBESE

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, there
were no dilutive potential ordinary shares issued. The diluted
loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share.

BEE-Z-NER-F-N\F
TZA=+t—-HLEEE #§E
ERTEEHEEER -8R
BEFRESREANERM
GE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

17.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

The employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC participate in
a defined contribution retirement scheme operated by the
local government authorities whereby the Group is required
to contribute to the scheme at rates of 13% to 19% of the
eligible employees’ basic salary (2018: 13% to 19%). The local
government authorities are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees.

Contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) are
required under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. The Group and its employees in Hong
Kong make monthly mandatory contributions to the MPF
scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The
contributions from employees and employers are subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 (2018: HK$30,000).

The Group has no other material obligations for payments of
retirement and other post-retirement benefits of employees other
than the contributions described above.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019

17. REBHEE

RPENHBAREESEHAMS
BAH#EELE N R EHICENREF
e AEEERAEREESRR
HELM13%E19% [ 5t 214E B
(ZEBE—NF 13%FE19%) o i /5
BRAKBEEEREFEREENEI
EBIREE-

ERBEHMAEETERGBRER
BmEMELAEE ((REE D EHE
Mo AKERHEEBEERBARKR
FELXBEERATRENES
TR BA W A 5% [0 58 7 £ 7T &I F I
BHMERR - EEREEIHAEAR
FRPQEE SRR S A EE
WA £ BR%&30,0008 T (ZF— N\
£ 130,000/ 7T) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e MWK (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ME -WHE KR
Buildings Office
and other Motor equipment  Construction
infrastructure Machinery vehicles and others in progress Total
BFR ARk
HER RS #a RE REM ERIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#n T T T T T
Cost ﬁﬂi
At 1 January 2018 “E-N\F-f-H 2,100,571 1,224,195 16,541 66,289 773,738 4,181,334
Additions ME 88,635 27,723 1,108 4,009 575,297 696,772
Transfer from construction in progress BERIREY 201,083 67,117 - 1,198 (269,398) -
Disposals EE - (2,698) (511) (1,632) (1,087) (5,928)
Reclassified as held-for-sale (note 32) ENDBARELE (HiHs2) (488,493) (164,941) (2,098) (1,255) (462,402) (1,119,189)
Exchange differences EXBE (106,857) (59,652) (567) (3.248) (46,430) (216,754)
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 m:%—)\i-%:ﬂ =t+-H
Z-hnE-A-H 1,794,939 1,001,744 14,473 65,361 569,718 3,536,235
Additions P E 619 8,432 - 123 90,771 99,945
Transfer from construction in progress BERIREY 110,684 39,190 - (149,874)
Disposals EE (6,146) (74532) - i, 785) - 82, 463)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-ZHBAH - - - (83) - (83)
Reclassified as held-for-sale (note 32) B A EARBELE (H332) (252,960) (17,969) - (3,231) (4,597) (278757)
Exchange differences EXEE (1,114 (23,455) (233) 2,135) (11,470) (78,407)
At 31 December 2019 R-B-AF+-B=t-A 1,606,022 1,023,410 14,240 58,250 494,548 3,196,470
Accumulated depreciation and RAHERBERE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\E¥-HA-H 288,629 353,663 14,535 28,306 - 685,133
Charge for the year ERM 99,838 17,175 1,308 15,119 - 233,440
Written back on disposals RERHE - (2,245) (207) (1,754) - (4,206)
Impairment losses HEEE 846,660 470,885 - 6,773 561,817 1,886,135
Reclassified as held-for-sale (note 32) B A EARBELE (H332) (15,738) (16,628) (433) (231) = (33,030)
Exchange differences ExBE (46,900) (37,132 (730 (1,099) (19.942) (105,802)
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 R=E-NE+ZA=+-H
—Z-NE-B-H 1,172,489 885,718 14,473 47,115 541,875 2,661,670
Charge for the year ERMK 28,445 40,298 - 3,651 = 72,394
Written back on disposals EERHE (5,967) (69,363) - (1,769) - (77,003)
Transfer from construction in progress BERIREY 98,328 - - - (98,328) =
Written back on disposal of a subsidiary ~ tH&—RHB 2 AE - - - (10) - (10)
Impairment losses }JﬁfcfEEi B 4,815 165 - 114 20,680 25,774
Reclassified as held-for-sale (note 32) FABARELE (Hik2) (124,994) (8,282) - (1,146) (1,050) (135,472)
Exchange differences E;a:ﬂ% (27,829) (18,908) (233) (1,787) (10,541) (59,298)
At 31 December 2019 R=B-AF+=B=t-A 1,145,287 829,628 14,240 46,174 452,636 2,487,965
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2019 R=E-hE+-A=1+-H 460,735 193,782 - 12,076 41,912 708,505
At 31 December 2018 R=E-NE+-A=1+-H 622,450 206,026 - 18,246 27,843 874,565
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment

Included in property, plant and equipment are the costs
less accumulated deprecation and impartment losses of
the Group’s interests in various environmental pollution
servicing facilities for its operations under different
segments.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019,
the Group’s business operations were adversely affected
by a number of factors including the indictments and
legal proceedings against the Group and investigations
as mentioned in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements, the expropriation of certain land and facilities
and early termination of BOT contracts by local government
authorities and insufficient market demand of its services
in certain locations. As a consequence, a number of cash
generating units of the Group ceased or suspended their
operations.

In determining the recoverable amount of these cash
generating units, the present directors adopted the fair
value less costs of disposal basis and made reference to
the compensations that might be received from the local
government authorities which is still under negotiation with
the relevant government officials. However, up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements, certain
amount of the compensations has not been confirmed in
writing and might still be subject to change.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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18. ME -WHE KR

(a)

(%)
BB Rl

M BERRBITASTEER
REFEDBEE 2 RBRE
TSR BRI 2 R 2 PR AN TR
RItERREBRE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

For other cash-generating units with continuing business
operations, the directors adopted a value-in-use basis for
impairment assessment. The calculation of value-in-use
of the other cash generating units, key assumptions used
include growth rate and discount rate. The details of the
impairment assessment on the CGUs were as follows:

() Impairment assessment — Guangzhou Lvyou

Guangzhou Lvyou had been operating in the
hazardous waste treatment and sludge and solid
waste business segment. On 28 September 2020,
Guangzhou Lvyou entered into a compensation
agreement with the local government authority of
Nansha, Guangzhou pursuant to which the local
government authority would expropriate the land
owned by Guangzhou Lvyou and pay Guangzhou
Lvyou a cash compensation of RMB1,237,884,000
(equivalent to HK$1,381,850,000) and transfer a piece
of land to Guangzhou Lvyou for relocation of the
existing plant. In determining the recoverable amount
of the cash generating unit of Guangzhou Lvyou as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the present directors
made reference to the amount of compensations for
the expropriation of its land, facilities and the business
operation. As the compensations substantially exceed
the carrying amounts of the property, plant and
equipment, lease prepayments and intangible assets
totalling HK$854,332,000 and HK$902,725,000 of
Guangzhou Lvyou as at 31 December 2019 and 2018,
respectively, the present directors are of the opinion
that there is no impairment on these assets as at 31
December 2019 and 2018.

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

18. MR- -MERzE (H)

(a)

AR RS ()

RFECEEBNEMBEE
HEBUmME ESRACRAE
EEEETREMN G FTEH
tREELEMNERER
B I AN EERREERE
RERBRAR - REELEN
HURERP BT

() BUEFFIE —EMARE

EMNGEH-—EHELBR
BEYEEIUKRSRKRE
BREVERI D -R=
FE_FEFARAZTN
B BEMNEREEME
it 7T BT R T
EEHZ B s
TR B8 A% U B N 4%
REAMN LI X AE
MEHRBRESHEAR
#£4,237,884,0007T (4
& 71,381,850,000%8
JU) o I B —iF 1 b
FEMEER  URBR
ERE-REETEMNLE
HESEABEUR-ZT
—NERZE—NE&E
+ZA=+—HHHIK
ElSERN REESC
SEERBHAE L
REREKELBENEE
SHE-BNREEE XIE
HEABEMNSEHAR=-ZF
—hERZZE-NE
+ZBA=+—-8B2%9
¥ HMEERREBE -HE
EARERBEFEEESD
Bl & $£854,332,00058 JT
902,725,000 7T » K
REESAAH 258
ER-ZZ—AER=-F
—NE+=ZA=+—H
i3RI
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

()

Impairment assessment — Guangzhou Lvyou (Cont’d)

In 2017, the Guangzhou environmental authority
informed Guangzhou Lvyou that certain of Guangzhou
Lvyou’s sludge and solid waste and hazardous waste
treatment facilities did not comply with the relevant
environmental regulations in Guangzhou and ordered
that the relevant sludge and solid waste and hazardous
waste treatment operation be terminated and the
related facilities be demolished. However, Guangzhou
Lvyou did not take any corrective measures. In 2018,
the environmental authority imposed a penalty of
RMB1,000,000 and ordered Guangzhou Lvyou to
demolish all the related facilities. Finally, Guangzhou
Lvyou engaged contractors and demolished the
related facilities in 2019. In addition, certain property,
plant and equipment items were laid idle as there was
no market demand for the related processing services
and these items were without alternative use. As
such, an impairment loss of HK$7,289,000 on those
unqualified property, plant and equipment together
with the impairment loss of HK$46,692,000 on those
assets being laid idle totalling HK$53,981,000 was
made in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRNE (&

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(i)

Impairment assessment — Qingyuan Lvyou

On 30 April 2014, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest of Qingyuan Lvyou from a former director,
Mr. Gu Yaokun. On the same date, Qingyuan Lvyou
and Mr. Gu Yaokun entered into an agreement (the
“Original Agreement”) pursuant to which Qingyuan
Lvyou transferred the title of certain fixed assets
and land use rights (together the “Assets”) to Mr. Gu
Yaokun. In addition, Qingyuan Lvyou would purchase
the Assets back when the local government authority
issued formal land and property ownership certificates
for the Assets. Pursuant to an undated supplementary
agreement, if the formal land and property ownership
certificates for the Assets were not issued by 31
December 2015, the Group would have the right
to recover the net assets value of the Assets and
subsequent expenditures on the Assets from Mr. Gu
Yaokun.

for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(i)

Impairment assessment — Qingyuan Lvyou (Cont’d)

Subsequent to 31 December 2015, no formal land and
property ownership certificates for the Assets were
issued by the local government authority, nor were
repayments from Mr. Gu Yaokun made to the Group.

On 14 February 2018, the Group entered into a
termination agreement (the “Termination Agreement”)
with Mr. Gu Yaokun under which the title of the Assets
were transferred back to the Group in consideration for
an offsetting of part of the amount of HK$149,338,000
due from Mr. Gu Yaokun brought forward from
2017. After offsetting, the Group recorded
property, plant and equipment of RMB72,105,000
(equivalent to HK$82,293,000), lease prepayments
of RMB28,760,000 (equivalent to HK$32,824,000)
and prepayments for purchase of lease prepayments
and equipment of RMB26,169,000 (equivalent to
HK$29,867,000), totalling RMB127,034,000 (equivalent
to HK$144,984,000) in the books and the amount due
from Mr. Gu Yaokun was reduced by the same amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRNE (&

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(i)

Impairment assessment — Qingyuan Lvyou (Cont’d)

In addition, Qingyuan Lvyou also held properties
without ownership certificates with carrying amount
before impairment loss of HK$62,353,000 as at 31
December 2018.

On 30 October 2020, the Group obtained a legal
opinion from a PRC lawyer which stated that the
Group may be able to obtain formal legal title of the
subject land use right in respect of the Assets if the
Group would purchase the subject land use right in
respect of the Assets through a public auction or
other means when the local government authority in
Qingyuan should offer the subject land use right to
the public for auction, and the Group pays the related
consideration upon a successful bidding. The PRC
legal opinion also stated that the structures built on the
land which had no ownership certificates were illegal
structures and the local government authority may
impose a penalty equals to 10% of the construction
costs of the illegal structures. In addition, further
actions may be taken to rectify the illegal structures
including an order for these to be demolished or
confiscated by the local government authority.

for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
HE=F-NFT=A=1—FALFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(i)

Impairment assessment — Qingyuan Lvyou (Cont’d)

Taking into consideration of the PRC legal opinion,
the present directors consider that the possibility of
obtaining the ownership certificates for these land
is remote and the structures built on the land which
had no ownership certificates were illegal structures
and may be ordered to be demolished or confiscated
by the local government authority and therefore
the assets without ownership certificates should
have no commercial value. Full impairment loss of
HK$149,970,000 on property, plant and equipment and
HK$34,032,000 on lease prepayments for the Assets
transferred to the Group and other assets without
ownership certificate and a provision for penalty of
HK$18,982,000 in respect of the illegal structures were
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Since 2015, Qingyuan Lvyou commenced the
development of new facilities for the manufacture of
a new product needed for transforming sludge into
an environmental product called ceramsite. However,
due to the new environmental regulations, Qingyuan
Lvyou decided to suspend this project as it would not
be profitable taking into account the costs in meeting
the new standards. As such, the present directors
made full impairment loss of HK$9,063,000 (2018:
HK$126,086,000) on the costs incurred in this project
which was classified as construction in progress under
property, plant and equipment for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBmRME (F)

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(i)

Impairment assessment — Qingyuan Lvyou (Cont’d)

The present directors made an impairment assessment
on the remaining assets by engaging a professional
valuer to provide their recoverable amounts based
on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections and financial budgets approved by the
directors covering a period of 5 years and determined
that the recoverable amount of the Qingyuan Lvyou
CGU to be HK$240,814,000 as at 31 December
2018. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow
projections is 17.36%. The growth rates adopted in
the first three years are -14% to 18% and cash flows
beyond the three-year period are extrapolated using
a 3% growth rate that is the same as the long term
average growth rate for the industry. It was concluded
that the fair value less costs of disposal did not
exceed the value-in-use. Based on the impairment
assessment, the present directors made impairment
losses of HK$348,878,000 on property, plant and
equipment, HK$64,274,000 on intangible assets
and HK$59,100,000 on goodwill in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2018.

Based on the valuation report for 2019, the present
directors considered that no impairment loss for
the year ended 31 December 2019 was necessary.
The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections for the valuation is 16.76%. The growth
rates adopted in the first two years are -14% to
18% and cash flows after the two-year period are
extrapolated using a 3% growth rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(if)

Impairment assessment — Longmen Zhongtao
Recycling

EREEBRRKEEZRABEMRDA (“Longmen
Zhongtao Recycling”) a subsidiary of the Group, was
assigned to take up the BOT contract entered into
by the Group with BEFIBRIREBEFHLEEER (Longmen
County Environmental Hygiene Administration)
(the “Longmen Authority”) for the construction of
a solid waste treatment plant. Longmen Zhongtao
Recycling completed the construction in 2017. As
at 31 December 2017, the intangible assets, gross
amounts due from customers for contract work
and the deferred tax liabilities relating to this BOT
contract were HK$640,506,000, HK$107,547,000 and
HK$33,084,000 respectively.

However, on 20 February 2019, the Group received a
notice from the Longmen Authority pursuant to which
the Longmen Authority ordered to early terminate
the BOT contract. According to the notice, amongst
others, the construction of the solid waste treatment
plant was behind schedule and certain of its facilities
as constructed had quality and safety issues and not
built within the official red line of the BOT project site
and which had therefore seriously violated the terms
of the BOT contract. In this regard, the Longmen
Authority ordered to terminate the BOT contract and
took over the operation of the plant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
R ME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=—F—NE+=F=F—ALFE
18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d) 18. M¥E -WERZRWE (#&)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d) (@) WEEM (&)

Impairment assessment — Longmen Zhongtao
Recycling (Cont’d)

On 21 February 2019, the Group signed a release
agreement with the Longmen Authority on the BOT
project. On 22 November 2019, the Group entered
into a supplementary agreement with the Longmen
Authority pursuant to which the parties agreed, among
others, that the compensation for the early termination
of the BOT project to be paid by the Longmen
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Longmen Zhongtao Recycling. The Longmen Authority
shall pay all the compensation within 180 days when
the Longmen Authority enters into a new operating
contract with a new project operator and pay the
compensation to the Group within 30 days when the
Longmen Authority receives payments for the project
from the new operator.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M B|RME (&)
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(if)

Impairment assessment — Longmen Zhongtao
Recycling (Cont’d)

According to the supplementary agreement, the total
compensation shall be based on a valuation report
issued by a professional valuer in the PRC. On 24
April 2020, the Group received the first installment of
compensation payment of RMB65,800,000 (equivalent
to HK$73,453,000) from the local government
authority. However, no formal valuation report has
been issued by the professional valuer up to the date
of approval of the consolidated financial statements.

The present directors estimated that the total
compensation would be RMB329,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$375,488,000 as at 31 December 2018) which
has been used as the basis for the impairment
assessment on the Longmen Zhongtao Recycling
CGU. The estimate has been made based on the
management’s negotiation with the Longmen Authority
up to date although no formal written agreement has
been entered into in respect of the compensation from
the Longmen Authority up to the date of approval
of these consolidated financial statements. After
the impairment assessment, impairment losses of
HK$309,602,000 and HK$951,000 on the intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment respectively,
were charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
derecognised the property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and contract assets of Longmen
Zhongtao Recycling as the BOT contract was
terminated and a compensation receivable was
recognised as disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
R ME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(iv)

Impairment assessment — Zhongshan Haitao

Zhongshan Haitao was engaged in the provision of
wastewater treatment plants operation services and
the supply of industrial water. On 25 April 2019, the
Group entered into an agreement with an independent
third party pursuant to which the independent third
party agreed to inject RMB98,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$109,397,000) into Zhongshan Haitao in form
of equity and shareholder’s loan for 49% equity
interest in Zhongshan Haitao. The deemed disposal
was completed on 20 August 2020. The recoverable
amount of Zhongshan Haitao of HK$100,702,000 as
at 31 December 2018 has been determined based on
the transaction price of RMB98,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$111,847,000) of which RMB43,235,000
(equivalent to HK$49,344,000) was in form of equity.
The present directors considered that the transaction
price reflected the fair value of Zhongshan Haitao.
As a result, the directors made impairment losses
of HK$7,599,000 on goodwill, HK$9,401,000 on
intangible assets and HK$63,290,000 on property,
plant and equipment in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018.
Zhongshan Haitao has been reclassified to the asset
held for sale in 2019, the details of which are set out in
note 32(a) to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

v)

Impairment assessment — Guangzhou Haitao

Guangzhou Haitao commenced the construction of
a wastewater pipe system in 2018 in connecting the
wastewater treatment facilities between Guangzhou
Haitao and Guangzhou Yinglong. Upon completion of
the construction, Guangzhou Haitao would be able to
divert wastewater collected from its customers through
the pipe system, to Guangzhou Yinglong and utilize
Guangzhou Yinglong’s wastewater treatment capacity
to generate more business.

In March 2020, the local government authority in
Xintang informed Guangzhou Yinglong that its plant
and facilities would be expropriated in the near future.
As such, Guangzhou Yinglong would no longer be
able to operate its business as a wastewater treatment
service provider. Therefore, Guangzhou Haitao
suspended the construction work and the pipe system
project was abandoned. In this connection, the present
directors considered that the recoverable amount of
the construction in progress relating to the pipe system
is nil. Therefore, an impairment loss of HK$14,641,000
(2018: HK$44,626,000) on the carrying amount of
construction in progress as included in property, plant
and equipment was charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBmRME (F)

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

v)

Impairment assessment — Guangzhou Haitao (Cont’d)

Subsequent to the indictment for illegal disposal
of sludge made against Guangzhou Haitao, the
management decided to terminate the sludge
treatment operation of Guangzhou Haitao. As a
result, a full impairment loss of HK$56,876,000 on the
property, plant and equipment related to the sludge
treatment facilities was made during the year ended 31
December 2018.

The recoverable amount of the Guangzhou Haitao
of HK$205,434,000 as at 31 December 2018 has
been determined based on a value-in-use calculation
using cash flow projections and financial budgets
approved by the present directors covering a period
of 5 years. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash
flow projections is 16.68%. The growth rates adopted
in the first three years are -51% to 20% and cash
flows beyond the three-year period are extrapolated
using a 3% growth rate that is the same as the long
term average growth rate for the industry. It was
concluded that the fair value less costs of disposal did
not exceed the value-in-use. Based on the impairment
assessment, the directors made an impairment loss of
HK$36,522,000 on property, plant and equipment in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

Based on the valuation report for 2019, the present
directors considered that no impairment loss for
the year ended 31 December 2019 was necessary.
The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections for the valuation is 16.71%. The growth
rates applied in the first two years are -51% to
19% and cash flows after the two-year period are
extrapolated using a 3% growth rate.

for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(vi)

Impairment assessment — Guangzhou Liangang

Since April 2018, Guangzhou Liangang suspended its
hazardous waste treatment and sludge operation as
a result of the investigation and charge made by the
local government authority as disclosed in note 5(a)
to the consolidated financial statements. In 2019, the
local government in Nansha, Guangzhou planned to
expropriate the land owned by Guangzhou Liangang,
therefore, in determining the recoverable amount of
the cash generating unit of Guangzhou Linagang as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the present directors
made reference to the amount of compensation
of not less than RMB541,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$603,918,000) for the expropriation of its land to be
received from the local government authority. Although
no formal agreement has been entered into in respect
of the compensation up to the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements, the present
directors considered that the amount of compensation
has been agreed verbally. As the compensation for
land substantially exceeds the carrying amount of
the lease prepayments of Guangzhou Liangang,
the present directors are of the opinion that there
is no impairment on the lease prepayments of
HK$51,947,000 (2018: HK$54,556,000) as at 31
December 2019. As the compensation does not cover
the loss in the business operation and other operating
assets, full impairment losses of HK$118,200,000,
HK$50,961,000 and HK$28,693,000 on the respective
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
goodwill were therefore charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2018. No further impairment loss was
considered necessary for the year ended 31 December
2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
R ME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE—F-NFF—F=1—FAIFE
18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d) 18. M¥ BB K& (&)
(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d) (@) WEEM (&)

(vij) Impairment assessment — Guangyuan Xizhou

(vii)  JBL1E 5P 1 — B 7T 2 M

Since 2011, Guangyuan Xizhou made prepayments
for the acquisition of a piece of industrial land in an
industrial park located at Guangyuan, Sichuan, the
PRC and commenced the construction of water supply
and wastewater treatment facilities upon the land.
Upon completion of the construction, Guangyuan
Xizhou is able to supply water and provide wastewater
treatment services to garment factories operating
within the industry park. However, the present
directors realized that only a few garment companies
moved into the industry park and the demand for
water supply and wastewater treatment services
would not be sufficient to justify a profitable operation.
As such, the construction work has been slowed
down and delayed. Given the prolonged insufficient
demand for the water supply and wastewater
treatment services, and the uncertainties in the future
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M EE B RE B
W BB AP BRI Y )1 & T
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RARULZEFAEBERE
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development and commencement of the commercial K5 KRR RS K
operation, a full impairment loss of HK$134,792,000 EHARE LU k33
on the construction in progress and prepayments ERNEXEECHREZ

for purchase of property, plant and equipment was
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year ended 31 December 2018.

In addition, an impairment loss of HK$5,453,000 on
lease prepayments was also made as the carrying
amount of the lease prepayments was higher than its
recoverable amount, which was arrived at based on
a valuation performed by a professional valuer based

THREM EREBE=
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on a fair value less costs of disposal basis. No further DNIRBEXGHEMZRA
impairment loss was considered necessary for the year T EREERRNELEE
ended 31 December 2019. TRHEEEH -BE=

E-AF+=RA=+—
BUEFE BERIH
ATEHZE—DRE
B

PERREERRAT
FEHE 2019

239



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d) 18. W% WBE RRE (&)
(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d) (a) REFFME (&)

(viii) Impairment assessment — Guangzhou Kaizhou, (viij) R E 1 — EMELH
Guangzhou Yinglong, Guangzhou Xintao and BENEBIE - EMITER
Guangzhou Xinzhou E N FTH
Four of the Group’s subsidiaries namely Guangzhou AEBWEXRKE QT
Kaizhou, Guangzhou Xintao, Guangzhou Xinzhou (BN & N SN ~ & N 37
and Guangzhou Yinglong were located within two HBEMNT MR EMNE
industrial parks in Xintang, Guangzhou, the PRC 2 ) 19 47 A P B B M 3
and providing wastewater treatment services and FERMELXEERN
supply of industrial water to factories operating in the WANRZIXEEZEE
industrial parks. The local government promulgated a B T 3 55 K R 12 AR
number of new environment protection policies which BRHETZAK i
adversely affected the subsidiaries’ operations. A 75 BUAT 78 1 018 37 IR 4R
significant number of the Group’s customers moved BR -BHHNBAREE
out from the areas where the subsidiaries facilities BERIAEE KEAR
were situated in the last quarter of 2017 and early EBEEFER=-Z—+
2018. Guangzhou Kaizhou, Guangzhou Xinzhou FHRE-—ZFR=-ZT—N
and Guangzhou Xintao also ceased their business FEORBZEWME R
operations whereas Guangzhou Yinglong continued to Bl ZRIEFTE 2 & o
maintain a minimal facility for its business operation. & N S - BTN &
The present directors considered this as an impairment B M #08 TS 15 1k ¥ %
indicator and carried out an impairment review on LE . mEMN RS
the property, plant and equipment and the related EEBRIMNEBESE
prepaid land lease payments based on the fair value T - RMEEERE
less costs of disposal basis. The present directors WHEEEZR LRA
estimated that except for Guangzhou Yinglong which SRR & AN B E S
expected a compensation of RMB259,000,000 ER GG D
from the local government authority, there were no BiE LA S RIEE
compensation for Guangzhou Kaizhou, Guangzhou THREZH REES
Xintao and Guangzhou Xinzhou. The present directors fhat o BRE N B IE 78 5
concluded that except for the lease prepayments, B it 5 BT HES /B A
full impairment should be made on all other items of X 259,000,0007T 4 -
property, plant and equipment not covered by the & N SLIN ~ B N EOE R
compensation as these assets no longer have a value- [& N 37 M BT 4 BT o
in-use and their residual value would be immaterial. RAEEEBHERA
As a result, impairment losses of HK$21,402,000, BREEEMNRIBIN B
HK$87,255,000, HK$576,000 and HK$231,842,000 HmEHM A EFHE
on the property, plant and equipment of Guangzhou HEANNE - BRER
Kaizhou, Guangzhou Xintao, Guangzhou Xinzhou HEBHEBELEZER
and Guangzhou Yinglong and impairment losses of B REEAZEEET
HK$20,156,000 on goodwill and HK$24,372,000 on BEEXAEE BHE
intangible assets of Guangzhou Yinglong were charged FerBEBEITE KK
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the H ERBE=-ZF—N
year ended 31 December 2018. No further impairment F+-_A=+-—81
loss was considered necessary for the year ended FEzHGEeRaRY
31 December 2019 by the present directors of the JZ AN gL ~ S N 3O
Company. BMNFMNREMNBE

ZE -BEREZBE
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(viii) Impairment assessment — Guangzhou Kaizhou,

(ix)

Guangzhou Yinglong, Guangzhou Xintao and
Guangzhou Xinzhou (Cont’d)

The present directors considered that the local
government authority would compensate the
subsidiaries as their business operations were
seriously affected by the new environmental rules
and regulations. However, up to the date of approval
of these consolidated financial statements, except
for Guangzhou Yinglong, the local government
authority did not contact the subsidiaries for any
discussions. Therefore, no compensation has been
taken into consideration in the impairment assessment
of Guangzhou Kaizhou, Guangzhou Xintao and
Guangzhou Xinzhou.

Impairment assessment — Hanyang Shuiwu

The recoverable amount of # 1L JIEE E & ¥ K5
I AEPRLDF (Shunde Hanyang Industrial Water
Supply Company Limited) (“Hanyang Shuiwu”) which
was engaged in the supply of industrial water of
HK$62,772,000 as at 31 December 2018 has been
determined based on a value-in-use calculation using
cash flow projections for financial budgets approved
by the present directors covering a period of 5
years. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow
projections is 18.77%. The growth rates adopted in
the first three years are -13% to 12% and cash flows
beyond the three-year period are extrapolated using
a 3% growth rate that is the same as the long term
average growth rate for the industry. It was concluded
that the fair value less costs of disposal did not
exceed the value-in-use. Based on the impairment
assessment, the present directors made impairment
losses of HK$13,175,000 on property, plant and
equipment, HK$11,506,000 on intangible assets
and HK$27,383,000 on goodwill in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d) 18. W% WBE RRE (&)
(@) Impairment assessment (Cont’d) (@) RWETE (&)
(ix) Impairment assessment — Hanyang Shuiwu (Cont’d) (ix) JEEFFG —BEFKFE
(&
Based on the valuation report for 2019, the present BEZ-NEFENGHE
directors considered that no impairment loss for BRE BEESERAH
the year ended 31 December 2019 was necessary. Z2-ZE-NAE+=A
The pre-tax discount rates applied to the cash flow =+—BILEEEBAE
projections for the valuation is 18.64%. The growth HREEE - ARMGE
rates applied in the first two years are -13% to WIR & 2 T8O B B AT
12% and cash flows after the two-year period are BRIE R 518.64% B M
extrapolated using a 3% growth rate. FHRANERER-13%

F12% T 7 4 10
%78 AR A3 % K1
RREE.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

x)

Impairment assessment — Ganghui Huanbao

The recoverable amount of # 11T IEEEBER
REKEEBR AT (Foshan Shunde Ganghui
Wastewater Treatment Company Limited) (“Ganghui
Huanbao”) which was engaged in the provision of
wastewater treatment plants operation services of
HK$120,978,000 as at 31 December 2018 has been
determined based on a value-in-use calculation
using cash flow projections and financial budgets
approved by the directors covering a period of 5
years. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow
projections is 18.05%.The growth rates adopted in
the first three years are 6% to 17% and cash flows
beyond the three-year period are extrapolated using
a 3% growth rate that is the same as the long term
average growth rate for the industry. It was concluded
that the fair value less costs of disposal did not
exceed the value-in-use. Based on the impairment
assessment, the present directors made impairment
losses of HK$5,774,000 on goodwill, HK$4,554,000
on intangible assets and HK$40,565,000 on property,
plant and equipment respectively in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2018.

Based on the valuation report for 2019, the present
directors considered that no impairment loss for
the year ended 31 December 2019 was necessary.
The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections for the valuation is 18.37%. The growth
rates adopted in the first two years are 6% to 16% and
cash flows after the two-year period are extrapolated
using a 3% growth rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(xi)

Impairment assessment — Guangzhou Kangxiang

Guangzhou Kangxiang was engaged in the provision
of hazardous waste treatment services. The
recoverable amount of Guangzhou Kangxiang CGU
of HK$6,848,000 as at 31 December 2018 has been
determined based on a value-in-use calculation using
cash flow projections for financial budgets approved
by the present directors covering a period of 5
years. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow
projections is 17.72%. The growth rates adopted in
the first three years are -9% to 19% and cash flows
beyond the three-year period are extrapolated using
a 3% growth rate that is the same as the long term
average growth rate for the industry. It was concluded
that the fair value less costs of disposal did not
exceed the value-in-use. Based on the impairment
assessment, the present directors made impairment
losses of HK$6,120,000 on goodwill, HK$11,474,000
on intangible assets and HK$4,889,000 on property,
plant and equipment respectively in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2018.

Based on the valuation report for 2019, the present
directors considered that no impairment loss for
the year ended 31 December 2019 was necessary.
The pre-tax discount rates applied to the cash flow
projections for the valuation is 17.78%. The growth
rates applied in the first two years are 7% to 19% and
cash flows after the two-year period are extrapolated
using a 3% growth rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(xii)

(xii)

Impairment assessment — Heyuan Solid

Heyuan Solid was engaged in the provision of
solid waste treatment services and had continued
operating at a loss. The valuation based on value-in-
use calculation was a negative amount, therefore, the
present directors determine the recoverable amount
of Heyuan Solid at 31 December 2019 and 2018
based on fair value less cost of disposal. Except for
the lease prepayments, the directors considered that
the fair value less cost of disposal for other assets
was immaterial. As a result, the present directors
made impairment losses of HK$57,771,000 on
property, plant and equipment, HK$28,824,000 on
intangible assets and HK$11,344,000 on goodwill in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2018. No further impairment
loss was considered necessary for the year ended 31
December 2019.

Impairment assessment — Yingde Yingtao

Yingde Yingtao had not yet commenced any business
operations. In previous years, Yingde Yingtao incurred
certain costs on preliminary site formation which was
recorded as construction in progress under property,
plant and equipment. Due to the tight cash flow of
the Group, the project was suspended and would not
be proceeded further. As a result, full impairment of
HK$19,333,000 on property, plant and equipment was
made in the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2018. No further impairment
loss was considered necessary for the year ended 31
December 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(xiv) Impairment assessment — Haoying Solid

Since 2016, Haoying Solid commenced the
construction of solid waste treatment facilities in
an industry park located at Foshan, Guangdong,
the PRC. Upon the completion of the construction,
Haoying Solid would be able to provide solid waste
transit warehouse service to factories operating within
the industry park. However, the present directors
realized that only a few companies had moved into
the industry park and the demand for solid waste
transit warehouse services would not be sufficient to
justify a profitable operation. Given that the insufficient
demand for solid waste treatment services, the
present directors decided not to pursue the project.
Therefore, impairment losses of HK$2,221,000 on
goodwill, HK$6,580,000 on intangible assets and
HK$32,112,000 on construction in progress as
included in property, plant and equipment were
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2018. No further
impairment loss was considered necessary for the year
ended 31 December 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

(b)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(xv) Impairment assessment — Longmen Zhongtao

During the year ended 31 December 2018, Longmen
Zhongtao was in the construction of a solid waste
treatment plant adjacent to the site of Longmen
Zhongtao Recycling. Following the Longmen
Authority early terminated the BOT contract with
Longmen Zhongtao Recycling and the quality and
safety issues as set out in note 18(a)(iii), Longmen
Zhongtao also suspended the construction of its
solid waste treatment plant. The present directors
believe that the project would be expropriated by
the local government authority eventually. However,
up to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the local government authority
did not contact Longmen Zhongtao for discussion
of compensations. Therefore, no compensation has
been taken into consideration in the impairment
assessment of Longmen Zhongtao as at 31 December
2019 and 2018. Except for the lease prepayments, full
impairment loss of HK$241,224,000 on the property,
plant and equipment was charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2018. No further impairment loss was made
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

At 31 December 2019 the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment pledged as security for the Group’s
bank loans amounted to HK$183,650,000 (2018:
HK$188,627,000) (note 35).

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

18. MR- -MERzE (H)

(a)

(b)

AR RS ()

() RERFH—BEPTHE

REBZ-_Z—NF+=
B=+—H EM+HE
IF7E W B B E B IR
Y [E B8 BE ) BT B R o A
BEFIHEEIR B AR L EEEE
HEBZBOTANER
7 M 5E18(a)(iii) BT &
CEERTZEBE B
MPETEEEFEERE
EEEYEER R
EEHE ZEEHRHK
5 15 th 5 BT R o R
M BEZEHERE
EHAEZBE A
F 4% B8 I # B 4% BE P R
EUFmEE - EiL B
—E-NAEFEERZE-N
F+-H=+—H %%
Py ARE 2 R E R R R
At REE-BREETE
TRIEN NE--HE
MEREBEZZERERE
241,224,008 TE R E
E-E2-N\H+=A
=t+—-HLEEEZHZE
BRxRRIKR -BE=
E-hE+=ZRA=1+—
HitEEIEMAEHE—
T RERE-

R-ZB-AEF+=-A=+—8"
BR [ {8 £183,650,00038 T
(=ZZ— )\ :188,627,0008
TZME -BRERZRERE
HAREEBRITERZER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M B|RME (&)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

19. LEASE PREPAYMENTS 19. HEBEMMKIE
2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THBT
Cost R
At 1 January nw—A—H 331,640 358,644
Effect of adoption of HKFRS16 KRB B ﬁﬁ%iﬁ A
F1E 2 & (331,640) -
At 1 January, as restated R—B—H (KB&E%)) - 358,644
Additions wNE - 215,861
Disposals HE - (178,034)
Reclassified as held-for-sale BN BEAEBEEE
(note 32) (FFzE32) - (47,000)
Exchange differences E X ZE%8 - (17,831)
At 31 December 2018 R=FE-NF+=A=+—H - 331,640
Accumulated amortisation and R BERBEEE
impairment losses
At 1 January m—HA—H 67,648 23,201
Effect of adoption of HKFRS16 ﬁzﬁﬁufiﬁ B 7% R & 2E A
ERTE Aok (67,648) -
At 1 January, as restated R—A—HB (K&J%)) - 23,201
Charge for the year FRNRKR - 9,221
Reclassified as held-for-sale ENOBEABEHEE
(note 32) (FzE32) = (1,464)
Impairment loss WEEE - 39,485
Exchange differences PE 5 ZERE - (2,795)
At 31 December R+t=ZA=+—8 = 67,648
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 December BR+=-ZA=+—H - 263,992

Upon the adoption of HKFRS16 Leases, the lease prepayments
were reclassified to right of use assets as at 1 January 2019 (note
22).
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19.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

LEASE PREPAYMENTS (Cont’d)

Impairment assessment

The directors conducted an impairment assessment on the lease
prepayments by estimating their recoverable amount which is
determined based on either value-in-use or fair value less costs
of disposal and made reference to the compensations from local
government. As a result of the assessment, an impairment loss of
HK$39,485,000 was made in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018. The details of the
impairment assessment and reasons for impairment loss are set
out in note 18.

At 31 December 2018, the remaining period of the land use rights

ranges from 24 to 48 years.

At 31 December 2018, lease prepayments with carrying amount
of HK$63,763,000 were pledged for bank loans (note 35).

19.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE_F-NF1-A=1—HAILFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. BEEE
Supply of  Wastewater Sludge and Hazardous
industrial treatment solid waste waste
water plants treatment treatment
operation operation operation operation
right rights rights rights Total
33 Bk Bk
TERK FREER EREY BNEE
Rek gek RELER gek @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TET FEr TEn T
Cost B
At 1 January 2018 R-ZE-N§—-H—-H 47,852 111,376 827,313 917,562 1,904,103
Written off e - = = (15,978) (15,978)
Exchange adjustments EHAZ (2,200) (5,121) (42,642) (42,185) (92,148)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E
+=-A=+-H 45,652 106,255 784,671 859,399 1,795,977
At 1 January 2019 R-ZE-N&—-H—-A 45,652 106,255 784,671 859,399 1,795,977
Classified as held for sale PEABELE - (11,163) - - (11,163)
Disposal (Note) HE (M) - - (593,168) - (593,168)
Exchange adjustments ExpE (1,000) 2,328) (17,187) (18,825) (39,340)
At 31 December 2019 R=B-NE
+ZA=+-H 44,652 92,764 174,316 840,574 1,152,306
Accumulated amortisation and R # ¥ R R EFE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2018 RZE-NE-F—H 6,646 20,308 43,839 129,481 200,274
Amortisation for the year FRHE 3,155 5,923 34,393 47,156 90,627
Impairment loss HEER 11,507 38,316 409,279 62,436 521,538
Written off g5 - - - (15,978) (15,978)
Exchange adjustments ERRE (826) (2,504) (17,762) (9,845) (30,937)
At 31 December 2018 R-E-NE
+ZB=+-H 20,482 62,043 469,749 213,250 765,524
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE-F—H 20,482 62,043 469,749 213,250 765,524
Classified as held for sale PEABELE - (11,163) - - (11,163)
Amortisation for the year ERBH 2,102 3,036 3,411 38,872 47 421
Disposal (Note) dE (M) - - (314,208) - (314,208)
Exchange adjustments EHRZ (485) (1,412) (10,347) (5,334) (17,578)
At 31 December 2019 R-E-nE
+=ZA=+-H 22,099 52,504 148,605 246,788 469,996
Carrying amount RHEE
At 31 December 2019 RZE-nE
+=-A=+-H 22,553 40,260 25,711 593,786 682,310
At 31 December 2018 R-E-N\E
+=ZA=+—-H 25,170 44,212 314,922 646,149 1,030,453
Note: MizE :
The amount represented the intangible assets which had been taken over by ZEEEIENRERRIEBOTANECHEM
the Longmen Authority upon the early termination of the BOT contract. HEAEENEFLEE-
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20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont’d)

The present directors conducted an impairment assessment
on the intangible assets by estimating the recoverable amount
of the CGU which is determined based on either the value-
in-use calculation or fair value less costs of disposal and
made reference to the compensations from local government
authorities. As a result of the assessment, an impairment loss of
HK$Nil (2018: HK$521,538,000) was made in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2019. The details of the impairment assessment and reasons for
impairment loss are set out in note 18.

The amortisation charge for the year is included in cost of sales in
the consolidated statements of profit or loss.

20.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

21. GOODWILL 21. HE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cost %N
At 1 January R—BA—H 164,725 172,663
Reclassified as held for sale BN EABEHE (7,169) =
Exchange differences N ERE (5,870) (7,938)
At 31 December R+=—B=+—8H 151,686 164,725
Accumulated impairment losses B BEER
At 1 January m—HB—H 164,725 2,423
Reclassified as held for sale BN EABELE (7,169) -
Impairment loss (note 10) REEE (ME10) - 168,390
Exchange differences EHEZE (5,870) (6,088)
At 31 December R+=-—A=+-—H 151,686 164,725
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December R+=ZAR=+—H” - -
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21.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

GOODWILL (Cont’d) 21.

Goodwill acquired through acquisition of subsidiaries is allocated
to the Group’s cash-generating unit (“CGU”) identified as follows.

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

BE(#)

BB E A RS2 EERE
EECERARSELEN (B
B )T HEMT o

2019 2018
—g-hFE —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER T

Water supply services oK AR
- Hanyang Shuiwu —EFEKE
Wastewater treatment services V5K IR IR
- Guangzhou Yinglong -EMNERE
- Ganghui Huanbao - BERR
- Zhongshan Hailan Water Resources - HBEEKE R
Development Company Limited BRAR ([HILEEE])

(“Zhongshan Hailan”)

Sludge and solid waste treatment 75 e I [ 78 BE W) = 3 AR 7%
services
- Qingyuan Lvyou —BREH
- Heyuan Solid — IR & EE
- Guangzhou Kangxiang -EMNER
- Haoying Solid — R ERE

Hazardous waste treatment services 15 b BE W) R 12 R 7%
- Guangzhou Liangang —EMEB

Impairment assessment

Year ended 31 December 2018

The present directors conducted an impairment amount on the
goodwill by estimating the recoverable amount of the CGU which
is determined based on either the value-in-use calculation or
the fair value less costs of disposal and made reference to the
compensations from local government authorities. As a result of
the assessment, the directors made full impairment loss on the
goodwill during the year ended 31 December 2018. The details of
the impairment assessment and the reasons for impairment loss
are set out in note 18.

AR

BE—E-/\F+=A=1+—Hi
FE

REIEEEBGTHRESEEENZ
AN ESEEEEETRESEE
ARESEEREEAEBTES
AFERBREERS WKSEEH
BRMECHERE T HEHRE
ENBEZE-N\F+ZA=1+—
BEEEHEEFELEE2ERERS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

22. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 22, FRAEEE
(@ The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets (a FALAEEFRAESEEZRE
and movements during the year are as follows: BERESBOT:
Leasehold Leased
land properties Total
HE i HEWE 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FET FET
At 1 January 2019, upon R=ZE—-—hF
adoption of HKFRS 16 —B—B B&HE#H
ERMBEREER
$16%%5 263,992 45,517 309,509
Additions NE - 678 678
Reclassified as assets BN HEABEHE
held for sale EE (17,882) - (17,882)
Amortisation for the year FREE (7,898) (20,318) (28,216)
Exchange adjustments E R (5,648) (715) (6,363)
At 31 December 2019 R=ZZE—hF
+=A=+—H 232,564 25,162 257,726
(b) The amounts recognised in the profit or loss in relation to b)) REZAEIZEESZHEW
leases are as follows: T:
2019
—E-NF
Total
FERC)
HK$’000
FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEEBZHNE 3,823
Amortisation of right-of-use assets FREEEZE#E 28,216
Expense relating to short-term leases EEFEEAR B RERAE BT KIREED FE165%
and other leases with lease terms HEFF 12 A RER2EHEER
end within 12 months of the date of EHttHEEBE2HX
initial application of HKFRS 16 3,140
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23.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Cont’d)

(b) (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2019, the leasehold land of
HK$60,052,000 was pledged to secure the bank loans of

the Group (note 35).

The directors conducted an impairment loss assessment
on the right-of-use assets by estimating their recoverable
amount which is determined based on either value-in-use
or fair value less cost of disposal and made reference to the
compensations from the local government. The details of
impairment loss assessment are set out in note 18.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of major subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019 are as

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

22. EHBEEE (&)

() (%)

R-B-AF+=A=+-
H - & + #60,052,0007%& T
BER FAAEERTER
B I8 (BiHESS) o

EZFEBRMATHFERAREEZT
WE SRR RS EETR
EiHE TRE S EEHREE
FAEESRLAFEREERA
WEKSZEMBF2HEES
E o BEE BTG 2B RE
HAMFEE18 ©

23. RMBRARAZIKRE

RZZB-hF+ZA=+—-HZE

follows: EMB AR ZFBNOT
Percentage of
ownership interest
BEEEEZAAL
Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and Principal
Name operations paid up capital Direct Indirect activities
KL ERR
£ EEME ERTREAESR E#E CiE:3 TEXHK
Guangzhou Xintao Guangzhou, the PRC HK$1,510,000,000 = 100% Provision of
(ENPERREMZREEERAR) wastewater
(RifE TEMEERE R processing and
BRAR) (i) heating service
N3 i) BB M 1,510,000,000/8 7t RESKEERMEZRE
Guangzhou Haitao Guangzhou, the PRC RMB80,000,000 - 100% Design,
(EMEBERAREEBRATF) () construction,
operation and
maintenance of
wastewater
treatment plant
B EE() BB M A EK#80,000,0007T REEREER

BRETKEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

23. RMIBRARZIRE (&

Percentage of
ownership interest

BEEEZAAL
Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and Principal
Name operations paid up capital Direct Indirect activities
KL ERR
1 EEME ERTREAER i CIE3 TEXHK
Qingyuan Lvyou Qingyuan, the PRC RMB25,000,000 - 100% Provision of
(BRERRFREERLF) () sludge and
solid waste
treatment services
BREH() FEIER A K #25,000,0007T REFER
BENEERE
Guangzhou Lvyou Guangzhou, the PRC RMB81,870,000 - 100% Provision of
(EMFESBRRARE sludge and
BRAA) (i) solid waste and
hazardous waste
treatment services
& M 43¢ A (i) o Bl E M AR #81,870,0007T RETEREBBENR
e R R R 2 R A
Longmen Zhongtao Guangdong, the PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100% Provision of
(FEFHBERAERBERLF) () sludge and
solid waste
treatment services
FEPIHIE() HEER AR #30,000,0007 RESER
BRI R
Longmen Zhongtao Recycling Guangzhou, the PRC Issued: - 100% Design, construction,
(EREBERRELCEZRBRAF) () RMB10,000,000 operation and
maintenance of solid
Paid up: waste treatment plant
RMB10,000,000
BEEMER() HEER BET: Rt ER-
A EK#10,000,0007T HER
HEER
BH BENEER
AK#10,000,0007
Guangzhou Liangang Guangzhou, the PRC Issued: S 100% Provision of
(BMHEBRMBEBERAR) () RMB60,000,000 hazardous waste
treatment services
Paid up:
RMB60,000,000
BMEE() HElE M BET: RERBEN
A EK#60,000,0007 IR R
BH
A #60,000,0007
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23.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

23. RMIBARZIRE (&)

Percentage of
ownership interest

BEEEZAAL
Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and Principal
Name operations paid up capital Direct Indirect activities
AR FRE
£ EEME ERTREAER i CIE3 TEXHK
Zhongshan Haitao (1L 8 HR R Zhongshan, the PRC Issued: - 100% Provision of
BEARAE) () RMB45,000,000 wastewater processing
services
B Paid up: Nil
H L () FE AL EEGE REFKER RS
A K#45,000,0007
B &
Guangzhou Yinglong Guangzhou, the PRC Issued: - 100% Provision of
(BMBEFKEREERAF) () RMB80,000,000 wastewater processing
services
Paid up:
RMB80,000,000
BMEE() FEIEM B#T: RS KEERE
A#80,000,0007
BH
A#80,000,0007
Ganghui Huanbao Foshan, the PRC Issued: - 100% Provision of
(HLmEERBERRSKER RMB3,000,000 wastewater processing
BRAF) () services
Paid up:
RMB3,000,000
BEIRIR() Bl 1L BET: RS KEERE
A K#3,000,0007
BH
A K#3,000,0007
Note: Bt
(i) These are private limited liability companies in the PRC. The official (i) ZERATABNURTPENEREEL

names of these entities are in Chinese. The English translation of the

names is for reference only.

(i)  These are wholly foreign owned enterprises in the PRC. The official
names of these entities are in Chinese. The English translation of the

names is for reference only.

(ii) The equity interest in major operating subsidiaries including Guangzhou
Lvyou, Guangzhou Yinglong, Guangzhou Liangang, Zhongshan Haitao,
Ganghui Huanbao and Qingyuan Lvyou were pledged to secure the
bank loans granted to the Group.

(i)

al

Ao BEARNNEL BBBHRL
SEEETETR

+

ZERRARTENIERERE-
ZELNRZEREBATNEE
RXEREMRSEZ-

REMEEE  EMNEBIE - EIMNEE -
IEE BERRRBESRAS
TELEWBLRAMNRECER
EARTAEBNRTERNE
e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 24, REERAIZIRE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E2-N\EF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Share of net assets PMEEEFE
- Guangzhou Huayue Environmental —BMNEBRRIMERD A
Protection Technology Co., Ltd. (TEMEE])
(“Guangzhou Huayue”) 6,812 4,646
— Guangzhou Suigin Dangerous Waste -ENEEERENER
Transportation Co., Ltd. BRAT
(“Guangzhou Suigin”) (TEM®EE]) 4,584 4,915
11,396 9,561
Details of the Group’s associates at 31 December 2019 are as RZE-AF+ZA=+—HZXK
follows: SEBEQNTFEOT
Place of
incorporation/
Form of business registration and Issued and Percentage of
Name structure operation paid up capital ownership interest Principal activities
1 ERLBRA BMAL/ EMRELHS ERTRERER FEREZEAN TEEE
2019
—Z-hE
Guangzhou Huayue (EMZ#) () Limited liability company ~ Guangzhou, the PRC RMB3,000,000 41% Provision of

environmental protection
consulting service

BMEH) BREFELT hEEM AR 83,000,000 RERRZARY
Guangzhou Suigin (EMEH) () Limited liability company  Guangzhou, the PRC RMB5,000,000 41% Transportation of
hazardous wastes
EMEE() BREFAH REEM AR 5,000,000 BERENER
Note: MizE :
()  Guangzhou Huayue and Guangzhou Suigin are private limited liability () ENEURBEMNEHTHERPEZ
companies in the PRC. The official names of the entities are in Chinese. PAEREEAT -ZEEREH
The English translation of the names is for reference only. EWAPN HNEBEH—SZ-
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25.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
R ME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 25. R—HREELEZRE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-NE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FExT
Unlisted investment: FLEMRE:
Share of net assets DIHEEFE 440 449
Goodwill (55 485 476
Less: Impairment A RE (925) (925)
Details of the Group’s joint venture at 31 December 2019 are as KEBR-ZE—NhhE+=-ZBA=+—
follows: AregtEFBTNT:
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and Percentage of
Name registration paid up capital ownership interest Principal activities
£ AL i 2 ERTREHAER BEREEZASY TEXHR
Haigin Tiancheng Guangzhou, the PRC RMB3,000,000 50% Pollutants
(B0 R 380 10 A L AR A measurement
BRAR)
IR, REEM AR #3,000,0007 ERMAIE
Note: This is a private limited liability company in the PRC. The official name MizE: WIPRIBEZ2RABREETLD
of the entity is in Chinese. The English translation of the name is for Al ZEBRERFBBAPRNL EX
reference only. EREHsE
Haigin Tiancheng was suffered from operating losses for recent BILRPIEFEZTRERHB K2
years. With reference to the latest management accounts of EBNHARF e RIAHERRE H
Haigin Tiancheng, there was no improvement in its financial BERREERS -EiL REE
performance. As such, the present directors were of the view that ERARBUORB 2 REBRIET
the investment in Haigin Tiancheng should be fully impaired. ZHERE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

26. CONTRACT ASSETS 26. SHEE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET

Contract assets arising from R ETEREEEZ
service concession arrangement EHEE 216,271 330,267
Less: Impairment loss R EEE (757) (775)
215,514 329,492

Portion classified as DERIRBEEI D
non-current asset (194,481) (300,048)
Current TED 21,033 29,444
2019 2018
—B-NF —E-N\F
Impairment of contract assets HK$’000 HK$’000
EHNEERE FERT FET
At 1 January K—A—H 775 -
Impairment loss recognized EREAREBESE - 803
Exchange adjustments R (18) (28)
At 31 December BW+=-ZA=+—H” 757 775

Certain subsidiaries of the Group entered into service concession
arrangements with legal government authorities (the “Grantors”)
for the design, construction and operation of wastewater and
solid waste treatment plants in the PRC, with operation periods
varying from 25 to 30 years. The Group has the obligations to
maintain the wastewater and solid waste treatment plants in
good condition. The Grantors guarantee that the Group will
receive minimum annual payments for certain service concession
arrangements. Upon expiry of the concession periods, the
wastewater and solid waste treatment plants and the related
facilities will be handed over to the Grantors at nil consideration.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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26.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

CONTRACT ASSETS (Cont’d)

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. The standard rights of the Grantors to terminate the
agreements include failure of the Group to construct or operate
the wastewater and solid waste treatment plants and in the event
of a material breach of the terms of the agreements by the Group.
The standard rights of the Group to terminate the agreements
include failure of the Grantors to make payment under the
agreements and in the event of a material breach of the terms of
the agreements by the Grantors.

Revenue relating to the construction services provided in
constructing the wastewater and solid waste treatment plants
is recognised as contract assets and intangible assets in the
financial statements according to accounting policies as set out
in note 3(e) and note 3(h) respectively.

Contract assets represent revenue from BOT arrangements and
bear interest at rates ranging from 5.94% to 6.80% per annum for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 5.94% to 6.80%). The
amounts for BOT arrangements are not yet due for payment and
will be settled by way of receiving revenue to be generated during
the operating periods of the BOT arrangements.

For the contract assets arising from concession operating right,
since the party to concession agreements are local government
authorities in PRC, the Group considers the credit risk is low as
as at 31 December 2019. The Group does not hold any collateral
over the balance.

26.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

27. PAYMENTS FOR ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

27. WEEM B AR Z K

2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cost FR 2N
At 1 January W—A—H 62,201 -
Payments made for the acquisition W BB 1E S X 22,714 79,873
Refunded during the year FAERM - (15,383)
Exchange difference EHELE (1,751) (2,289)
At 31 December R+=-—A=+-—H 83,164 62,201
Impairment loss REEIE
At 1 January R—A—8 62,201 -
Provide for the year FRERE 22,714 64,490
Exchange difference [EHEZE (1,751) (2,289)
At 31 December R+=-—A=+-—H 83,164 62,201
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 December Rt=ZR=+—8H - S

a)

ENTHEEFREARAF

In 2015, Guangzhou Xintao entered into an operation
agreement with EMMEAEE FRIFZBER LA (“Menghui”)
pursuant to which Guangzhou Xintao was engaged to
provide wastewater treatment services and manage
the wastewater facilities of Menghui. According to the
operation agreement, Guangzhou Xintao was required
to pay a security deposit of RMB45,000,000 to Menghui
and the security deposit was subsequently increased to
RMB47,045,000 as at 31 December 2018. As from May
2018, Guangzhou Xintao ceased to provide the wastewater
treatment services to Menghui. As at 31 December 2019,
the security deposit paid of RMB48,045,000 (equivalent
to HK$53,633,000) (2018: RMB47,045,000 (equivalent to
HK$53,692,000)) was recorded as other receivables and
prepayments.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

27. PAYMENTS FOR ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

a)

EMTHEEFRRER AT (Cont'd)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group made
payments of RMB47,000,000 (equivalent to HK$55,615,000)
for the proposed acquisition of 100% equity interest in
Menghui from its equity owner which was an independent
third party namely EMB MR EBR AT (“Guangzhou
Yingzhou”). Guangzhou Yingzhou was owned by a former
employee of two subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC and
who was also a former supervisor of an entity controlled
by Mr. Tsui. The former employee resigned from both
positions in February 2017 and in March 2017 respectively.
Due to the delay in the completion of the acquisition,
Guangzhou Yingzhou refunded RMB13,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$15,383,000) to the Group in 2018. In 2019, the
Group made further payments totalling RMB20,000,000
(equivalent to HK$22,714,000) to Guangzhou Yingzhou for
the acquisition. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the net
amount of payments for the acquisition made to Guangzhou
Yingzhou was carried at RMB54,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$60,280,000) and RMB34,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$38,804,000) respectively.

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

27. WEEMBARZ M (&)

a)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

27. PAYMENTS FOR ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

a)

EMTHEEFRRER AT (Cont'd)

Based on its unaudited management accounts, the
net assets of Menghui as at 31 December 2019 was
RMB4,500,000 (equivalent to HK$5,023,000) (2018:
RMB465,000 (equivalent to HK$531,000)) and the current
account balance with the Group as shown in these
management accounts differed from the accounting
records of the Group by RMB98,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$109,397,000) (2018: RMB98,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$111,847,000)). The present directors are unable to
reconcile the discrepancies which cast significant doubt as
to the accuracy and reliability of the financial information
and management accounts presented by Menghui.

On 14 October 2019, the Group entered into an
agreement to fix the consideration for the acquisition at
RMB56,150,000 (equivalent to HK$63,770,000). Under
the agreement, Guangzhou Yingzhou was to undertake
a reorganisation of Menghui to spin-off those unrelated
investments from Menghui. The balance of consideration
of RMB2,150,000 (equivalent to HK$2,442,000) was
paid to Guangzhou Yingzhou in January 2020. However,
Guangzhou Yingzhou was unable to complete its
reorganization subsequently to spin-off those unrelated
investments from Menghui. As a consequence, the
acquisition was not completed.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

27. PAYMENTS FOR ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

a)

EMTHEEFRRER AT (Cont'd)

On 30 June 2020, the Group entered into a cancellation
agreement with Guangzhou Yingzhou to cancel the
acquisition. According to the terms of the cancellation
agreement, Guangzhou Yingzhou should refund the
payments of RMB56,150,000 (equivalent to HK$63,770,000)
to the Group on or before 31 August 2020.

Notwithstanding repeated requests, up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements.
Guangzhou Xintao received from Menghui a payment of
RMB2,250,000 (equivalent to HK$2,555,000) in 2020, but
no refund of the balance was received from Guangzhou
Yingzhou.

As the financial information presented by Menghui could
not be reconciled with those of the Group, the reliability
of the financial information of Menghui was in doubt
and, taking into account the repeated futile requests for
settlement, the present directors are of the opinion that
full impairment loss on the payments for the acquisition of
Menghui of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to HK$22,714,000)
and RMB34,000,000 (equivalent to HK$40,232,000) made
in 2019 and 2018 are necessary and the losses were
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 respectively.
An impairment loss of RMBA45,795,000 (equivalent to
HK$54,189,000) on security deposit is also charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2018.

27. YREEMIEB AR Z T

a)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

27. PAYMENTS FOR ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

b)

EMNTRERBXBRRARAF

On 11 February 2018, Guangzhou Haitao entered into a
capital injection agreement with two individual registered
shareholders of MM ERFEEEMEABMR A A (“Huizhou
Shenghua”) pursuant to which Guangzhou Haitao shall
invest RMB42,000,000 (equivalent to HK$49,699,000) and
the registered shareholders shall invest RMB6,000,000
(equivalent to HK$7,100,000) by way of cash into Huizhou
Shenghua. Upon the completion of the capital injection,
Guangzhou Haitao will hold 60% equity interest in Huizhou
Shenghua. According to the capital injection agreement,
Guangzhou Haitao shall invest RMB25,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$29,583,000) within 7 working days from the date
of the capital injection agreement, RMB10,000,000
(equivalent to HK$11,833,000) shall be invested within
10 working days after the completion of the registration
procedures of the increase in registered capital with
the relevant PRC authority. The remaining balance of
RMB7,000,000 (equivalent to HK$8,283,000) shall be
invested within 10 working days after the publish of a
public notice of outstanding debts by Huizhou Shenghua.
Guangzhou Haitao invested RMB20,500,000 (equivalent
to HK$24,258,000) into Huizhou Shenghua in 2018,
however, no procedures on the increase in registered
capital of Huizhou Shanghua were performed by the
registered shareholders and Guangzhou Haitao was still
not a registered shareholder in the public records up
to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements. In view of the prolonged delay in performing
the capital increase procedures, no up-to-date financial
information of Huizhou Shenghua was available for
impairment assessment purpose and the uncertainty in
further proceeding the investment or the recovering of the
amount invested in Huizhou Shenghua, the present directors
made full impairment loss on the amount of RMB20,500,000
(equivalent to HK$24,258,000) invested in Huizhou
Shenghua in the consolidated statement or profit or loss for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

COMPENSATION RECEIVABLE

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

28. MEYHEE
2019 2018
—E-hF —B-NE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT TET

Balance as at 31 December

RTZRA=1t—-HZ&&

367,263 =

The amount represented the estimated compensation of
RMB329,000,000 (equivalent to HK$367,263,000) that might be
received from the Longmen Authority for the early termination of
the BOT project as disclosed in note 18(a)(iii) to the consolidated
financial statements.

In November 2019, the Group reached a supplementary
agreement with the Longmen Authority pursuant to which both
parties agreed that the compensation for the early termination
of the BOT project in Longmen County shall be based on a
valuation report issued by a professional valuer recognised by
both parties. Up to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the valuation was still in progress and the
amount of compensation has not been officially confirmed and
might still be subject to change. On 24 April 2020, the Group
received the first installment of the compensation payment of
RMB65,800,000 (equivalent to HK$73,453,000) from the local
government authority. The compensation received was deposited
into a designated bank account on escrow under the join custody
of the Longmen Authority, the Group and the bank and is to be
used firstly to pay off salaries, construction costs, bank loans and
interests of Longmen Zhongtao Recycling.

ZE BRI IR AR S B IS 3R 2R M EE18(a) i) AT
W BIERKRIEBOTEE M A& HAEM
HEBE R = 14 51 4 {8 A R #5329,000,000
7t (18 & 14367,263,000/ 7T ) °
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FOA=-+MA  AEBEEEEBUT
B HA E I FA R %565,800,0007T (48
& 773,453,000/ 7T ) ° FrizEERE S UL
AEARGEENREMKE NEERIR
THEREZEERTRER MY
EARIARBRERZEHS BERAK
RITERRFE -

PERREERRAT
FEHE 2019

267



268

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2. B REMEWRE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZE-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt & FHExT FET
Current BN Hj
Trade receivables B rEWEIE 361,166 437,247
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts & : 5 BR 12 1% (b) (180,364) (187,627)
@) 180,802 249,620
Amount due from a former director FEUX Bl E =E FIE (© 238,599 272,372
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts & : & Bk B 1% (238,599) (241,100)
- 31,272
Amounts due from companies WA ESEH A TRE
controlled by a former director (d) 85,922 54,924
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts & : 5 BR 1 1% (85,922) (27,791)
- 27,133
Loan receivable W E K (e 67,969 -
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts & : & IR 3 % (67,969) =
Consideration receivable from HEHRB A RNEKRRE
disposal of subsidiaries 45 213,615 4,565
Money paid to the local 1) 4tb 75 0T HE B8 =% A R R IR
government authority 5(c) 83,723 85,598
Advances to suppliers AT HERNERK 26,089 25,818
Other receivables and H At H At P& SRR IR I TR (S FRIE
prepayments 52,051 39,378
Amounts due from related parties  F& U B B 75 71 1B 48(c)(i) 6,262 22,811
Less: allowance for doubtful debts & : R BR 3 1% (3,911) (3,994)
2,351 18,817
Receivables of value-added tax BEFIRBEWRIE
refund 5,872 6,288
564,503 488,489

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
R ME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d) 2. B RHEMEWRIE (&)
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-N\EF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5t FHExT FHB T
Non-current JEBNHER

Prepayments for purchase of lease BEHEFEREBERZREZ

prepayments and equipment TN RRIE 940 59,795

Receivables of a construction FE U tth 75 BR AT 44 RE ~

project from a local EFRIEARIE
government authority 9,175 8,902
Other receivables and H b B W SR IE I FE AT FRIE
prepayments 2,363 3,471
12,478 72,168

Total ot 576,981 560,657

All of the prepayments and other receivables (including amounts FERNREREMERIE (8

due from related parties), apart from those classified as non- FEREUN BB 0 JIE) FREAS R — &

current portion, are expected to be recovered or recognised as AKESERARST HETBES
expense within one year. HAFNHWED -

Notes: BtsE :

(@) The aging analysis of trade receivables, including those classified as (a) ERESNE (BEIEAFFL
part of a disposed group held for sale, based on the invoice date, and E5E) REZAHREHBRRIE
net of allowance, is as follows: BENERRIMAOT :

2019 2018
ZE-hF —E-N\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Within 1 month —EAR 119,740 179,073
1 to 3 months —Z={@EA 43,507 53,319
Over 3 months but within 1 year ZR=BAE—FR 19,127 45,904
Over 1 year ZHR—F 19,968 21,056
202,342 299,352

Less: Assets of disposal group classified WD EABELEZ
as held for sale (note 32) HESEBEE (M5E32) (21,540) (49,732)
180,802 249,620

PERERRERRAE | 269
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

Notes: (Cont’d)

(a)

(b)

(Cont’d)

The Group allows an average credit period 30 days to its customers.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. Further
details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 6(b).

Impairment of trade receivables
Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded using
an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of

the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off
against trade receivables directly (see note 3(j)).

The movements in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year,

20. E5RHMBKFIR (&)

By : (4F)

(@)

(b)

(4)

AEEMEREFREMAFE=1THZ
FEH - AREEIER 2D E R
BREMERR - AEBEERKZ
#— S BENHIES(D)

FEW B 5 SOERE

W E S SRR R ERB BT ARE
IR BRIEA S EAEE W E A B IE
MBS EH NZBERT  RERE
HERRWE SRR (BRI
3()) e

FRARRBHEED (BEFHIRER

including both specific and collective loss components, were as EEEXD)WT :
follows:

2019 2018
—®-Nn%F Er Sy
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
At 1 January n—A—H 187,627 33,907
Impairment loss recognised SRRREEE - 162,267
Reversal of impairment loss BEREEE (2,055) (1,274)
Exchange adjustments EHRR (5,208) (7,273)
At 31 December R+=A=+—H 180,364 187,627

During the year ended 31 December 2018, certain customers moved
out from areas where the subsidiaries’ facilities were situated and
ceased business relationship with the Group. Certain other customers
sued the Group for breach of contracts and refused to make
settlements. Taking into account the long overdue status of these debts
which did not have any subsequent settlements, the present directors
made impairment losses of HK$162,267,000 on the trade receivables
which mainly represented the full impairment made on the aforesaid
trade receivables.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
R M RRME (&)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d) 2. EE5RHEMEWRIE (&)
Notes: (Cont’d) MizE: (&)
(c) Amount due from/(to) a former director () MW (FEM)AIESHIE
Amount due
froma
former director
included
in assets of a
disposal group
Guangzhou The Guangzhou classified as
Lvyou Company Xintao Subtotal held for sales Total
HASEE
BEHEZ
HEREY
N BEZEYE .
BN&R KRF BNIE N EEHE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tax TiEn TEn TEx TiEn TAn
Mr. Tsui Cham To REELE
Gross amount it
At 1 January 2018 R=Z-N\%-5-H 119,630 - - 119,630 - 119,630
Fund advanced to Mr. Toui FhEEZES - 588,250 - 588,250 2,083 590,533
Fund from Mr. Toui RERELZES - 400,380) - 400,380) - (400,380)
Expenses paid by Mr, Tsui REEZFZEX - (27,128) - (27,128) = (27,128)
Interest on other borrowings BELXAZAMEEZRE
paid by Mr. Toui - (2,500) - (2,500) - (2,500)
Exchange movement ERZH (5,500) - - (5,500) S (5,500)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N5-A-R 114,130 158,42 - 272,372 2,083 274,655
At 1 January 2019 RZ2-NE-A-B 114,130 158,242 - 272,372 2,083 274,655
Fund from Mr, Tsui REfEEZES - (24,689) - (24,689) = (24,689)
Transfer to the Company [-E RO - 2,233 - 2,233 (2,233 N
Fund advanced to Mr, Toui BRFREEZES - - 510 510 - 510
Expenses paid by the Group on behalf of Mr. Tsui REBREREEXHZER - 291 - 201 - 291
Expenses paid by Mr. Tsui BEEXMFZHX - (9,609) - (9,609) - (9,609)
Exchange movement EREH (2,501) - ® (2,509) (50) (2,559)
At 31 December 2019 RZB-AF+=A=+-A 111,629 126,468 502 238,509 - 238,599
Impairment loss HEESE
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\§-A-A - - - - - -
Provided for the year EREE 118,330 126,970 - 245,300 - 245,300
Exchange movement % ] (4,200) - - (4,200) - (4,200)
At 31 December 2018 RZB-N§+=A=+-H 114,130 126,970 - 241,100 - 241,100
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-NE-H-B 114,130 126,970 - 241,100 - 241,100
Exchange movement % ] (2,501) - - (2,501) - 2,501)
At 31 December 2019 RZB-7AF+=A=1-A 111,629 126,970 - 238,509 - 238,599
Carrying amount EEE
At 31 December 2019 RZZ2-AE+=A=t-A - (502) 502 - - -
At 31 December 2018 RZF-\§+=A=+-H - 31,272 - 31,272 2,083 33,555
Max debit balance during the year ERGERERESR
2019 “E-E 274,655
2018 “E2-)N\% 386,987
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

Notes: (Cont’d)

(c)

Amount due from/(to) a former director (Cont’d)

From 1 January 2018 to 5 July 2018, Mr. Tsui advanced
HK$293,595,000 to the Company for repayments of bank loans,
payments of dividend and for working capital purpose and repayments
of HK$60,000,000 were made to Mr. Tsui.

The present directors noted that there were no proper control over the
authorisation of the payments of HK$801,000 (2018: HK$590,533,000)
made to and repayments of HK$34,298,000 (2018: HK$430,008,000)
received from Mr. Tsui during the year ended 31 December 2019. The
present directors also considered that it was not appropriate for them
to rectify these payments as they were not appointed directors at
the time when these payments were made or received. The present
directors are also aware that certain payments were made for no
identifiable business purpose.

The independent investigation committee conducted an investigation
into the receipts from and payments to Mr. Tsui and companies
controlled by him as disclosed in note (d) below and noted that the
payments were made under the instructions of Mr. Tsui which had
overridden the internal control procedures of the Group. The payments
were either unauthorised or without proper authorisation and not
used for the operations of the Group. In particular, after the Group
received the deposit of HK$400,000,000 for disposal of subsidiaries
as mentioned in note 38, HK$398,000,000 was paid to Mr. Tsui under
his instructions. Certain proceeds of HK$127,000,000 from other
borrowings as disclosed in note 36 was also paid to Mr. Tsui under his
instructions. In addition, a deposit received for property development of
RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to HK$111,630,000 (2018: equivalent to
HK$114,130,000)) was appropriated by Mr. Tsui in 2016 as disclosed in
note 33(b).

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the present directors were considering taking appropriate actions for
the recovery of the amount due from Mr. Tsui. However, there were
a number of legal proceedings against Mr. Tsui by his creditors for
repayments of his personal overdue debts and Mr. Tsui failed to repay
such debts. The present directors consider that the recovery of the
amount due from Mr. Tsui was remote. Therefore, the amount due
from Mr. Tsui of HK$245,300,000 which were all without subsequent
settlement were considered to be impaired. The loss was charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2018.

The amount was unsecured, interest-free and without fixed terms of
repayment.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
R M RRME (&)
for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=—F—NE+=F=F—ALFE
29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d) 2. B RHEMEWRE(£)

Notes: (Cont’d) MizE: (&)

(d  Amounts due from/(to) companies controlled by a former director (d) W (ER) srESEREATE
Guangzhou
To Kee
included in
assets of a
disposal
Longmen group
Xizhou  Guangyuan  Guangzhou  Zengcheng  Guangyuan  Guangzhou Hutiao  Guangzhou classified as
Port Taodi Xinyiduo Waijing Haitao Zhongtao Station To Kee Subtotal  held fc;a %ale Total
Milis
FARER
BiFHEY
HEEEZ
ENER BnBR EMAES BENE | o] BNTE EFIRREL BB it KE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEn TiEn FiEn FiEn FiEn FiEn ThR T Fr T
Gross amount )
At 1 January 2018 RZ2-NF
-B-8H - - - - - (2,501) 120 - (2,381) - (2,381)
Fund advanced from the Group  AE@M#(I 2 &£ - - - - - - - 106,735 106,735 - 106,735
Fund advanced tothe Group B FASE &S - - - - - () - (45,310) (45,357) - (45,357)
Interest on other borrowings ~ EMBR X2
paid by GuangzhouToKee ~~ EBEEZ IS - S S S = S S (6,615) (6,615) S (6,615)
Fund received on behalf of the A& AEBIE
Group &% S S S S S S 5 o o 6,277 6,277
Exchange differences ERER - - - - - 115 6) - 109 - 109
At 31 December 2018 RZB-N\E
+=A=1+-8 S S 0 S S (2,433) 114 54,810 52,491 6,277 58,768
At 1 January 2019 R=F-NF
-B-A 5 = o o 5 (2,433) 114 54,810 52,491 6,277 58,768
Fund advanced from the Group  AEEZ2 &S 48,442 1,136 9,086 568 852 - - 413 60,497 55,815 116,312
Fund advanced to the Group B4 FAEMzES - (223) - - - - - (23,618) (23,841) - (23,841)
Interest and expenses paid by ~ AEEEZ 2
the Group HASRAX - - - - - - - 23,283 23,283 - 23,283
Interest on other borrowings ~ EMBL X2
paid by Guangzhou To Kee HiEE S - - - - - - - (10,047) (10,047) - (10,047)
Repayment of bank loan by ENBZRE
Guangzhou To Kee RITER - - - - - - - (78,387) (78,387) - (78,387)
Transfer to Guangzhou ERFEMER
To Kee - - - - - - - 61,955 61,955 (61,955) -
Exchange differences EiEE (827) (20) (155) (10) (15) 53 ) (1,433) (2,409) (137) (2.546)
At 31 December 2019 RZB-1F
+-A=t+-H 47,615 893 8,931 558 837 (2,380) 12 26,976 83,542 - 83,542
Impairment loss AEEE
At 1 January 2018 RZ2-N%
_H — E - - - - - — - - - - -
Provided for the year FREE - - - - - - 118 28,213 28,331 - 28,331
Exchange movement ERgH - - - - - - @ (536) (540) - (540)
At 31 December 2018 RZB-N%
+-BA=t+-H - = - - - - 114 21,677 27,191 - 27,791
At 1 January 2019 RZ2-n%F
-B-H 5 - - - - - 114 21,677 27,191 - 27,791
Provided for the year FRiRE 48,442 909 9,086 568 852 - - - 59,857 - 59,857
Exchange differences EREH (827) (16) (155) (10) (15 - @ (701) (1,726) - (1,726)
At 31 December 2019 RZ2-0E
+=ZA=t-8 47,615 893 8,931 558 837 - 12 26,976 85,922 - 85,922
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2019 RE2-n%F
+=A=+-8 - S S S = (2,380) = = (2,380) S (2,380)
At 31 December 2018 RZB-N\F
+ZA=t-8 o o S o = (2,433) S 27,133 24,700 6,277 30,977
Max debit balance during the year £ & S 127 44
2019 “3-hE 48442 1,136 9,086 568 82 NATER 114 58410 NATER 62092 NATER
2018 —Z-N\% o o S o - NATEA 120 54810 NATER 6277 NATER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M B|RME (&)
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

Notes: (Cont’d)

(d)

Amounts due from/(to) companies controlled by a former director
(Cont’d)

EMNECEERREEERAT (“Guangzhou To Kee”), SEFIRBLE
WEMR AT (“Longmen Hutiao Station”), BN HBRIREERLQT
(“Guangzhou Zhongtao”), M7 iMiE5EH R A 8(“Xizhou Port”), E T
SERC A A PR 2 B (“Guangyuan Taoji”) BEMTHBZZRERBE LR
(“Guangzhou Xinyiduo”), &7t /8H 4 #i5 PR 2 8 (“Guangyuan Haitao”)
and ¥ IME E 5 B BR A F(“Zengcheng Waijing”) are controlled by
Mr. Tsui.

The present directors noted that there were no proper control
over the authorisation of the payments of HK$139,595,000 (2018:
HK$113,012,000) made to and repayments of HK$112,275,000 (2018:
HK$51,972,000) received from companies controlled by Mr. Tsui during
the year ended 31 December 2019. In addition, the Group made
net payments of HK$84,277,000 to the companies controlled by Mr.
Tsui during the period from January 2020 to October 2020. Out of
the total payments, HK$19,365,000 were payments without proper
authorization, HK$39,071,000 was used to set off with the amount due
to a non-controlling shareholder as disclosed in note 33(c) and the
remaining balance of HK$25,841,000 were payments for the rental and
advertising expenses received by companies controlled by Mr. Tsui on
behalf of Guangzhou Yanchen Zhili. The arrangement in relation to the
payments received by companies controlled by Mr. Tsui on behalf of
Guangzhou Yanchen Zhili would be finalized upon the execution of the
relevant agreement. The present directors also considered that it was
not appropriate for them to rectify these payments as they were not
appointed directors at the time when these payments were made or
received. The present directors are also aware that certain payments
were made for no identifiable business purpose.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

Notes: (Cont’d)

(d)

Amounts due from/(to) companies controlled by a former director
(Cont’d)

The independent investigation committee conducted an investigation
into the receipts from and payments to these companies, the details
of which are disclosed in note 29(c) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the present directors were considering taking appropriate actions for
the recovery of the amounts due from companies controlled by Mr. Tsui.
However, there were a number of legal proceedings against Mr. Tsui
by his creditors for repayments of his personal overdue debts and Mr.
Tsui failed to repay such debts, the present directors consider that the
recovery of the amounts due from companies controlled by Mr. Tsui
was remote. Therefore, an impairment loss of HK$59,857,000 (2018:
HK$28,331,000) on the amounts due from companies controlled by
Mr. Tsui which were all without subsequent settlement was considered
to be impaired. The loss was charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018
respectively.

The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and without fixed terms of
repayment.

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d) 29.

Notes: (Cont’d)

(e) Loan receivables

B REMBYEIR (&)

By : (4F)
() EWER

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-N\F
Gross amount HEE
At 1 January R—A—8 - -
Loans granted to Guangzhou Yingzhou BFEMEMNZER 69,150 -
Exchange movement EREH (1,181) -
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 67,969 -
Impairment loss WIEEE
At 1 January ®—A—8H - S
Provided for the year FREE 69,150 =
Exchange movement [ 5 42 B (1,181) -
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 67,969 -
Carrying amount at 31 December R+=—BA=+—BZEHE - S

During the period from January 2019 to September 2019, Guangzhou
Xintao made advances totalling RMB60,888,000 (equivalent to
HK$69,150,000) as loans to Guangzhou Yingzhou. All the amounts due
were unsecured, bearing interest at 5% per annum and repayable on
31 January 2020. Guangzhou Yingzhou did not make any repayment
to Guangzhou Xintao on 31 January 2020 and the loans became
overdue. The loan receivable remained outstanding up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements. Other than the
acknowledgement of loan receipts issued by Guangzhou Yingzhou,
there were no loan agreements nor other supporting document for
these loans. No interest income was recognised by the Group. Taking
into account the repeated futile requests for the repayment, the present
directors are of the opinion that full impairment loss on the loan
receivables due from Guangzhou Yingzhou is necessary and the loss
was charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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30.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e MWK (F)
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

INVENTORIES 30. #&
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FTET
Raw materials R A 5,573 8,124
Work in progress EHm 188 1%
Finished goods SR 130 208
Low value consumables EKEEHEER 5,156 5,973
11,047 14,622

Inventories mainly comprise consumable materials for the sludge
and solid waste treatment and the hazardous waste treatment

processes.

An analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an

FEFTERENTREREREY R
feba R IRIRIBAE TP HHFEM B

BRABRXATTABRBZFESH

expense and included in profit or loss is as follows: i N
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Carrying amount of inventories consumed T HEFEREE 99,937 214,690
Write down of inventories FE MR - =
99,937 214,690

PERREERRAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

31.

BANK AND CASH BALANCES 3. RITRBEEER

2019 2018

ZE-NF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT T&T

Deposits with banks RITTERX 174,588 268,959

Cash in hand FHERE 2,615 4,165
Cash and bank balance in the consolidated R#HR& B AR RTR 2

statement of financial position HERIRTE 177,203 273,124

Less: restricted bank deposits B ZRERITER (71,545) -

Less: pledged bank deposits B ERIRITER (1,720) (87,090)
Cash and cash equivalents in the REGERERELRZ

consolidated statement of cash flows HehBEEEEY 103,938 186,034

The bank balance carried interest at rates which ranged from
0.00% to 0.35% (2018: 0.13% to 0.35% per annum). The
Group’s pledged bank deposits as at 31 December 2019 were
to secure the service contracts and the bank loans granted to
the Group as set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the bank and cash balances of the
Group denominated in RMB and kept in the PRC amounted to
HK$172,390,000 (2018: HK$208,353,000). Conversion of RMB
into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

As at 31 December 2019, the bank deposits of HK$1,720,000
(2018: HK$87,090,000) were pledged for the bank loans drawn by
the Group and the service contracts entered with the customers.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

32. ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE

(a)

Zhongshan Haitao

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
determined to dispose of its equity interest in Zhongshan
Haitao, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Group,
to reduce the level of debt of the Group. Zhongshan Haitao
was mainly engaged in the supply of industrial water and
provision of waste water processing services. On 25 April
2019, the Group entered into an agreement with A 1L%
SRtEABRAG, (the “FILFHFF”), pursuant to which
FIL% S agreed o inject RMB98,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$109,397,000) into Zhongshan Haitao in form of equity

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

32. DEAREHEZHEREZE
E

(@) =WEHE

RBE-Z—-—hLhE+=A
=t—HLFE ARERE
HEHERNHILEE (FEEZ
BE2ENBLR) 2 RE:
LU R AR B 2 B KT o
WEEEERSHETER
KRBT KINTARTE - R=
E-NFOEA=+HA K&
BEALFSEHRERRA
Bl ([RILFES AT L

and shareholder’s loan for 49% equity interest in Zhongshan Blth LS REURERR
Haitao. Due to the delay in administrative procedures, the REFZEA@ABLEEEE
deemed disposal of 49% equity interest was completed on A K #98,000,0007T (#HE R

20 August 2020.

109,397,00078 7T ) » LAE{S

L85 2 49% B2 FE o BT IR
BFEER  49%RENEED
EER=E-EFNAZ+H

SR ©
The major classes of assets and liabilities of Zhongshan ERBE=ZE—-—ILEFE+=A
Haitao at the end of the reporting period which have =+—RILEFEZHFREWHER
been presented separately in the consolidated financial REF2M 2P ILISERRE
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, as PReEEREBZEEHEE
follows: WM
2019
—E-hEF
HK$’000
FERT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment ME -BERZE 143,285
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17,882
Inventories BFE 623
Trade receivables EWE Z 21,540
Other receivables and prepayments  Hfth fEULFX IE&?EN%T\IE 7,434
Bank and cash balances RITRBE &4 3,070
Assets directly associated with assets RN AT FHEEEEZHBCEE
classified as held for sale 193,834
Amounts due from group companies S fEFIKE 2 EWEB N RRIE
eliminated upon consolidation 470
Total assets of Zhongshan Haitao FILEECEERE 194,304

PERREERRAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

(a)

32. ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR 2. TEAREFHEZHELERZE
SALE (Cont’d) E (&)
Zhongshan Haitao (Cont’d) (@) wLEE (&)
2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
FHET
Liabilities afE
Trade payables B 5 ENIE 5,697
Other payables and accruals Hitt R RIERETER 14,632
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEEE 2,309
Liabilities directly associated with HAoBAKFLEEEEEEBAAE
assets classified as held for sale 22,638
Amounts due to group companies FEANRRHHE I ENERLQRNRIE
eliminated upon consolidation 217,826
Total liabilities of Zhongshan Haitao  F L& H 2 & EE % 240,464

(b)

Upon the completion of deemed disposal of 49% equity
interest in Zhongshan Haitao, the Group classified the
remaining 51% equity interest in Zhongshan Haitao as
interest in a joint venture as any significant fund payments
and decision making of Zhongshan Haitao shall be jointly
approved and agreed with the purchaser. Therefore, the
present directors consider that the Group has lost control
over this subsidiary. The deposit of RMB40,000,000
(equivalent to HK$44,653,000) was recorded as deposit
received for disposal of subsidiaries set out in note 38(a) to
the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the equity interest in Zhongshan
Haitao was pledged to secure the bank loans granted to the
Group (note 35).

Xintao Investment Co., Ltd.

In late 2018, the Company determined to dispose of its
equity interest in Xintao Investment Co., Ltd. to reduce the
level of debt of the Group and to strengthen the working
capital position of the Group.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

32. ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE (Cont’d)

(b)

Xintao Investment Co., Ltd. (Cont’d)

On 29 November 2018, the Group entered into a transfer
agreement with Agile Eco Technology (Hong Kong) Limited,
an independent third party (“Purchaser B”) (the “Transfer
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell
its 50% equity interests in Xintao Investment Co. Ltd. (a
directly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and
four indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries named Yulin
Xintao Environmental Protection Technology Company
Limited, Guangxi Bobai County Yantao Environmental
Protection Technology Company Limited, Yulin City
Yutao Environmental Protection Technology Company
Limited and Guangxi Xiangzhou Yantao Environmental
Protection Technology Company Limited (collectively
referred to as the “Target Group”) to Purchaser B at a
total cash consideration of RMB563,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$640,469,000). The first payment of
RMB200,000,000 was applied towards repaying bank loans
and the balance of consideration of RMB363,000,000 was
assigned to Purchaser B and Profitica as set out in note 38.
The disposal was completed on 3 January 2019.

On 18 December 2019, the Group entered into another
sale and purchase agreement with Purchaser B for the
disposal of the remaining 50% equity interest in the Target
Group at a total cash consideration of RMB590,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$671,184,000). Pursuant
to a supplementary agreement dated 7 January 2020,
the consideration was increased by RMB30,000,000
(equivalent to HK$34,128,000) to RMB620,000,000
(equivalent to HK$705,312,000).

The Target Group was mainly engaged in the supply of
industrial water, provision of wastewater processing,
land levelling, heating services and electricity generation.
The disposal of the remaining 50% equity interest was
completed on 19 December 2019.

The details of the disposal were set out in note 45(a).
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32. ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR

SALE (Cont’d)

(b) Xintao Investment Co., Ltd. (Cont’d)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Target
Group at the end of the reporting period which have
been presented separately in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018, are as

32. HEAREHEZHEREZE

E(F)

(b)

HEREBRQAF (A)

ERBE-ZE—N\E+=A
=t+-BLEEEZHAHBER
REBEY 2 BEEERRE
HERZEERBEZEESE

follows: Bl :
2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
TET

Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment Y MEREE 1,086,159
Lease prepayments HEFENIE 45,536
Other non-current assets HMtERBEE 43,679
Inventories FE 3,192
Trade receivables FEWE 5 FE 49,732
Other receivables and prepayments H fh fE W IE R TR AT FE 240,201
Bank and cash balances RITRBE &6k 236,964
Total assets classified as held for sale PHABFHEEERE 1,705,463
Liabilities =R

Trade payables B 2 EIMIE 42,501
Other payables and accruals HEANRERETEA 320,615
Current tax liabilities BERIEEE 40,478
Deferred income EZEWA 7,818

Liabilities directly associated with assets classified HEHESBEARBFLHEEE
as held for sale BREzEE 411,412

As at 31 December 2018, the lease prepayments of
HK$41,968,000 and property, plant and equipment of
HK$349,920,000 as included in assets of disposal group
classified as held for sale were pledged for the bank loans
granted to the Group. Also, the equity interest of Xintao
Investment Co., Ltd. was pledged to secure the bank loans

granted to the Group (note 35).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

33. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
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33. ESRHEMEMRE

2019 2018

—E-hE —E-N\F

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Bt £ FExT FET

Trade payables g 2 EIHIE (a 104,122 62,309

Other payables and accruals HtEARERETER 161,869 157,812
Other payables for construction BENAR 2 HMWENFRIE

costs 160,241 206,090
Deposit received for property ERMERRKBZZE

development (b) 111,630 114,130

Other tax payable H b S T 18 52,235 70,002

Interest payable AR E 29,830 3,259
Amount due to a company B —EaESEH AT

controlled by a former director IE 29(d) 2,380 2,433

Amounts due to related parties FE 13 BA B 5 TRIB 48(c)(ii) 34,603 20,404
Amount due to a non-controlling FEff— BIFERREFIE

shareholder (c) 39,071 39,946

695,981 676,385

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled
within one year or are repayable on demand. The credit period
granted by the suppliers ranges from 30 days to 90 days.

FEES REMENTIRFERER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

33. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d) 33. BEERHMEMNKIE(E)
(a) Trade payables (a) EZEMAFRE
The aging analysis of trade payables, including those ESEMNFE (BEZESE
classified as part of a disposal group classified as held for BEEHECHESR —ID
sale, based on invoice date, is as follows: H)RBEZHEMERER ST
T:

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHERT F#ET

Within 1 month —EBAR 44,823 55,921

1 to 3 months —Z2={8A4 29,605 22,400

Over 3 months but within 1 year SR=ZEBAE—FR 16,425 16,015

Over 1 year —F Lk 18,966 10,474

109,819 104,810

Less: Reclassified to liabilities directly & : 2O EABFEFHELSERE
associated with assets HEzEaE

classified as held for sale (5,697) (42,501)

104,122 62,309
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables, AEBEZEMATE (BEZ
including those classified as part of a disposal group ErEABFHECHESER
classified as held for sale, are denominated in RMB. —nE) ZEREEUARKE

sHE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

33. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d)

(b)

(c)

Deposit received for property development

The amount represented a deposit of RMB100,000,000
(equivalent to HK$111,630,000) (2018: equivalent to
HK$114,130,000) received from a developer in 2016.
During the course of audit for the year ended 31 December
2018, the management discovered that there were
omissions in recording a deposit received and an advance
to Mr. Tsui in the previous years’ financial statements.
On 5 December 2016, Guangzhou Lvyou entered into
a cooperation agreement with a property developer in
Guangzhou, the PRC (the “Developer”) for the development
of a parcel of land owned by the Group. On 7 December
2016, Guangzhou Lvyou received a cheque payment of
RMB100,000,000 from the Developer (the “Cheque”) for
payment of a deposit under the cooperation agreement. At
the same time, the Cheque has been endorsed to a third
party without passing through Guangzhou Lvyou’s bank
account which had been confirmed by Mr. Tsui to be a
receipt on the latter’s behalf. As a result, both transactions
were omitted from the books and records of the Group. The
development of the land was suspended subsequently and
the deposit should be returned to the Developer. In January
2020, the Group made a repayment of RMB10,000,000
(equivalent to HK$11,163,000) to the Developer.

Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder

The amount was unsecured, non-interest bearing and
without fixed terms of repayment. Subsequent to the
reporting period, the amount has been set off with the
payments made to a company controlled by Mr. Tsui as
mentioned in note 29(d).
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33. ESRHMBMRIE (&)

(b)

(c)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

34. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 34. §HEaRE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\EFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FE&xT
Contract liabilities EHEE
- Billings in advance of performance -EARMAERE 16,105 14,729
Movements in contract liabilities EHEEBERS
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E2-N\EFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Balance at 1 January R—B— B z#&8k 14,729 35,883
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of M F A E U E B BT A H
recognising revenue during the year that ~ #& N BBEEHHN
was included in contract liabilities at the ~ & &R
beginning of the year (11,730) (30,913)
Decrease in contract liabilities as BREYzeNaERD>
a result of refund - (4,580)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of & %57 HIREE R
billing in advance EHREEEM 13,228 14,729
Exchange adjustments & 5 (122) (390)
Balance at 31 December R+-—A=+—Hz#&& 16,105 14,729
The amount of billings in advance of performance expected to be TEHENRBEE—FEERAKRA
recognised as income after more than one year is HK$Nil (2018: ZRERAEHEEAEERAT(ZE
HKS$NI). —NF ZET) °
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35. BANK LOANS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e MWK (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

35. MITEM

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-NE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBR FER
Secured bank loans BEMBITER 1,724,167 2,467,990
Unsecured bank loans EIKIFIRITER 249,681 327,118
1,973,848 2,795,108
The bank loans are repayable as follows: RITEREAEFENT
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-N\E
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHExT
Within 1 year —FR 1,108,617 1,257,005
More than 1 year, but not BB—F BFHEBME
exceeding 2 years 263,103 484,363
More than 2 years, but not HEME BEFHEBRSF
exceeding 5 years 390,217 673,198
More than 5 years BBREF 211,911 380,542
1,973,848 2,795,108
Portion of bank loans that were in breach EBEZ&KREFHER
of loan agreements and repayable on BREREEZ
demand IRITERH 2 (1,973,848) (2,795,108)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months R12E A BRI HEE 2258 - -

PERREERRAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

35. BANK LOANS (Cont’d) 35. IRITEM (&)
Further analysis on the bank loans as at 31 December 2019: R-E-HhhE+=-A=+—HZIR
TERZE—SDH:

Bank loans MITER 2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000

B FET FET

Bank A RITA (@) 249,681 327,118

Bank B 7B (o) 253,239 258,910

Bank C fR1TC (© 96,370 113,557

Bank D $R47D (d) - 228,260

Bank E $RATE () 1,374,558 1,867,263

1,973,848 2,795,108

Note: Btz :

As all the bank loans of HK$1,973,848,000 (2018: HK$2,795,108,000) were
either, overdue, in default or in cross default, all the bank loans were classified
as current liabilities as at 31 December 2019.

a) Bank A

The loans from Bank A comprised of a HK dollar loan of
HK$150,282,000 (2018: HK$185,232,000) and a RMB loan
of RMB89,040,000 (equivalent to HK$99,399,000) (2018:
RMB124,320,000 (equivalent to HK$141,886,000)) with original maturity
on 25 October 2021 and 28 February 2021 respectively. The loans were
bearing interest at HIBOR +1.2% and CNY Prime -1.6% respectively
and guaranteed by the Company and Mr. Tsui. In 2017, Mr. Tsui
pledged his shares in the Company. This was a breach of the terms
of the bank loan agreements with Bank A in Hong Kong. Bank A had
therefore the right to demand immediate full repayment immediately
as a result of the breach. On 10 December 2019, Bank A demanded
full repayment of the outstanding bank loans and interests. However,
the Company failed to make full repayment of the bank loans and the
default in repayment also constituted an event of default under the
terms of the loan agreements. Since then, the Company made partial
loan repayments and the outstanding loan principal of the HK dollar
and RMB loans were reduced to HK$150,282,000 and RMB52,229,000
(equivalent to HK$58,303,000) respectively up to the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

35. BANK LOANS (Cont’d)

Note: (Cont’d)

a)

Bank A (Cont’d)

On 24 February 2020, Bank A filed a bill of indictment with the
Intermediate People’s Court of Guangzhou (the “Guangzhou Court”)
against the Company as borrower and its fourteen subsidiaries and Mr.
Tsui as guarantor claiming the immediate repayment of the outstanding
HK dollar loan of HK$150,282,000, outstanding interest of HK$575,000
and legal and other costs of HK$2,011,000, totalling HK$152,868,000.

On 17 March 2020, the Guangzhou Court handed down a judgement
and ordered that the bank accounts and other assets with a total
carrying value of RMB137,278,000 (equivalent to HK$152,868,000) of
the Company and its fourteen subsidiaries be frozen pending the court
hearing on 12 August 2020.

In August 2020, the Group verbally agreed a repayment schedule with
Bank A for the repayment of all outstanding balances due by three
installments by 30 June 2021. After the court hearing on 12 August
2020, the court granted one month’s period for the Company to
execute a written agreement on the repayment schedule, the details of
which are set out in note (2)(d) to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

35. BANK LOANS (Cont’d)

Note: (Cont’d)

b)

Bank B

The loan from Bank B is a RMB loan with original date of maturity
on 1 December 2031. The loan is bearing interest at the benchmark
rate quoted by the People’s Bank in the PRC and secured by the
Group’s charge rights of wastewater processing and electricity supply
in Longmen, the PRC, bank deposits and guaranteed by certain
subsidiaries and Mr. Tsui.

The default in loan repayments to Bank E had caused cross-default
of the loan with Bank B and all the outstanding loan due to Bank B
became due for repayment immediately. These loans are therefore
classified as current liabilities. Since then, the Company made certain
repayments to Bank B and had negotiations with Bank B and Bank B
ceased taking demand for immediate repayments of all outstanding
loan, nor took any legal actions against the Group. Up to the date
of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the total
outstanding loan due to Bank B was reduced to RMB156,056,000
(equivalent to HK$174,205,000).

The Group is in the process of disposing its wastewater treatment
project in Longmen, the PRC and expected that the proceeds from
the disposal would be sufficient to repay all the outstanding bank loan
due to Bank B. Therefore, the present directors believe that Bank B
would not enforce its right to demand immediate repayments of the
outstanding loan nor take legal actions against the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

35. BANK LOANS (Cont’d)

Note: (Cont’d)

c)

Bank C

The loans from Bank C comprised of a HK dollar loan of
HK$57,430,000 (2018: HK$74,392,000) and a US$ loan of
US$5,000,000 (equivalent to HK$38,940,000) (2018: US$5,000,000
(equivalent to HK$39,165,000)) with original date of maturity on 11
October 2019 and 19 July 2019 respectively. The loans were bearing
interest at HIBOR +2% and LIBOR +2% per annum respectively and
guaranteed by the Company and Mr. Tsui and secured by the equity
interest in Guangzhou Lvyou.

The default in loan repayments to Bank E had caused cross-default
of the loans with Bank C and all the outstanding loans due to Bank C
became due for repayment immediately and are therefore classified as
current liabilities.

Since then, the Company made certain repayments to Bank C and
had negotiations with Bank C for an extension for the repayment
of the loans which Bank C agreed to extend the payment date for
the outstanding loans every three months. The latest extension was
extended to 16 November 2020. Up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, the total outstanding loans due to
Bank C were reduced to HK$60,038,000.

Bank D

The loan from Bank D was a RMB loan with original date of maturity
on 22 March 2026. The loan was bearing interest at SHIBOR + RMB
Funding Rate + 1.72% per annum and guaranteed by the Company
and secured by the equity interest in Xintao Investment Co., Ltd, a
former wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

The default in loan repayments to Bank E had caused cross-default
of the loan with Bank D and all the outstanding loans due to Bank D
became due for repayment immediately and are therefore classified as
current liabilities as at 31 December 2018.

Since then, the Company made certain repayments to Bank D and had
negotiations with Bank D for not demanding immediate repayments
nor take any legal actions against the Group. The Company made full
repayment of the outstanding loan to Bank D in 2019.
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35. SRITEM (&)

By : (4F)

c)

RITC

RERITCHEREBERZHA
2RB=FE-AFE+AE+—BR
ZE-AELtAt+ABZETR
& $57,430,0008 T (ZF— N
F:74,392,0008 T) RETER
5,000,000 7t (48 & /438,940,000
Bit) (== —J\F:5,000,000%
Jt (¥8 & 739,165,000/ 7T) ) ° %
SERDARENEZFBRITEAE
FE+2% RABRITREFRE+2%
STECWHAARDNTRBIAEEER
SWHREMNEH 2 BREEIRR

RITENEREBRENCTERIRITC
MERRXREN  MAAEMRIT
CHREEE RIS AN M E
2 AR BEARBEE-

Bt RABEBTCHELE TE
o WELRIT CEITREA MERERE
B MiRTCRARE=MALERRK
BEEERZNRBH - HER—IRE
REERZEZZ-ZF+ -+
A-BEZEHGSMBHRERMER
H» EATRIT CHYUREE E AR
4>%60,038,0007% JT

$R4TD

RERITONERBERIHES
TEARF=ZAZTZHZ AR
ER-ZERRERNE LHRT+
ARMBERE.72%5 5 I
AABERRBARQATHEENE
AT HBREGRD AR EEIR
o

RNEBTENERERENCER
RITDMERRNELN  MAAEEM
$RITDRYRE B E R R A BB 5
HER RUR-Z-—NF+=A
=t—HI2EARBERE-

Bt AQB@EBITDEHE TE
o WRLIRIT DA ERENRHEE A
REBER FREHAREBRR
fEERITEERRITDETIER ©
ARARZZ-NFRRITDEH
BEREEENR-

PERREERRAT
FEHE 2019

291



292

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

35. BANK LOANS (Cont’d)

Note: (Cont’d)

e)

Bank E

The loans from Bank E consist of a number of bank loans with original
dates of maturity on 12 June 2020 to 30 September 2027. The loans
were bearing interest at various floating rates ranging from 4.61% to
6.37% per annum. The loans were secured by the Group’s rights of
water supply, wastewater processing, waste processing and property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, bank deposits and equity
interest in the Group’s certain subsidiaries and were guaranteed by
certain of the Group’s subsidiaries, their former shareholders and Mr.
Tsui.

The default in certain loan repayments to Bank E had caused cross-
default of the rest of loans with Bank E and all the outstanding loans
due to Bank E became due for repayment immediately. They are
therefore classified as current liabilities.

Since then, the Company made certain repayments to Bank E and had
negotiations with Bank E for not demanding for immediate repayments
nor take any legal actions against the Group. The present directors
believe that Bank E will continue to support the Group.

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the outstanding loans due to Bank E were reduced to RMB904,270,000
(equivalent to HK$1,009,436,000).

Bank loans of the Group as at 31 December 2019 were with floating-
interest rates ranging from 3.70% to 11.30% (2018: 3.70% to 6.37%
per annum).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

35. BANK LOANS (Cont’d)

36.

Note: (Cont’d)

()

Bank loans amounted to approximately HK$682,342,000 as at 31
December 2019 (2018: HK$1,012,755,000) are subject to the fulfilment
of covenants relating to certain of the Group’s balance sheet ratios,
as are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants, the facilities
drawn down would become payable on demand. The Group regularly
monitors its compliance with these covenants. Further details of
the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note 6(c). In
addition, pursuant to the terms of the bank loan agreements, certain
subsidiaries are not allowed to distribute profit and/or to obtain other
external financing prior to the lender’s approval and/or to are required
to maintain certain financial ratios.

As at 31 December 2019, covenants relating to restrictions
on the controlling shareholder and financial ratios had been
breached. Accordingly, such bank loans totalling to approximately
HK$682,342,000 (2018: HK$927,842,000) became repayable on
demand and have been classified as current liabilities.

OTHER BORROWINGS

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE
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36. Hitfg&

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
LOAN A EXNA
Interest bearing it £
— Loans principal —-EBEXAXE 185,000 185,000
— Accrued interest —EFRE 57,548 12,183
@ 242,548 197,183
LOANS B BB
Non-interest bearing T&5tE
- Loan from Mr. Gu Yaokun —RELBHEEZER (b) 3,700 3,700
— Other parties —Hft A+ (b) 6,698 11,413
10,398 15,118
252,946 212,296
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

36. OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont’d)

a)

Loan A

On 26 June 2018, the Company entered into an loan
agreement with an independent third party (the “Individual”)
(the “First Loan Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Company borrowed HK$50,000,000 for one calendar
month from the Individual (the “First Loan”). The First Loan
together with interest shall be repaid on or before 26 July
2018. The First Loan bears interest at 30% per annum
(2.5% per month).

On 19 July 2018, the Company entered into another
loan agreement with the Individual (the “Second Loan
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company borrowed
HK$135,000,000 for two calendar months from the
Individual (the “Second Loan”). The Second Loan together
with interest shall be repaid on or before 19 September
2018. The Second Loan bears interest at 30% per annum
(2.5% per month).

On 26 July 2018, the maturity date of the First Loan, the
Company entered into a third loan agreement with the
individual (the “Third Loan Agreement”) to extend the First
Loan of HK$50,000,000 (the “Third Loan”) for a period of
two calendar months. The Third Loan together with interest
shall be repaid on or before 26 September 2018. The Third
Loan bears interest at 30% per annum (2.5% per month).

All the above loans were guaranteed by Mr. Tsui.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

36. OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont’d)

a)

Loan A (Cont’d)

Upon the respective maturity date, the Company failed to
make repayments of the Second and the Third Loans. On
16 October 2019, the Individual made a formal demand
for the repayment of the Second and Third Loans together
with accrued interests. On 23 October 2019, the Company
received a writ of summons from the High Court of Hong
Kong pursuant to which the Individual made a claim against
the Company and Mr. Tsui for repayment of the outstanding
loan principal totalling HK$185,000,000 together with
accrued interest calculated.

In the final judgment dated 17 January 2020 issued by the
High Court of Hong Kong (the “Judgment”), the Company
and Mr. Tsui were ordered to pay the Individual:

() the sum of HK$130,375,000 together with interest
thereon at 30% per annum calculated daily on a 365-
day basis from 20 July 2018, less HK$11,710,135
being interest payment received until the date full
payment is received;

(i) the sum of HK$50,000,000 together with interest
thereon at 30% per annum calculated on a 365-day
basis from 26 July 2018, less HK$6,267,123 being
interest payments received until the date full payment
is received; and

(i) costs of HK$11,545.

On 20 July 2020, the Individual informed the Company
that if the judgment debt together with interest and costs
were not settled by 30 September 2020, the Individual shall
enforce the Judgment dated 17 January 2020 and take
further actions including but not limited to winding up the
Company and issue a bankruptcy petition against Mr. Tsui
without further notice.

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, no repayment was made by the Group and the
individual has not taken any action to enforce the judgment.
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

36. OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont’d)

b) LoansB

36. Hfttfe& (4&)

The loans were unsecured and non-interest bearing. Other
than the loan from Mr. Gu Yaokun of HK$3,700,000 with a
term of one month, all the other loans were repayable on
demand. The loan from Mr. Gu Yaokun of HK$3,700,000
was overdue as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

37. LEASE LIABILITIES

b)

3 R Bo
SRE LB A E B
3,700,00058 ;T HA R & — 1@ B
I R EME RIIIRERE
E - REOBHEECZEN
3,700,000 TER=-Z— N
ER=ZB-N\F+ZA=+—
H®Hf -

37. HEAE

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of
the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and at the

date of transition to HKFRS 16:

31 December 2019

1 January 2019 (Note)

TRIVRAEEHERGEEAK
MBEEEBYBRELERE16R
2 IR S AR :

31 December 2018

“E-hE+ZA=t-H “E-nE-A—-H8 (fF) “E-\E+=RA=t-H
Present Present Present
value of Total value of Total value of Total
the minimum minimum  the minimum minimum the minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments payments payments
BEHEE BEEE REHEE BRAE REHE BEEE
HRZHRE HRB%E HRZRE R85 ARz BE ReE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TER TET T TEx T
Within 1 year —EHR 24,288 26,463 22,702 26,538 - -
After 1 year —FREWER
but within 2 years 7,019 8,146 24,481 26,656 - -
After 2 years MERBERLER
but within 5 years 2,853 4,519 9,877 12,611 - -
After 5 years LF#% 1,179 1,778 1,257 1,979
11,051 14,443 35,615 41,246 - -
35,339 40,906 58,317 67,784 - -
Less: total future interest & : RRFIE
expenses (5,567) (9,467) -
Present value of lease HES
liabilities 35,339 58,317 -

The incremental borrowing rates used for determination of the

present value of lease payments was 10%.

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1
January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which were
previously classified as operating lease under HKAS 17. Further details

on the impact of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in note 4(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

38. DEPOSIT RECEIVED FOR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES HEMBARWERZEZESE
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FTET
Deposit received BEWEzZE 50,903 400,000
Accrued interest FEsTR B = 15,342
50,903 415,342

(a)

(b)

Year ended 31 December 2019

The amount of RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$44,653,000) represented deposit received on the
deemed disposal of 49% equity interest in Zhongshan
Haitao as set out in note 32(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

The remaining amount of RMB5,600,000 (equivalent to
HK$6,250,000) represented the deposit received for the
potential disposal of Haoying Solid. The transaction was
subsequently cancelled in June 2020.

Year ended 31 December 2018

On 9 July 2018, Xi Zhou Enterprises Hong Kong Limited
(“Xi Zhou”), a subsidiary of the Group, and Mr. Tsui entered
into a cooperation agreement with HE &t EEXGR A
7] (“Purchaser B”) (the “Cooperation Agreement”) pursuant
to which Xi Zhou agreed to procure three of its subsidiaries
to (i) assign their real property ownership in respect of
certain land in Zhengcheng District, Guangzhou and Nansha
District, Guangzhou, the PRC to two project companies
and (i) transfer 55% equity interest in each of the project
companies to Purchaser B, within two months of the
payment of deposit in the amount of HK$400,000,000 (the
“Deposit”) by Purchaser B.

(a)

(b)

BE-Z-NFt+=-A=+—
BLEE

A R %40,000,0005T (HE R
44,653,00078 7T ) 2 FRIB 15 AR
B B35 3R R MY SE32(a) T H Bh
1R AF & o 1L B E 2 49% K
BWRHZZE-

£ X A R #5,600,0007T (18
& 746,250,00058 T ) 8 L AT
REHEEREREREAIRS
ZRXBEHBNR_ZT_ZTF<A
UK ©

BE-E-NF+=ZA=1+-—
HIEFE

AZZE—-NELAHhA M
BERBERAT ([EM]
AEBZHBLAR)RBRE
SHEEAMEBEERA
A(TBABL L &EHE
([BEHRE]) Bt AME
EREE=XMBARRES
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HAPBEM G E & EM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

38. DEPOSIT RECEIVED FOR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Cont’d)

(b)

Year ended 31 December 2018 (Cont’d)

On 10 July 2018, the Deposit was received by the Group
from Profitica Group (BVI) Limited (“Profitica”), a related
company of the Purchaser B. However, the ownership title
of the subject land was not assigned to the two project
companies and the 55% equity interest in the two project
companies was also not transferred to Purchaser B. Xi Zhou
was therefore in breach of the terms of the Cooperation
Agreement.

Purchaser B terminated the Cooperation Agreement on 25
September 2018 and demanded the return of the Deposit
by 30 September 2018. Up to 29 November 2018, the
Deposit and the outstanding accrued interest thereon
and the damages (if any) payable under the Cooperation
Agreement remained unsettled.

On 29 November 2018, a subsidiary of Purchaser B (the
“Purchaser A”) and the Company entered into a transfer
agreement (the “Transfer Agreement”) pursuant to which
the Company agreed to sell 50% equity interest in Xintao
Investment Co. Ltd (the “Disposal”) to Purchaser A in
settlement of the dispute under the Cooperation Agreement,
the details of the Transfer Agreement are set out in note
32(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

38. DEPOSIT RECEIVED FOR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Cont’d)

(b)

Year ended 31 December 2018 (Cont’d)

On 29 November 2018, Purchaser B, Profitica, Purchaser
A, the Company, Xi Zhou and Mr. Tsui entered into an
extension agreement (the “Extension Agreement”) pursuant
to which Purchaser B and Profitica agreed to extend the
deadline for returning the Deposit, and paying the accrued
interest thereon together with the damages (if any) payable
under the Cooperation Agreement to the date of completion
of the Transfer Agreement. In return, the Company agreed to
transfer and assign as security all the Company’s right, title,
benefit and interest under and in respect of the balance of
the consideration payable by Purchaser A to the Company
under the Transfer Agreement to Purchaser A and Profitica.

The present directors considered that the assignment of
balance of the consideration of RMB363,000,000 should
be set off with the deposit received for the disposal of the
subsidiaries upon completion of the Disposal that took
place on 3 January 2019.
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38. HEMBARWRZEE (&)

(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

(@) The provisions represented the penalties imposed by the local
environmental protection bureau in the PRC on certain of the Group’s

subsidiaries for various breaches of environmental regulations.

(b)  The provisions represented the estimated settlements for the Group’s
legal obligations as a result of the past events and the details of which

are set out in note 50 to the consolidated financial statements.

(c) The provision for the onerous contracts represents the unavoidable
costs of meeting the lease commitments for a factory located in the

PRC.
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39. PROVISIONS 39. #E
Onerous
Penalties Litigations contracts Total
R BN Z2EEH st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FTER THET TET
Note (a) Note (b) Note (c)
(MizE(a)) (FtzE (o)) (FysE(c))
At 1 January 2018 R-ZE-NE
_H — H — - — —
Provided for the year FREE 55,070 51,270 13,300 119,640
Settlements 1”5{‘} . (12,160) (1,273) - (13,433)
Exchange movement EREE (1,523) (1,775) (500) (3,798)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F
+ZA=+—H 41,387 48,222 12,800 102,409
At 1 January 2019 R=Z-nE
_—A—-H 41,387 48,222 12,800 102,409
Effect of adoption of BB B
HKFRS 16 A=A
F16H 2 E - - (12,800) (12,800)
At 1 January 2019, RZZ-nE
as restated —H—H
(&%) 41,387 48,222 - 89,609
Provided for the year FrRE 1,241 764 - 2,005
Settlements Eﬁf . (11,694) (2,784) - (14,478)
Exchange movement BN EE (529) (790) - (1,319)
At 31 December 2019 R-E-NF
+=-A=+—-AH 30,405 45,412 - 75,817
Representing b
2018 :ijﬂﬁ
Current portion ik ’ﬁ 41,387 48,222 3,558 93,167
Non-current portion ERBIL D - - 9,242 9,242
41,387 48,222 12,800 102,409
2019 —B-NF
Current portion RENES 2 30,405 45,412 = 75,817
Note: MfEE :

ZERBETBRMASRERER
BRERBREEZREAEEE TH

BRRMEMZERKe

ZERBEIASERBESMAM
Sz EREE A ENE A
B BENGEE B MRMEES0

BRESNBRBE -BURTEZ
ITHRETHERE Z R TERK
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41.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e MWK (F)
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

DEFERRED INCOME

Deferred income consists of deferred government grants
received. The grant from local government was conditional
and the conditions would be fulfilled upon the completion
of construction of certain fixed assets of Guangyuan Xizhou
Environmental Enterprises Company Limited (“Guangyuan
Xizhou”) and Guangzhou Lvyou. The grant will be recognised as
income in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the useful life

of the property, plant and equipment.

DEFERRED TAX

(a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised

()  Movement of each component of deferred tax asset

and liabilities

The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the movements during the year are as

40. EILEUWN

EEWABIEE BRI BT /R -

REMFTRENBERERE B
ZEREBRELBEMNRREXSE
RAF(TETAEM]) REMSHE

ETEEEEMNBERTHREK

2SR BB KRB A
ERFHRNRAGEENERRE

BN o

4. RERIE

() EERAEEHALERERE

() FEHELERERES
M5 2 B

RERS B BIRR RN HE
AEELERE (BE)
SEARBI RFAZ

follows: BT
Impairment
Revenue Intangible Government loss Credit loss
recognition assets grant allowance allowance Total
KHEER BREE BEEY  AEEERE GEFERG @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Deferred tax arising from: FEEWELHE: FET FET FET FET FET FET
At1 January 2018 R-B-NE-F-R 44,901 223213 (3,538) - (5,046) 259,530
Charge/(credit) to profit or loss ~ FERBEMEG/ (5T A)
for the year (note 12) (MzE12) 1,930 (75,291) 3,500 (13,115) 4602 (78,374)
Exchange realignment EHARZ (2,131) (7,591) 38 465 69 (9,150)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-NF
+=A=+-H 44,700 140,331 - (12,650) (375) 172,006
At1 January 2019 R=Z2-hE-A-B 44,700 140,331 - (12,650) (375) 172,006
Charge/(credit) to profit or loss ~ RERBHIME,/ (3T A)
for the year (note 12) (HE12) (24,549) (10,719) - 3743 - (31,525)
Reclassified to assets BHNARERELESE
held for sale - (2,309) - - - (2,309)
Exchange realignment ERRE (559) (2,890) - 213 8 (3,228)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NE
+=p=+-8 19,592 124,413 = (8.694) (367) 134,944
FERAKERRAT

FEHRE 2019
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mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

41. DEFERRED TAX (Cont’d)

(a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (Cont’d)

(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of
financial position

41.

EEHE (A

(a)

ERABEEHAEERAE
(&)

(i) BEERE R BMREER

2019 2018

—ZE-hEF —E-N\E

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET
Deferred tax assets BELEMRIEEE (6,172) (10,244)

Deferred tax liabilities FERIREE 141,116 182,250

134,944 172,006

(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised (b) RERELEREEE
Cumulative tax losses ZIHEEE

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 3(r),
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect
of cumulative tax losses of certain subsidiaries located in
Hong Kong and subsidiaries in the PRC of HK$75,104,000
and HK$238,945,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
HK$75,104,000 and HK$184,080,000), respectively, as it is
not probable that future taxable income against which the
losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses of subsidiaries located
in Hong Kong do not expire under current tax legislation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

41. DEFERRED TAX (Cont’d)

(c)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Dividend withholding tax

According to the CIT Law and its implementation rules,
dividends receivable by non-PRC corporate residents from
PRC enterprises are subject to withholding income tax
at 10%, unless reduced by tax treaties or arrangements,
for profits earned since 1 January 2008. Pursuant to the
Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax Arrangement and the related
regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax resident will be liable
for a reduced withholding tax rate of 5% on dividends
from a PRC enterprise if the Hong Kong tax resident is the
“beneficial owner” and holds 25% or more of the equity
interest of the PRC enterprise. As all of the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries are directly or indirectly owned by a Hong Kong
incorporated subsidiary which is the qualified Hong Kong
tax resident, a rate of 5% is applicable to the calculation of
the PRC dividend withholding tax.

At 31 December 2019, deferred tax liabilities in respect of
the dividend withholding tax relating to the undistributed
profits of the Company’s subsidiaries were not recognised
as the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries. Based on the assessment made by
management as at the end of each reporting period, it was
determined that certain of the undistributed profits of the
Company’s subsidiaries would not be distributed in the
foreseeable future. The amounts of undistributed profit of
the Company’s subsidiaries are set out below:
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2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-N\E
HK$’000 HK$°000
FTHET FET
Distributable profits earned by PRC ~ HEIBATR -ZTZN\EF
subsidiaries on or after 1 January —A—HRzEHREZ
2008 A 23 ka8 724,050 875,959
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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42. SHARE CAPITAL 42. B
Number
of shares Amount
BB ok |
’000 HK$’000
TR FET
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: EER (ERTRAR) :
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018, R=—F—-NE—HF—81-
1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 —E-NF+=ZA=+—81-
(Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each) —E-hF-A-HRK
“E2-NAE+ZA=1+—H
(BREBREE.025% T) 6,316,792 157,920
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as TEBREEEAGERBRIRAREIRN
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share RE TAXATNAELEZEER
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with —ERER-FADNTNEEGREE
regard to the Company’s residual assets. M MEEEREZERZE ML
Capital management EAEE
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard REBESEEANEEARERE
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to BEiSELKENE D UEBEBE
maximise the return to the shareholders through the optimisation R EREGEEEEMKREL
of the debt and equity balance. 3] o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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42. SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d) 42. BEK (#E)

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of an AEEFAKLHAEFERERILE
adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, adjusted net BEERH B IR % ,?Juttﬁﬁ = K5
debt is calculated as total bank loans, other borrowings and lease ORGSR LEBTEDS e

liabilities less bank and cash balances. The Group’s adjusted &#ﬂhﬁﬁﬂﬂ Xifﬂ% TEREtE
net debt-to-equity ratio at 31 December 2019 and 2018 was as BH-RZE-NFRZZE-NF
follows: +TZA=+—H FAEENKFAR

THERESLE RN

2019 2018

—E-NF —ZE-NF

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Bd & TET FET

Bank loans RITER 35 1,973,848 2,795,108

Other borrowings Eﬁi’fa By 36 252,946 212,296

Lease liabilities HEAE 37 35,339 =

Total debt BETE 2,262,133 3,007,404

Less: Bank and cash balances & SR{TRIR & &k 31 (177,203) (273,124)

Net debt RER 2,084,930 2,734,280

Total (deficity/equity (B4 Rz (119,979) 150,138

Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio BERELHAEE R %

N/ATER 18.21 timesfZ
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 43. KRB ZHMBRARERFEEES
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (@) AQFAZHBRRE

As at 31 December

R+=—B=+—H
2019 2018
—E-NF —ZE-NEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M aE FExT TET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZRE 342,030 493,483
Total non-current assets FRBEEHLE 342,030 493,483
Current assets REEE
Investment in a subsidiary PEABEFELHENBLARZ
classified as held for sale B’E - 1,166,950
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUW I B A T FRIE 963,948 833,958
Other receivables E e FE 270,156 32,276
Bank and cash balances IRITRIRE R 8 58,862
Total current assets REEEHAE 1,234,112 2,092,046
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries  ETHI B QA T FRIE 1,274,577 1,118,129
Other payables H {th FE A FRIE 66,973 59,491
Bank loans RITER 150,282 630,148
Other borrowings HiEE 246,248 200,883
Deposits received for HEMBATZEWIZES
disposal of subsidiaries - 413,348
Dividend payable AR E - 60,641
Total current liabilities REEEEE 1,738,080 2,482,640
Net current liabilities REEEFHE (503,968) (390,594)
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (&) &&ESE (161,938) 102,889
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Cont’d)

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (Cont’d)
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43. ARNAZMBERRARRFEEED
(%)

(a) AAFZHBRREK (&)

As at 31 December

R+=ZBA=+—H
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-NF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B & FHET FET
Equity R
Share capital [N 42 157,920 157,920
Reserves & 43(b) (319,858) (55,031)
TOTAL (DEFICIT)/EQUITY (B#) RS (161,938) 102,889

Approved by the Board of Directors on 8 December 2020

A—E-SE+-_ANBRE

and are signed on its behalf by: ESHETHRUTESAERE
Z:
Huang Qing Li Yang
=E =5
Director Director
5= o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 43. ARRZHMBRARRFEEED
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Cont’d) (%)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) ADTFZEHEEE
The amounts of the Company’s reserves and the BE-Z—h&E+=-A=+—
movements therein for the year ended 31 December 2019 HIEFEZARRARBEESER
are as follows: HESHMT :
Reserves
i
Shares
held under
the Share
Share Share Award Capital Accumulated
capital premium Scheme reserve losses Sub-total Total
DGR ]
THEET
RE  ROBRE  BERR  EARE  RHEER gt st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TER TER TER TER TEn TER

At 1 January 2018 RZE-\E-B-H 157,920 1,358,084 (52,614) 197,537 (155,239) 1,347,768 1,505,688
Total comprehensive losses ER2EFEAR

for the year - - - - (1156283 (1156283 (1,156,283
Shares purchased under Share  RIERHEBTHBER D

Award Scheme (note 44) (Hiztad) - - (1,523) - - (1,523) (1,523)
Dividend declared in respect of ~ FHBAFEEERNRE

previous years - (184,352) - - - (184,352) (184,352)
Dividend declared in respect of ~ FIAEECERNRE

current year - (60,641) - - - (60,641) (60,641)
At 31 December 2018 WoB-NE+ZB=+-8 157920 1113001 (B4137) 197537 (1311522  (5081) 102889
At1 January 2019 R=Z2-hE-A-8 157920 1113091 (54137 197537 (1311522 (55081 102,889
Total comprehensive losses EREZEFELE

for the year - - - - (B25468) (325468 (325469
Cancellation of dividends BERS - 60,641 - - - 60,641 60,641
At 31 December 2019 RoB-RE+-B=+-R 157920 1173732 (4137) 197537  (1636990) (319858  (161,939)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRNE (&

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Cont’d)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

()

(i)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the Company’s share premium account are
distributable to the equity shareholders provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in
a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

Statutory reserves

According to the current PRC Company Law, the
Group’s entities in the PRC are required to transfer
10% of their profit after taxation to statutory surplus
reserve until the surplus reserve balance reaches 50%
of the registered capital. For the purpose of calculating
the transfer to reserve, the profit after taxation shall
be the amount determined based on the statutory
financial statements prepared in accordance with PRC
accounting standards. The transfer to this reserve has
to be made before distribution of dividend by these
entities.

Statutory surplus reserve can be used to make good
previous years’ losses, if any, and for capitalisation
issue provided that the balance after such issue is
not less than 25% of the registered capital of the
respective entities.

for the year ended 31 December 2019
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43. ARNAZMBERRARRFEEED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Cont’d)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Cont’d)

(iif)  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations with functional currencies
other than the RMB presentation currency. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy
set out in note 3(u).

(iv) Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the
difference between (a) the nominal value of share
capital of a subsidiary acquired; and (b) the nominal
value of the shares issued by the Company in
exchange under the reorganisation of the Group on 31
May 2011.

The capital reserve of the Company represents the
excess of the consolidated net assets represented
by the shares acquired over the nominal value of
shares issued by the Company in exchange under the
reorganisation.

(d) Distributability of reserves
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, there were no reserves

available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

On 12 November 2015, the board of directors of the Company
approved the adoption of a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) under which shares of the Company (the
“Awarded Shares”) may be awarded to selected employees (the
“Selected Employees”) in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Award Scheme. The Board shall not make any further
award of Awarded Shares which will result in the aggregate
nominal value of the Shares awarded under the Scheme
exceeding 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
at the time of such Award. The maximum number of Awarded
Shares which may be awarded to a Selected Employee under the
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company at the time of such award.

The Share Award Scheme was adopted in order to recognise
and motivate the contributions of the Selected Employees and to
provide them with the incentives or awards for their commitment
and contribution to the Group. By providing a competitive
incentive package, the Share Award Scheme also serves to retain
and attract suitable personnel for the further development of the
Group, and to align the interests of the Selected Employees with
those of the shareholders of the Company in attaining long-term
business objectives of the Group.

The Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the
10th anniversary date of the date of adoption; and (ii) such date
of early termination as determined by the board by a resolution
of the board. Termination of the Scheme shall not affect any
subsisting rights of any Selected Employee under the Scheme.

44,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

44. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 4. NEGHENBRNIZINR S
(%)
Details of the shares held under the Share Award Scheme are set WIER D RBETEIFIERGD 215
out below: mT
Average
purchase No. of Value of
price shares held shares
BHE
FHYBEE R&OEAE R &G EE
HK$ ’000 HK$’000
B 7T TR FHT
At 1 January 2018 R=—ZFE-—N\§—HA—H 30,240 52,614
Shares purchased FREENRS
during year 0.31 4,968 1,523
At 31 December 2018, R=F—N\EF
1 January 2019 and +=ZA=+—-8"
31 December 2019 —E-NF-A-BR
—E-NF
+=B=+—H 35,208 54,137
As at the 31 December 2018 and 2019, the Company purchased R-ZE-NENZZEBE-HLE+=
44,732,000 and 44,732,000 shares, respectively. B=1+t—HB ' XA BDHBE
44,732,0008% X 44,732,0008% B%
e
No share options were granted to the employees of the Group HEZE-N\ER=-ZE-NF+=
during the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2019. B=+t—HLEFEE #HEOLAEE
EERLBRE-
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45.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

The estimated fair value of the Awarded Shares on the grant date
is determined by reference to the market price of the Company’s
shares.

No share award expenses were recognised by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(a) Disposal of Xintao Investment Co. Ltd.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
disposed of 100% equity interest in Xintao Investment
Co. Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“Xintao Group”) to Agile Eco
Technology (Hong Kong) limited, an independent third
party, at a total cash consideration of RMB1,183,000,000
(equivalent to HK$1,345,780,000). The assets and liabilities
of Xintao Group was classified as held for sale as at 31
December 2018 (note 32(b)). All the assets and liabilities of
Xintao Group have been derecognised upon disposal.

44,

45.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

45. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d) 45. HEMBLR (&)
(a) Disposal of Xintao Investment Co. Ltd. (Cont’d) (a) HEFESREGRLT
(#&)
The effect of the disposal on the Group’s assets and HENAEREEREEZY
liabilities is set out below: EHHWMOT :
Carrying
amount as at
the date of
disposal
REE B EH
BREE
HK$’000
FET
Total consideration RI1BEZE 1,345,780
Net assets disposed of oHEEETFE (1,317,642)
Release of exchange reserve P 55 17 18 R PR (3,298)
Transaction costs X5 B (21,941)
Gain on disposal HE WS 2,899
Property, plant equipment ME -BERZE 1,082,637
Right-of-use assets FREEE 45,389
Other non-current assets Btk RBEE 43,537
Inventories 78 3,181
Trade and other receivables B R HEMEWRKIE 319,515
Bank and cash balances RITRB SR 236,196
Trade and other payable ESRHMEMNFIE (364,678)
Current tax liabilities BIEARIE B & (40,342)
Deferred income IR FE YA (7,793)
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFE 1,317,642
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

45. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

45. HEMWMBRAE (&)

(a) Disposal of Xintao Investment Co. Ltd. (Cont’d) (a) HEFEREBRAA
(#&)
HK$’000
FET
i) Analysis of amount settled and consideration |) E1&11£ R EWILESHT
receivable
Consideration settled in 2019 R-ZZE-NEFEF2ZKRE 1,129,636
Exchange movement BEE 54, 4% B 4,047
Consideration received in 2020 classified as PHEARKBREZR-ZE-ZFIY
consideration receivable (note 29) B2 B (KiEE29) 212,097
Total consideration BRE 1,345,780
ii) Analysis of the net cash inflow from i) HEKBREZREELRAFETH
the disposal of subsidiaries
Consideration RE 1,345,780
Less: N
Deposit received in 2018 RZE-NFWREZES (400,000)
Exchange difference on consideration R=-FB—-NAEF+=-A=+—HZ
receivable as at 31 December 2019 EBRAEELELE (4,047)
Consideration receivable as at R-FB-NEF+-A=+—HZ
31 December 2019 FEWRE (212,097)
Consideration received in 2019 RIE-NFWRRZ2RE 729,636
Less: Transaction costs R 5 A (21,941)
Bank and cash balance disposed of BEHEZRITRRESE (236,196)
Net cash inflow BERANER 471,499
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE_F-NF1-A=1—HAILFE

45. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d) 45. HEMBLR (&)
(b) Disposal of EMZHREAREFR AT (b) HEEMETFREALERRAD
Al
During the year ended 31 December 2019, 55 (BE/M) £ BE-ZE-NF+=-A=+-—
REIRIZSAIE A PR A A entered into an agreement to dispose HIEFEE FE (EM)E£re
of the entire 68% equity interest in EMZHRIEAES RIBEEAER ARG LR
FR/A & at a consideration of RMB1,360,000 (equivalent to LHEEMSEHREREAR
HK$1,546,000). All the assets and liabilities of J&JN4&5H NAZEE68%IIE  KEH
have been derecognised upon disposal. A R #1,360,0007T (#HE R

1,546,000/ 7T) - R HE%
ERIEEIAENEENIEE

ERBE--

The effect of such disposal on the Group’s assets and ZHEHTEEEERARGZ
liabilities is set out below: HFEHIWMT

HK$’000

FHExT

Total consideration RIEBEHZE 1,546
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFE (723)
Non-controlling interests FERER 256
Release of exchange reserve fRRRIE A& e (15)
Gain on disposal HE WS 1,064
The consideration has not been received and included in 1B 18 AR B W BRI 5 A B &
note 29 as consideration receivable from the disposal of 295 HENB LT 2 EWRK
subsidiaries. ER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

45. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d) 45.

(b) Disposal of E M HRIREEFR QA (Cont'd)

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

HEMB LR (&)

(b) HERMNEERFAEARA
7 ()

Carrying
amounts
as at the date
of disposal
RHEEBREN
BREE
HK$’000
TET
Property, plant and equipment M- BEREE 73
Other receivables H i EU R IE 666
Income tax recoverable Al YR B Fri§ i 3
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 11
Other payables H {th FE A FRIB (30)
Net assets disposed of cHEEEFE 723
Attributable to: AT - EEA
— Owners of the Company B WNETE=Y DN 467
— Non-controlling interest —JEIE PR RE S 256
723
(i) Analysis of consideration receivable ()  EWEED
HK$’000
FET
Consideration RE 1,546
Exchange movement fE 5% 8 (28)
Consideration receivable EWARE 1,518

(i) Analysis of the net cash outflow from the disposal of
the subsidiaries

(i) HEWBLAZREER
U FEE T W
HK$’000
FET

W EURE

Consideration received
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of

EHERTRBEELR

(1)

Net cash outflow BHE&RH EEE

(11)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

46. ll;lLO(')l'vIa% TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

(a)

46. GZEBREMERMEE

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing () MEFTEBFELEEGEZIHE
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TREFVAEEREMETE
from financing activities, including both cash and non- WEBNEE (BIERENRHE
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are Ry MEITHEEN
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will BEAHBEESRECHARR
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash SREERAEENGEES
flows as cash flows from financing activities. MERADEARMETHEE
HNREeERENERE-
Amount due
toa
Bank Interest Other non- Lease
loans payable borrowings  controlling liabilities Dividend
(note 35) (note 33&38) (note 36)  shareholder (note 37) payable Total
EfFIS Eff-%
RITER (e HtfE F2RRR = HAEE8E
(FtEas) 33%38)  (HKizH3e) RE O O(WHES) ERRE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FARL FAL TAn FARL FAT TAn FARL
At 1 January 2019 RZB-h&E-F-H 2,795,108 18,601 212,296 39,946 - 60,641 3,126,592
Recognised upon adoption of RAREBHHRE
HKFRS 16 (note 4) 8| E168 05
(HEE4) - - - - 58,317 - 58,317
At 1 January 2019, as restated RZE-RE-A-R (&
EY)) 2,795,108 18,601 212,296 39,946 58,317 60,641 3,184,909
Changes from financing BERSHELE:
cash flows:
Proceeds from new bank loans HRTENFAERE 643,804 - - - - - 643,804
Repayment of bank loans BERTEN (1,414,910) - - - - - (1,414,910)
Repayment of other borrowings BEEMER = = (4,465) = = = (4,465)
Capital element of lease payments ~ BERRZERRD - - - - (13,222) - (13,222)
Interest paid BRFIE - (144,737) (21,969) - (3,829) - (170,529)
Total changes from financing cash ~ BEREHBLBAE
flows (771,106) (144,737) (26,434) - (17,045) - (959,322)
Other changes: Hits:
Exchange movements EZ%2E (50,154) - (250) (875) - - (51,279)
Interest on bank loans and other ~ R{TEHRR A
borrowings (note 11) TS (FHE11) - 155,966 67,334 - 3,823 - 227,123
Cancellation of interim dividend BHRERE - - - - - (60,641) (60,641)
Increase in lease liabilities from REFTIHEEZ
entering into new lease RESEEN - - - - 678 - 678
Reclassified to amounts due to BNAREES
related companies BENRZHE - - = - (10,434) = (10,434)
Total other changes 22 o (50154 155966 67,084 875) (5933)  (60641) 105447
At 31 December 2019 RZE-hE
+ZA=+-H 1,973,848 29,830 252,946 39,071 35,339 - 2,331,034

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e MWK (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF—A=1—HLFE

46. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 46. ZERERNERMEE (&)
FLOWS (Cont’d)
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a) MEZBFELEGEIYE
activities (Cont’d) (#)
Amount due
toa
Bank Interest Other non-
loans payable  borrowings controlling Dividend
(note 35)  (note 33 & 38) (note 36)  shareholder payable Total
ER-4
RITER RIS HitfEE  FERRE
(H5E35)  (Bir&E33k38) (Fr&E36) A RS @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn Ti#n TR TEx TEn TR
At 1 January 2018 R-Z-N\E-A-H 3,461,859 8,726 - - - 3,470,585
Changes from financing cash flows: ~ BERSHELE:
Proceeds from new bank loans HRTERFERE 537,207 - - - - 537,207
Repayment of bank loans BERTER (1,081,920) - - - - (1,081920)
Proceeds from other borrowings HitEEFEE - - 200,113 - - 200,113
Advance from a non-controlling REFERBRBH
shareholder - - - 39,946 - 39,946
Interest paid RIS - (171,209) (13,741) - - (184,950
Dividend paid EftRE - - - S (es3)  (184352)
Total changes from financing RERSRELBAE
cash flows (B44713) (1712000 186372 0046 (184352  (673956)
Other changes: Hit2s:
Exchanges movement ERZE (122,038) (401) - - - (122,439)
Declaration of interim dividend ERTHRE - - - - 244,993 244,993
Interest on bank loans and RTEFRAMEERS
other borrowings (note 11) (FaE11) - 181,485 25,924 - S 207,409
Total other charges HtgaeE (12203 181,084 25924 - 244,993 329,963
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E
+ZA=1+-8 2,795,108 18,601 212,296 39,946 60,641 3,126,592
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

46. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (Cont’d)

(b) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash
flows for leases comprise the following:

46.

SRReRERME (#)

(b)

HEZRERHARE

HEZGHERERNERBEL
T&IE:

2019 2018

—E-NE —E-N\E

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Within operating cash flows REERERER 3,140 19,285
Within financing cash flows RBERERER 17,045 -
20,185 19,285

The adoption of HKFRS 16 introduces a change in
classification of cash flows of certain rental paid on
leases. The comparative amounts have not been restated.
The amounts related to lease rentals paid for the year
ended 31 December 2019 was HK$20,185,000 (2018:
HK$19,285,000).

CT Environmental Group Limited
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REIBEAFRAAZ N 2ET
HECHER 2D EBRLES
-k REBEIEES -HEH
THESREBE-ZT-IF+Z
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E#H£20,185,0008 T (=&
—J\£ 119,285,000/ 7T ) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBmRME (F)

47. COMMITMENTS

(@)

Capital commitments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period not provided for in the consolidated

47.

7K

(@)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

RS R ABEELER
FEVBBRBENESEE

financial statements are as follows: mT
2019 2018
—E—hEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Contracted for [EHES 151,047 381,440
Authorised but not contracted for ZiEFEERITY - -
151,047 381,440

The total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating lease at the end of the reporting

RIEN A HEHEEHERNRE
HIREMN 2 RRREAETR

period are payable as follows: MERINT
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHET
Within 1 year —FRw - 29,558
Between 2 to 5 years MEREF - 43,681
Over 5 years HBAF - 24,248
- 97,487

PERREERRAT
FEHE 2019

321



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

48. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 48. EXHB AR S
The directors are of the view that related parties of the Group EERBTEENBEH S BEUAT

include the following individuals/companies:

Name of related party
) ey et

BA 27

Relationship with the Group
HEAKEHER

Mr. Tsui Cham To
®mEBEE

Mr. Xu Juwen

BEXRE
Mr. Gu Yaokun (note ii)
R L (MEEE)

Mr. Xu Zhencheng (note iii)
SRR e (B i)

Guangzhou To Kee
(EMEREXBEREBEFRQA) (note (i)
EMNERS (MEEd))

Guangzhou Tian Tian Cleaning and Washing
Company Limited (“Tian Tian”)
(BMRRRBIFZMHERLDE) (note (i)

BMNRRRZEHBERAR (TRX]1) (FIEEG))

Longmen Yagang Copper Company Limited
(“Longmen Copper”) (FEFIZEHIAFEERAF)
(note (i))

BEMRMImEAR AR ([FEFIHEZE]) (MIEE)))

Haiqin Tiancheng
(BRI RBEMERRE AR A ) (note (i)
R (MEE())

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019

Controlling Shareholder, a former director and former
Chairman

ERRR -AESRATERFE

Executive Director

BITES

A minority shareholder of the Company/ a former
Executive Director

ARARLVERR ABTES

Key management personnel
FEEEAE

Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder
HERRRERES

Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder

HERKRREEER

Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder

HERRRER#ES
Joint Venture of the Group

AEBAELE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

48. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Name of related party
) et

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

48. EXBB A S (4E)

Relationship with the Group
BEAEEHBFR

Guangzhou Haigin Tiancheng Environmental
Consultancy Company Limited
(“Haigin Tiancheng Consultancy”)
(BMHEW RBREZABRLDF) (note (i)
BT 8L RBIRIBAEAGRAA
(Mg RABAL) (FFEEG))

Zhuhai Yingrun Environmental Protection
Technology Company Limited (“Zhuhai Yingrun”)
(BT EBREBMXER2E]) (nhote ()

mgmEBRARBZAERAF
(Tzs&B1) (KEE)))

Guangzhou Nansha Development Zone Lvjie
Disposal Recycling Store (“Nansha Lvjie”)
(BEMNEYHRBREREEESEY M E W)
(note (i))

BMNmAREERAEESEY mE L
(TFaageE]) (BEEE())

Guangzhou Panyu Luopu Kunrun Information
Technology and Consulting Services
Department (“Luopu Kunrun”)
(EMNTEBERHRBEMBIMZAREER)
(note (i)

[& N 2 B & & 8 35 B B S B 0 7 o AR S 50
(M&mEEl) (M)

Guangzhou Wofeng Biological Technology
Company Limited (“Guangzhou Wofeng”)
(EMTREEYREBR2F) (note (i)

BMNTRELEYMRRBERAF
(TEMRE D) (KEEq))

Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder

HERKRRERER

Effectively owned by the close family member of
Mr. Gu Yaokun

HEBRREECHRRINRERSERESR

Effectively owned by Mr. Gu Yaokun

HbOBRBRETEERER

Effectively owned by Mr. Gu Yaokun

MR e BRER

Effectively owned by Mr. Gu Yaokun

MR e BRER

PERREERRAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

48. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 48. EXHABHFX S (&)
Name of related party Relationship with the Group
BEMAIME B BEAREEAER
Guangzhou Lvchi Environmental Protection Effectively owned by Mr. Gu Yaokun

Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Lvchi”)
(BM#EBIRRBIEBRAF) (note (i)
BN IREREBRA A HOBRTEERESR
(TEMAREL 1) (BEEE())

Guangzhou Lvhao Technology Service Company Effectively owned by Mr. Gu Yaokun
Limited (“Guangzhou Lvhao”)
(BEMEREREMREER LD E) (note (i)

BB MREERAR (BN (MizE() ah@mEEBRES

Guangzhou Anjing Environmental Protection Effectively owned by Mr. Gu Yaokun
Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Anjing”)
(BMNHZFRABMZERDE) (note (i)

BMNTZBRABEERAF HEOBRTEERER
(TEMZFE]) (BEE())

Guangzhou Lvcheng Industrial Company Limited Effectively owned by Mr. Gu Yaokun
(“Guangzhou Lvcheng”)
(M43 TEARA A (note (i)

BN THEARAR (TEMEH]) (ME() BLBRREEERES

Guangzhou Yanchen Zhili Profession Company Mr. Tsui Cham To is a member of key management
Limited (“Guangzhou Yanchen Zhili”) personnel of the entity
(BEMEEREBEHEXFIRDF) (note (i)

BMNEBREEXFRAA BREBEERZERNTEEEAEZ—

(TEMEERE]) (MFE(I))

Hengyang Lvtao Environmental Ceramsite Mr. Gu Yaokun is a member of key management
Equipment Company Limited (“Hengyang Lvtao”) personnel of the entity
(85 P IRR AR EER LA A) (note (i)
5 2P IR R REERA A hEHEEAZERNEIEEEAR 2 —
([ERE4rE 1) (BEEx))

324 | CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2019



48.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Name of related party
BEMAIME BB

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

48. EXHBARZ (#)

Relationship with the Group
BEAEEHBFR

Guangzhou Changbao Environmental Management
Company Limited (“Guangzhou Changbao”)
(BEMNEERBREHRAT) (notes () & (iii)

BMNEBRFAEBEFRAA
(TEMEEL) (xR (i))

Guangzhou Henggin Environmental Protection
Technology Company Limited (“Guangzhou
Hengqin”) (BMEDNRRBZERAE)
(note (i) & (iii))

BMNENRABEERAE (TEMER])

(B & () B Giii) )

Guangzhou Longdao Investment Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Longdao”)
(BEMEEREBREME DT (note (i)

BMNEEREEREMEAR (TEMEELD (MEE)))

Longmen Hutiao Station Company Limited
(“Longmen Hutiao Station”)
(BEPIRBEEILBR A A) (note (i)
BEFRBILAERL T ([BEFIRREBIL]) (FIEE))

Guangzhou Zhongtao (note a) (E M #3H) (note (i)
BN 5E (Mska) (BHEEG))

Golden Oasis China Development Limited
(“Golden Oasis”)
EBTEERBERARA ([28])

Silver Badge Limited (“Silver Badge”)
Silver Badge Limited ([ Silver Badge )

Keen Vast Holdings Limited (“Keen Vast”)

BAERBERQE (X))

Mr. Xu Zhencheng is a member of key management
personnel of the entity

AR EERZEBRNEIREEAE Z—

Mr. Xu Zhencheng is a member of key management
personnel of the entity

AR EERZERNETREEAE Z -

Effectively owned by key management personnel

HEEEEASERES

Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder

HIERRRERES

Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder
HERRRERES

Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder
HERBRRERES

Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder
HERRRERES

Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder and
ultimate holding company

HIERBRRERZKIERATBERES

PERREERRAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

48. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 48. EXHABHFX S (&)
Name of related party Relationship with the Group
BEMAIME B BEAREEAER
Guangzhou Xizhou Port Company Limited Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder

(“Xizhou Port”) (note (i))
BNFENISEAR AR ([FEMISEE]) (FIEEG)) HERRRERES

Guangyuan Taoji Textile Company Limited Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder
(“Guangyuan Taoji”) (note (i)
BrEcsm@saRAR (TETER]) (M) HERRRERESR

Guangyuan Haitao Textile Company Limited Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder
(“Guangyuan Haitao”) (note (i))

BErEEsBARAR (TETEHE] (M) HERKRRERER

Guangzhou Xinyiduo Investment Company Limited  Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder
(“Guangzhou Xinyiduo”) (note (i))

BMNTHEZRERDERAR ([EMHES ) HEZERRREBESR
(B =EG))

Zengcheng Waijing Trading Company Limited Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder
(“Zengcheng Waijing”) (note (i)
BHTHMEEZBERAT (MBI (MEH) HERBRREERES

Guangzhou Weihang Trading Development Mr. Tsui is a member of key management personnel of
Company Limited (“Guangzhou Weihang”) (note (i))  the entity
BMNEMEZBZREMRAA ([EMEM]) (MEG)) REEAZBRENIEEEAEZ—

Notes: B EE
()  The English translation of the names is for reference only. The official i) BYRPEBREEERSEZ
names of these companies are in Chinese. ERRNEBEFBBARPNERE-
(i)  Mr. Gu Yaokun resigned as executive director on 24 May 2018. iy HBRBEERZ-ZZFE-NFHA
“t+HOBABERITES
(i)  Mr. Xu Zhencheng was appointed as executive director on 24 August iy HFEREREER=ZZE—-—LtFENA
2017 and resigned on 8 November 2018. TTMHEZERBTES AR

ZE-NF+-AN\BBEHE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

48. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(a)

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
as disclosed in note 13 and certain of the highest paid
employees as disclosed in note 14, is as follows:

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

48. EXBBAR 5 (&)

(a)

TEEBEASEHM

RAEEFEEEAESHM (8
FEEMF1SHEEB AR D A
EERMEF4MEEDE T
EEHMES A HIE)
T:

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E2-N\EF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TET FHET

Salaries and other benefits HERHEHMBER 15,262 15,304
Share-based payments A A - B
Retirement scheme contributions BIRETEIER 311 262
15,573 15,566

PERREERRAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

48. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 48. EXRBAR S (&)

(b) Recurring and non-recurring transactions (b) BREMRIELEERS
Particulars of significant transactions between the Group BE-_Z-NER-Z-N\F
and the above related parties during the years ended 31 +ZA=Z+—HLFE &
December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: BIEE i EERE 7 FrEITIE R

REFHBWOT:
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\E
Recurring transactions HK$’000 HK$’000
REMERS FHERT FET
Receive of technical testing B AT A B SRR AR
services from:
— Haigin Tiancheng — 8RB 215 335

Receive of consulting services from B XA HESZARE
Haiqgin Tiancheng Consultancy - 758

Receive of consultancy services from: B UL T A BESER R :

- Nansha Lvjie - e G - 1,873
— Luopu Kunrun — & Rt 217 2,248
- Guangzhou Wofeng —BMRE - 506
— Guangzhou Lvchi — BN 45t - 419
- Guangzhou Lvhao —BEMEEE - 3,218
— Guangzhou Anjing -BEMNEF - 5,414
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48. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

Recurring and non-recurring transactions (Cont’d)

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

48. EXBBAR 5 (&)

REMRFEEEUERS
(#&)

2019 2018
—B-NE ZE-N\F
Non-recurring transactions HK$’000 HK$’000
REMERS FHExT FET
Lease obligations payable to BAHEEREREMNERE
Guangzhou Yanchen Zhili REXFZEHEEA 10,032 8,710
Material costs to A & N B A 32 A 2 R B AR
Guangzhou Weihang 35,280 -
Advertising expenses to mEMNEERER T2
Guangzhou Yanchen Zhili BEEEH 12,266 10,650
Loan from Mr. Gu Yaokun REGEEEEZER = 3,700
Payment to: mMUT&EFELENAR:
— Guangzhou Yanchen Zhili —BEMNIEERE 18,117 13,336
— Longmen Copper —BEPIHR 3 6 -
— Haigin Tiancheng — 8RB 168 1,102
- Guangzhou Weihang — E M E 6,072 46,740
Payment from: REUTEFWARK:
— Haigin Tiancheng Consultancy — B RPEH 28 -
— Guangzhou Yanchen Zhili —-BMNEERE 7,234 -
- Guangzhou Weihang — EME - 30,766
- Guangzhou Zhongtao —BEMNPE - 47

Note:

(ii)

(il

The related party transactions with Mr. Tsui and entities
controlled by him are disclosed in note 29(c) and 29(d) to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group entered
into an agreement to lease a two floor office from Guangzhou
Yanchen Zhili for a period of three years. Due to the matters
as disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements
and the cost control measures, the Group did not proceed to
decorate nor move into the two floor office but occupied another
floor of the same building owned by Guangzhou Yanchen Zhili for
office purpose.

The above transactions were conducted in the normal course
of business of the Group and charged at terms mutually agreed
by the parties concerned or in accordance with the terms of the
underlying agreements, where appropriate.

By & -

() HfLTEREERFICZER
BHARIRGEETHERE
Bt 5£29(c) K2 29(d) A 4 25 o

i) BE-Z-NF+=
=+—-BLEFE KEHF
ST — 1717 5 LA 8 B O U B S
BHE-BARERAE A
H=F BRGREMBRE
i sEBFT I BB 2 B H K& R AR
45 b > AN B B R AT 5
BRIMAME P AZE L
BEMEBEEREFRES 2R
%gkgzg—gﬁﬁﬁﬂ

@iy ERRZDARAEEHEZE
KPR ET WIRAEET
¥ 75 H B E IR ESRIE
g@%%%ﬁ%(@@mw&

o 24 am

a

bl
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019

BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

48. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 48. EXHABHFX5 (&)
(c) Balances with related parties (c) ERBAEES HIA&R
() Amounts due from related parties () EWREE T 5E
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Current RE
Trade receivables from: BWUTERESRIEA:
— Tian Tian P NP 1,754 1,792
Sub-total NET 1,754 1,792
Other receivables from: HEWLTEFRIEA:
— Haigin Tiancheng Consultancy — &b X4 5 67 95
- Zhuhai Yingrun —KEEHE - 109
- Guangzhou Longdao —BMEE - 5,043
- Longmen Copper —BEP9 28 5 12 6
- Haigin Tiancheng =Y N2 369 359
- Guangzhou Weihang — E M E R 4,060 15,407
Sub-total N 4,508 21,019
Total HE 6,262 22,811
Less: impairment loss AR EEE (3,911) (3,994)
2,351 18,817
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

48. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(c)

Balances with related parties (Cont’d)

(i) Amounts due to related parties

mEMBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NF+=A=1—HILFE

48. EXHBLT R 5 (&)
(c) EBREABG LR (&)

(i) FENTEB LR

2019 2018
—B-NE ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FET

Other payables to: HM AU T & B RIE:
- Hengyang Lvtao — b7 42 — 241
- Guangzhou Anjing -BEMNEF - 5,549
— Guangzhou Yanchen Zhili —-EMEERE 16,903 5,811
- Nansha Lvjie — DR - 1,989
— Luopu Kunrun — & E - 2,351
- Guangzhou Wofeng —BMRE - 705
- Guangzhou Lvhao —EMERE - 3,400
- Guangzhou Lvchi —E M5t - 358
- Guangzhou Weihang — E M E M 17,700 -
34,603 20,404

The amounts due from/to the related parties are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed repayment terms.

FEW/ FEASBRRES TR A EE
w2 BEETEEENR-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e M BmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE=F-NF=A=1—FHLFE

49. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,
which are dealt with below).

(@

©®)

Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimates, management has
prepared the consolidated financial statements on the
assumption that the Group will be able to operate as
a going concern in the coming year, which is a critical
judgement that has the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The assessment of the going concern
assumption involves making a judgement by the directors,
at a particular point of time, about the future outcome of
events or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The
present directors consider that the Group has the capability
to continue as a going concern and the major events or
conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that
individually or collectively may cast significant doubt upon
the going concern assumption, are set out in note 2(d) to
the consolidated financial statements.

Income taxes

The Group has exposure to income taxes in different
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in
determining the provision for income taxes. Determining
income tax provisions involves judgement on the future
tax treatment of certain transactions and interpretation of
tax rules. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications
of transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly.
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

49. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are discussed below.

(@) Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items
of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
right-of-use assets, the Group has to consider various
factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence
arising from changes or improvements in the provision of
services, or from a change in the market demand for the
product or service output of the assets, the expected usage
of the assets, the expected physical wear and tear, the care
and maintenance of the assets, legal or similar limits on the
use of the assets and historical experience. Adjustment of
depreciation/amortisation is made if the estimated useful
lives and/or the residual values of items of property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets
are different from previous estimation. Useful lives and
residual values are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at the end of each reporting period, based on any
changes in circumstances.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and right-of-use assets as at 31 December
2019 was HK$708,505,000 (2018: HK$874,565,000),
HK$682,310,000 (2018: HK$1,030,453,000) and
HK$257,726,000 (2018: lease prepayments of
HK$263,992,000), respectively.
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49. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

©®)

(c)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,intangible
assets and right-of-use assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets and right-of-use assets at the end of each reporting
period. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value-in-use. The calculation of
the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value-in-use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipments,
intangible assets and right-of-use assets as at 31 December
2019 was HK$708,505,000 (2018: HK$874,565,000),
HK$682,310,000 (2018: HK$1,030,453,000) and
HK$257,726,000 (2018: lease prepayments of
HK$263,992,000), respectively.

Service concession arrangements

The Group entered into BOT arrangements in wastewater
treatment and solid waste treatment. The Group
concludes that BOT arrangements are service concession
arrangements under HK (IFRIC) Interpretation 12, because
the local government authorities control and regulate the
services that the Group must provide with the infrastructure
at a pre-determined service charge. In addition, upon the
expiry of concession right agreement, the infrastructure
assets have to be transferred to the local government
authorities at nil consideration.
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49. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

@

Recoverability and estimated impairment of trade
receivables and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECL for
trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates
are based on past-due status of debtors as groupings
of various debtors on this basis demonstrate similar
loss patterns with shared credit risk characteristics. The
provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical default
rates taking into consideration forward-looking information
that is reasonable and supportable and available without
undue costs or effort. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered. In addition,
trade receivables and contract assets with significant
balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December
2019, the aggregate carrying amount of trade receivables
and contract assets was HK$396,316,000 (2018:
HK$579,112,000), after a net of allowance for doubtful
debts of HK$181,121,000 (2018: HK$188,402,000).
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49. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(e)

Provision of ECL for other receivables and loan receivables

Other receivables and loan receivables are assessed for
ECL individually, with reference to internal credit rating, as
low risk are assessed under 12-month ECL. Receivables
that are considered as doubtful or loss are assessed under
lifetime ECL. The management estimates the amount
of ECL based on the Group’s historical default rates on
these receivables by taking into consideration the Group’s
internal credit ratings, aging, repayment history and/or
past due status of the respective receivables. Estimated
loss rates are based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the receivables and are adjusted
by forward-looking information that is available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s receivables
are disclosed in notes 6 and 29, respectively.
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50.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRNE (&

LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements, the Group
had the following litigations and contingent liabilities.

a) Guangzhou Liangang

i)

In April 2018, the local government authority
conducted an environmental inspection on
Guangzhou Liangang and noted that Guangzhou
Liangang committed a number of criminal offences.
Subsequently, in April 2019, EREEMHTELEA
E®EPR filed bills of indictment against Guangzhou
Liangang, the details of which are set out in note 5(a)
to the consolidated financial statements.

On 30 May 2018, Guangzhou Liangang received
a penalty notice for RMB5,528,000 (equivalent to
HK$6,542,000) from the local environmental authority
which stated that Guangzhou Liangang constructed
certain facilities without obtaining permissions from the
local authority. Guangzhou Liangang filed two appeals
with the local courts, however, both appeals were
failed and judgments were made against Guangzhou
Liangang. On 6 January 2020, the local environmental
authority issued another penalty notice requiring
Guangzhou Liangang to pay the original penalty
plus additional charge for late payment totalling
RMB11,057,000 (equivalent to HK$13,084,000). On 22
April 2020, the local environmental authority obtained
a court order to enforce Guangzhou Liangang to pay
the outstanding penalty and provision has been made
in the consolidated financial statements.
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50. LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

a) Guangzhou Liangang (Cont’d)

ii)

On 9 July 2019, Guangzhou Environmental Protection
Federation (EREBRRREEEE) filed a claim
against Guangzhou Liangang in the Intermediate
People’s Court of Guangzhou for a compensation
of RMB33,947,000 (equivalent to HK$40,170,000)
in respect of environmental pollution caused by
Guangzhou Liangang during 2017 to 2018. Up to
the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, no judgement was issued by the
court. After taking into account the legal advice
and considering the outcomes of other litigations
involved by Guangzhou Liangang, a provision of
HK$40,170,000 was made in the consolidated financial
statements.

b) Guangzhou Haitao

i)

In April 2018, the local government environmental
authority conducted an inspection on Guangzhou
Haitao and noted that Guangzhou Haitao committed
a number of criminal offences. Subsequently, in April
2019, BREEMNTH ARMEER filed a bill of indictment
against Guangzhou Haitao, the details of which are
set out in note 5(c) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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50. LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

b) Guangzhou Haitao (Cont’d)

i)

i)

On 21 June 2018, one of the customers of Guangzhou
Haitao (The “Customer A”) filed a civil complaint
against Guangzhou Haitao in the Guangzhou Tianhe
District People’s Court claiming compensation of
RMB6,800,000 (equivalent to HK$7,762,000) in respect
of breach of contract terms caused by Guangzhou
Haitao.

On 25 April 2019, the court issued a judgment
against Guangzhou Haitao and ordered Guangzhou
Haitao to pay a compensation of HK$7,762,000 to
Customer A. Guangzhou Haitao filed an appeal with
the Intermediate People’s Court of Guangzhou and
the Intermediate People’s Court of Guangzhou issued
a final judgment which was in favor of Guangzhou
Haitao and revoked the order made by Guangzhou
Tianhe District People’s Court. As such, the present
directors considered a provision for this case was not
necessary.

On 27 September 2018, the local government in
Guangzhou, the PRC filed a claim against Guangzhou
Haitao in the Intermediate People’s Court of
Guangzhou for a compensation of RMB4,550,000
(equivalent to HK$5,193,000) and an appraisal fee
of environmental damage level of RMB447,000
(equivalent to HK$510,000) in respect of environmental
pollution caused by Guangzhou Haitao.
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50. LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)
b) Guangzhou Haitao (Cont’d)

iy  (Cont’d)

On 28 June 2020, the court issued a judgment against
Guangzhou Haitao and ordered Guangzhou Haitao to
pay a compensation of HK$5,193,000 and appraisal
fee of environmental damage level of HK$510,000 to
the local government. Guangzhou Haitao is planning to
file an appeal against the court’s decision. A provision
of HK$5,703,000 was recognised in the consolidated

financial statements.

c) Xinfeng Lvzhi

On 29 May 2019, the local government in Xingfeng, the PRC
filed a claim against Xinfeng Lvzhi in the Xinfeng County
People’s Court for the cancellation of a project investment
agreement dated 2 August 2010 and a supplementary
agreement entered into between the local government and
Xinfeng Lvzhi (“the Agreements”) and the return of a piece
of land leased to Guangzhou Lvzhi as Guangzhou Lvzhi
failed to honor the terms of the Agreements. The local
government offered a compensation of RMB4,105,000
(equivalent to HK$4,684,000) to Xinfeng Lvzhi for the return

of the land.

On 27 December 2019, the court issued a judgment against
Xinfeng Lvzhi and ordered Xinfeng Lvzhi to return the land to

the local government.
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50. LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

c)

d)

Xinfeng Lvzhi (Cont’d)

On 15 January 2020, Xinfeng Lvzhi filed an appeal with the
Shaoguan City Municipality Intermediate People’s Court.
Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the appeal was still in progress. The present
directors considered that the litigation would have no
material financial impact on the Group.

Longmen Zhongtao Recycling

On 29 July 2019, one of the contractors of Longmen
Zhongtao Recycling (“Contractor A”) filed a claim against
Longmen Zhongtao Recycling in the Longmen County
People’s Court requesting the payment by Longmen
Zhongtao Recycling of an overdue trade debt and
quality deposits totalling RMB2,048,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,337,000). As at 31 December 2019, the amount of
HK$2,337,000 (2018: HK$2,337,000) payable to Contractor
A has been recorded in the consolidated financial
statements.

On 13 November 2019, Longmen Zhongtao Recycling
reached a mediation with Contractor A pursuant to
which Longmen Zhongtao Recycling agreed to settle the
outstanding amount by installment. The present directors
considered that the dispute had no material impact on
the Group’s financial position as the other payables were
already recorded in these consolidated financial statements.
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BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

50. LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

e)

Guangzhou Lvyou

(i)

On 10 October 2019, the local government authority
in Foshan, the PRC filed a claim against Guangzhou
Lvyou in the Foshan Sanshui District People’s Court
for a compensation of RMB46,948,000 (equivalent to
HK$53,581,000) in respect of environmental pollution
caused by Guangzhou Lvyou during the period from
2014 to 2016.

On 28 June 2020, the court issued a judgment in
favour of Guangzhou Lvyou and the present directors
considered that no provision was necessary.

In early 2020, three business introducers of
Guangzhou Lvyou filed applications with Guangzhou
Arbitration Commission requesting Guangzhou
Lvyou to settle overdue advisory fee for the years
ended 31 December 2017 and 2018 and accrued
interests totalling RMB23,426,000 (equivalent to
HK$27,720,000). In early 2020, Guangzhou Lvyou
entered into settlement agreements with these
business introducers pursuant to which Guangzhou
Lvyou agreed to settle the outstanding fees by
installments. The outstanding fees payable have
been recorded in the books and records and the
present directors believed that the disputes had no
material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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50. LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

f)

g)

Haoying Solid

On 16 April 2019, one of the contractors of Haoying Solid
(“Contractor B”) filed a claim against Haoying Solid in the
Foshan Sanshui District People’s Court requesting Haoying
Solid for a settlement of overdue construction costs and
accrued interest totalling RMB6,651,000 (equivalent to
HK$7,590,000). The amount payable to Contractor B was
recorded in the consolidated financial statements.

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, no judgment was issued. As the overdue
amount has been recorded in the books and records, the
present directors considered that the claim had no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Zhongshan Haitao

In April 2018, the local government authority conducted
an environmental inspection on Zhongshan Haitao and
noted that Zhongshan Haitao committed an offence.
Subsequently, in April 2019, LT % — T EARBRERE filed
a bill of indictment against Zhongshan Haitao, the details of
which are set out in note 5(b) to the consolidated financial

statements.
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50. LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

h) The Company

i) On 23 October 2019, the Company received a writ of
summons from the High Court of Hong Kong pursuant
to which the lender claim against the Company
for repayment of other borrowings with balance of
HK$242,548,000 (2018: HK$197,183,000). The details
are set out in note 36.

i)  On 24 February 2020, one of the Company’s creditor
bank filed a civil complaint with the Guangzhou Court
in the PRC against the Company and its fourteen
subsidiaries and Mr. Tsui claiming the immediate
repayment of the loan and outstanding interest and
legal and other costs totalling HK$152,868,000, the
details of which are set out in note 2(d).

In addition to the above, the Group has contingent liabilities
arising from the ordinary course of business relating to claims
from suppliers, employees and other parties during the year
ended 31 December 2019 and subsequent periods. Judgements
for certain cases were made by courts in the PRC against the
Group. The present directors considered that sufficient provision
had been made in the consolidated financial statements
according to the judgements and the present directors’ best
estimates.

The present directors have made estimates for potential litigation
costs and claims based upon consultation with PRC lawyers.
Actual results could differ from these estimates. In the opinion of
the present directors, such litigations and claims will not have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position, financial
performance or cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

51. NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

a)

Certain group entities were sued by their creditors as set
out in notes 50, 35 and 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

On 25 April 2019, the Group entered into an agreement
with an independent third party pursuant to which the
independent third party agreed to inject RMB98,000,000
(equivalent to HK$109,397,000 as at December 2019) into
Zhongshan Haitao of which RMB43,235,000 (equivalent to
HK$48,263,000) shall be in the form of 49% equity and the
balance in form of a shareholder’s loan. The transaction was
finalised in 2020 and the independent third party held 49%
equity interest in Zhongshan Haitao upon completion which
took place on 20 August 2020. After the completion of the
capital injection, the Group lost control over Zhongshan
Haitao and Zhongshan Haitao ceased to be a subsidiary of
the Group and the Group waived certain of its shareholder’s
loan to Zhongshan Haitao of approximately HK$90 million.

On 28 September 2020, Guangzhou Lvyou entered into
a compensation agreement with the local government
authority pursuant to which Guangzhou Lvyou shall obtain
a cash compensation of RMB1,237,884,000 (equivalent
to HK$1,381,850,000) and a piece of land with total area
of 33,334 square meters for the relocation of its existing
sludge and solid and hazardous waste treatment plant and
the expropriation of its land, facilities and the business
operation. The payment schedules of the compensation are
as follows:

i) A compensation of RMB247,577,000 (equivalent to
HK$276,370,000), representing 20% of the total cash
compensation has been received in November 2020;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

e M BRRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-NFr=A=1—HILFE

51. NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Cont’d)

c) (Contd)

i) RMB618,942,000 (equivalent to HK$690,925,000),
representing 50% of the total cash compensation
will be received when Guangzhou Lvyou completes
its construction of the new production plant and
commences the foundation work for medical waste
treatment plant on the reallocated land which shall be
completed by 30 June 2021;

i) RMB123,788,000 (equivalent to HK$138,185,000),
representing 10% of the total cash compensation will
be received when Guangzhou Lvyou completes the
demolition of the existing plant and facilities;

iv) RMB247,577,000 (equivalent to HK$276,370,000),
representing 20% of the total cash compensation will
be received within 3 months when Guangzhou Lvyou
finished the soil maintenance and handover the land to
the local government authority which shall take place
on or before 30 September 2022.

d) On 21 August 2020, Guangzhou Lvyou entered into an
investment agreement with the local government authority
of Nansha, Guangzhou for the development of a new
hazardous waste treatment plant as mentioned in note (c)
above. The total investment amount shall not be less than
RMB1,080,660,000 (equivalent to HK$1,206,341,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

51. NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Cont’d)

e)

As disclosed in note 29(d), the Group made net payments
of HK$84,277,000 to the companies controlled by Mr.
Tsui during the period from January 2020 to October
2020. Out of the total payments, HK$19,365,000 were
payments without proper authorization, HK$39,071,000 was
used to set off with the amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder as disclosed in note 33(c) and the remaining
balance of HK$25,841,000 were payments for the rental
and advertising expenses received by companies controlled
by Mr. Tsui on behalf of Guangzhou Yanchen Zhili. The
arrangement in relation to the payments received by
companies controlled by Mr. Tsui on behalf of Guangzhou
Yanchen Zhili would be finalized upon the execution of the
relevant agreement.

Since early 2020, the Group’s operation has been affected
by quarantine measures imposed by the local government
to contain the COVID-19 outbreak. The Group has been
paying close attention to the impact of the situation on its
operation and taking all possible and reasonable measures
to mitigate and limit the impact on the Group’s operation.
As the extent to which the COVID-19 outbreak will continue
is uncertain, the overall financial effect that the COVID-19
outbreak may have on the Group’s businesses and financial
results cannot be reliably estimated as at the date when
these consolidated financial statements are authorized for
issue.
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Financial Summary

MBHE

The following table summarizes the consolidated results, assets and

liabilities of the Group for the five years ended 31 December:

THRELAEERBE+=-A=1+—8H

LHBEFENGEXE EERERE:

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“E-NE CZE-N\E CZE—tH CZE-RE CZE-hF
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
TR TiER TET TiER TER
(Restated) (Restated)
(ZF5)) (&)
Results EY
Revenue & 850,409 1,152,998 2,099,098 2,177,038 1,782,606
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (B518) /&7 (327,190)  (3,942,929) 771,946 719,785 833,036
Income tax FreH (10,158) (59,166) 131,437 119,552 86,118
(Loss)/profit attributable to AARER AR
owners of the Company (B#8) /B3 (316,721)  (3,872,815) 641,566 605,690 744,016
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,873,068 2,561,031 6,662,952  5311,770 5,063,072
Current assets REEE 1,334,883 2,511,142 2,491,040 2,451,480 1,487,683
Total assets EELR 3,207,951 5,072,173 9,153,992 7,763,250 6,550,755
Liabilities g
Non-current liabilities ¥RBEE 167,651 207,805 1,866,125 2,271,189 1,935,793
Current liabilities hEaE 3,160,279 4,714,230 2,909,294 1,917,540 1,157,545
Total liabilities LRk 3,327,930 4,922,035 4,775,419 4,188,729 3,093,338
Total (deficit)/equity (B4 /REan (119,979) 150,138 4,378,573 3,574,521 3,457,417
Total (deficit)/equity attributable ADRERA
to owners of the Company i (B4)  RE8E (111,294) 158,267 4,375,713 3,562,983 3,440,422
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